A Critical Discourse Analysis of

Manitoba's K-8 Social Studies Framework of Outcomes

by

Andriana Tarasiuk

A Thesis Submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies of

The University of Manitoba

in partial fulfilment of the requirements of the degree of

MASTER OF EDUCATION

Department of Curriculum, Teaching, and Learning

University of Manitoba

Winnipeg, Manitoba

Copyright © 2023 by Andriana Tarasiuk

Abstract

Many provinces across Canada, including Manitoba, are undergoing reforms to their educational structures and systems. Included in these reforms is a mandate to introduce sweeping curricular changes which will impact which particular societal values are conveyed as well as the ways in which teachers will engage students with particular curricular content knowledge. Given the current Canadian context, it is crucial that proposed curricular reforms reflect the Calls to Action presented by Canada's Truth and Reconciliation Commission (2015), findings from the National Inquiry into Missing and Murdered Indigenous Women and Girls (2016), as well as anti-racism education. It is with this context that I have conducted a critical discourse analysis (CDA) of *Manitoba's Kindergarten to Grade 8 Social Studies Framework of Outcomes* (2003).

The purpose is to illustrate the ways in which the social studies curriculum document can uphold, and legitimizes structures of settler colonialism, further marginalizing diverse populations in Manitoba schools. I also explored the ways in which the curriculum uses language to impose settler narratives by privileging Eurocentric perspectives and stories. Furthermore, through this analysis, I examined the ways in which the curriculum neglects to acknowledge ongoing acts of settler colonialism within the larger society of Manitoba. My findings illustrated how the language, narratives and discourses of the curriculum include the "othering" of Indigenous perspectives, upholding prairie settler narratives and futurity, justifying colonization, and promoting a colonial construct of citizenship. The analysis also conveyed the ways in which the omission of specific events, places, people, perspectives, and stories reflect the ways in which the approach to recruiting curriculum writers and to authentically include Indigenous perspectives and epistemologies within the text. It is also recommended that educators and educational leaders invest in opportunities to read and examine other curriculum documents through a critical lens and for professional development to focus specifically on truth and reconciliation.

4

Table of Contents

ABSTRACT
TABLE OF CONTENTS 4
LAND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT
ADDITIONAL ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 8
INTRODUCTION
Positionality
The Impacts of Teacher Demographics in Canada16
The "So What?" of this Research: Objectives and Audience
Rationale, Purpose and Research Questions
Theoretical Framework: Postcolonialism
Recognizing Colonialism within Curriculum24
The Implications of Postcolonial Theory27
LITERATURE REVIEW: SETTLER COLONIAL NARRATIVES IN CURRICULUM
Neoliberal Narratives within Curriculum
Threats to Democratic Education
The Role of Citizenship within Curriculum
The Canadian Multicultural Context35
Curriculum's Preservation of Settler Colonialism
METHODOLOGY: CRITICAL DISCOURSE ANALYSIS 41
Limitations of CDA 42
Methods and Procedures
Postcolonial Theory as an Analytical Framework
<i>Othering</i>

Settler Futurity	47
Prairie Settler Colonialism	48
Justification of Colonization	51
The Respectful Citizen	52
Data Collection and Analysis	55
Document Structure Outline	55
Process of Analysis	58
FINDINGS AND ANALYSIS: DISCOURSES OF SETTLER COLONIALISM	61
Acknowledgements and Introduction: Who is (not) included?	62
Background: Political Context and Influence	64
The Overview	68
1) Canada	69
2) The World	70
3) The Environment	
4) Democracy	
5) General Skills and Competencies	
Citizenship as a Core Concept in Social Studies	
General Learning Outcomes	
Analyzing the Glossary and Bibliography	82
ANALYZING THE SPECIFIC LEARNING OUTCOMES (SLOS)	
Othering	86
Settler Futurity	90
Prairie Settler Colonialism	
Justification of Colonization	
The Respectful Citizen	100

Summary of Analysis	
DISCUSSION: RETHINKING CURRICULAR DISCOURSES	105
Reflecting on the Research Questions	107
Recommendations	111
Recommendations for policy makers and curriculum writers	112
Recommendations for teachers, teacher candidates, and educational leaders	114
Recommendations for teacher educators	117
Conclusion	118
REFERENCES	121
APPENDIX A	135
APPENDIX B	139

Land Acknowledgement

I acknowledge that this thesis was written on Treaty One Territory; the traditional lands of the Anishinaabe people, who entered treaty negotiations in good faith and with the intention to uphold the sacred relationship with the land. I acknowledge that Manitoba is also on the traditional lands of the Ininewak, Aniishinin, Dene and Dakota peoples, and that Manitoba, including Treaty One Territory is the birthplace and homeland of the Red River Métis. As a settler on this land, I respect the Treaties that were made on this territory by understanding that they were negotiated with the intention to be upheld as long as the sun shines, the grass grows, and the river flows. I recognize that the land that I live and work on and the water that I consume are connected to the Treaties that were signed and therefore must be respected. I recognize the harms of the past and present, including Treaty promises that were broken and continue to be broken today. I dedicate myself to reconciliation and to move forward through education and in partnership with Indigenous peoples. I am grateful for the opportunity to live, work, teach, learn, and write on this land.

Additional Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my family, especially my parents, for instilling in me a curiosity, a love of history, the significance of identity, and the importance of examining stories from different perspectives. Thank you to my partner, Simeon Rusnak, for encouraging me to pursue my Master's degree and for supporting me every step of the way. Thank you to my colleagues for encouraging me to take on this research and to the Seven Oaks School Division for supporting my studies in numerous ways. A sincere thank you also goes to Dr. Melanie Janzen for her guidance, patience, and for helping me to become a better researcher and writer. A special thank you also goes to Drs. Shannon Moore and Lucy Fowler, who provided me insights and feedback while writing this thesis.

Introduction

In the summer of 2016, after coming home from a day of swimming, a group of Indigenous young adults, including Colten Boushie, drove onto a farm in the Canadian prairies. In search of help for a flat tire, they were instead faced with unimaginable tragedy as Boushie was killed by farmer, Gerald Stanley, who perceived the group as a threat to his farmland (Starblanket & Hunt, 2020). Stanley's subsequent acquittal and the media that followed the trial underscores the entrenched racial practices of Canadian law and justice. Stories like Boushie's have inspired me to work towards challenging the settler colonial discourses that uphold systems of inequity, racism, and injustice within Canadian society. With the purpose of further understanding and unpacking Canadian colonial discourses, this research aims to consider how settler colonialism resides in the Manitoba social studies curriculum. It also aims to highlight the ways in which legitimizing specific narratives and perspectives, while delegitimizing and omitting others contributes to ongoing acts of racism. Racism, as an imbedded structure within Canadian society, is upheld by systems of power and colonialism.

The creation of curriculum documents can be described as a complex, arduous process. It is one that elicits opinions and debate from content experts, community members, and educational stakeholders. Curriculum development teams are tasked with appeasing specific community groups as well as political leaders while, at the same time, creating a framework for teachers on specific topics that are deemed valuable. Ultimately, curriculum development reflects the quintessential questions that ask, "what knowledge is of most worth" as well as, "who gets to decide." These questions foster tensions that arise when curriculum documents are created. Since the early 1990s, North America has seen a rise in neoliberal ideals and the "relentless pursuit of accountability" (Tuck, 2013, p. 324) for the purposes of economic gain while subsequently maintaining structures of systemic oppression and settler colonialism. Canadian provincial education systems, including Manitoba, have been shifting towards neoliberal, market-driven structures that have infiltrated into the public sector policy (Woolford & Curran, 2011). As a result, economic motivations have become prioritized over equity for diverse members of Canadian communities. Neoliberal, corporate, and capitalistic policies, which "extract the philosophies of the market and apply them to non-market entities" (Tuck, 2013, p. 334) weaken the public school system and deregulate the private sector (Samoukovic, 2013), which in turn, maintain structures of settler colonialism.

Therefore, the intention of this research project is to draw attention to the ways in which the Manitoba social studies curriculum maintains and upholds settler narratives that undermine movements towards truth and reconciliation. I believe it is a crucial time to conduct this research due to Manitoba's current political climate. Through this research, I aim to inform teachers, school leaders, education researchers, and curriculum writers of these narratives so that current curriculum can be considered more critically and that future documents will offer students opportunities for to engage in inclusive, decolonizing, and democratic critical engagement within Manitoban classrooms and ultimately, within the larger society.

The current structure of the Canadian school system is a direct reflection of marketdriven policies that uphold capitalist and colonial ways of thinking (Battiste, 2013). Mi'kmaq scholar, Marie Battiste (2013) explains, "The key in designing meaningful education in Canada must begin with confronting the hidden standards of racism, colonialism, and cultural and linguistic imperialism in the modern curriculum and see the theoretical incoherence with a modern theory of society" (p. 29). As evidenced in the recently released Better Education Starts Today ("BEST") report (Government of Manitoba, 2021) in Manitoba, as well as the proposed and then retracted *Bill 64: The Public School Modernization Act*, the current Government of Manitoba is motivated to introduce sweeping changes to the public school system. These proposed changes call for an extensive curricular overhaul as well as policy and structural changes (Government of Manitoba, 2021) which ignore the specific needs of racialized and marginalized communities within Manitoba (Braul, 2021).

Aboriginal peoples, a term to encompass First Nations, Métis and Inuit populations in Canada was first used in 1982 when the Constitution Act passed. However, Indigenous peoples is an internationally recognized term. Joseph (2016) explains:

By recognizing First Nations, Inuit, and Métis as Indigenous Peoples, the government is acknowledging their internationally legal right to offer or withhold consent to development under the United Nations Declaration of the rights of Indigenous Peoples.

The Indigenous population in Manitoba is amongst the fastest growing populations within Winnipeg (City of Winnipeg, 2018) and Canada (Ottmann & Pritchard, 2010). According to Ottmann and Pritchard (2010), despite these growths in population, Indigenous populations continue to experience ongoing racism and discrimination due to the systems of settler colonialism (p. 24). They underline the importance of the inclusion of Indigenous peoples within policy-making discussions, especially when it comes to education stating that, "for educational policy to be meaningful, Aboriginal people have to be involved in the process from the beginning; otherwise, programs and incentives will continue to fail" (p. 24). Their report, written in 2010, outlines the ways in which the Alberta social studies curriculum addresses the integration of Aboriginal perspectives and the ways in which teacher knowledge must play a role in implementing a deeper understanding of Aboriginal epistemologies. However, since this

12

report was written, subsequent Alberta governments have proposed new curricula that overlook and erase experiences and stories of First Nations, Métis and Inuit (Sharpe, 2021). Therefore, although Indigenous populations in Canada continue to grow, representation of their perspectives and histories within curriculum continues to shrink.

Positionality

As a descendent of Ukrainian immigrants, I position myself as having a Eurocentric background. I grew up in Winnipeg surrounded by Ukrainian language, culture, and tradition. I am grateful for my family's perseverance in pursuing life in Canada. They sought an opportunity to create a better life for their children and the generations that followed. I also position myself as a settler: a displacer of Indigenous people. When my family had the opportunity to sow roots, Indigenous families became uprooted. As Ukrainian language and heritage became one of Canada's cultural domains, Indigenous culture and traditions were systematically and fundamentally dismantled.

Canada's history of Indigenous dispossession became fundamental in the realization of Canada's pursuit of a social capitalist society through the introduction of the Dominion Lands Act in 1872 (Toews, 2018, p. 53). With the allure of free land, offered specifically to white European farmers, Canada accomplished three major goals: labour for value that companies would benefit from (such as the railways); the creation of a manufacturing sector; and a populace who would uphold systems of "law and order," and patriarchal ideologies (Toews, 2018, p. 53). Due to the political climate in many European countries at the time, and an opportunity to escape persecution for an opportunity to own land, many groups, including Ukrainian emigrants were recruited to Canada and found its government's offers attractive. In positioning myself as a descendent of settlers, I do not mean to trivialize the hardships that my family faced throughout different periods of history, nor do I wish to compare stories of suffering. I do, however, wish to provide context for the reasons my family held, and continues to hold on to language, culture, and tradition. I also recognize the ways in which modern Canadian society has systematically benefitted those who identify as white and from European origin. This privilege and point of view has subsequently bled into the settler stories told within the curriculum and the perspectives that became publicly prevalent. To understand why this occurred, one must understand Canada's history as positioning itself as a settler and colonized nation at the expense of Indigenous communities. To unpack this notion, I seek to engage reflexively with my own cultural roots.

Historically, Ukrainians escaped tyranny at the hands of oppressive governments during many different periods of time. In the 1890s, when my mother's side of the family immigrated to Canada, Ukrainian people sought an opportunity to build a new life, free to speak their own language, and own land. This was not without its challenges. Although recruited by the Canadian government, Ukrainian and other Eastern European settlers were initially viewed as "stalwart peasants [...] fit enough to work but not to enjoy full participation in the social, political and cultural life of the nation" (Toews, 2018, p. 78). It was expected that European immigrants develop the land and the Canadian government, subsequently, exploited their labour (Taras Shevchenko Museum, 2021). During the First World War, Ukrainians were positioned as "enemy aliens" by the Canadian government (Canadian War Museum, n.d.) and were consequently interned. Upon immigrating to Canada in the 1920s, my grandfather Tarasiuk and other like-minded individuals aimed to create Ukrainian cultural strongholds within their new country. This was something that they were unable to do in Ukraine. Realizing the possibilities

that awaited them in Canada, Ukrainian immigrants continued to flee the hardships of their homeland. This included my grandmother Tarasiuk (neé Schudlo), who narrowly escaped death during the Second World War and was subsequently sent to a German displaced persons camp where she was forced into hard labour. Although yet unmarried, she was able to be sponsored by my grandfather and subsequently escaped to Canada.

In an attempt to retain culture and community, Ukrainians began to mobilize resources and gain influence within the prairie region of Canada (Toews, 2018, p. 116). This was something that they were unable to accomplish in Ukraine due to continuous persecution, which continues today, evidenced by Russia's most recent unprovoked invasion, beginning in 2014 and brutally escalating on February 24, 2022. Therefore, in Canada, following the Second World War and due to the strong diaspora that continued to grow, Ukrainians began to become more politically influential. Additional Ukrainian bilingual schools were opened, cultural centres were established, additional churches were built, and Ukrainian art and literature was celebrated (Library and Archives Canada, 2020). My family's traditions have been passed down from my grandparents to me, my brother, and my cousins as we continue to recognize the important connection that language and culture has to identity.

Ukrainian culture has maintained influence within Canada to the present day. Ukrainian bilingual schools continue to be accessible to those who wish to attend them across the province. It is at one of these schools that I attended as a child and where I was inspired to become a teacher. I was able to see myself reflected in my teachers through our shared identity, language, and community. This gave me an inherent sense of belonging. Relatives, including my father, were amongst the staff in the school that I attended. Therefore, when I began my post-secondary education, it did not take long for me to realize the path that I wanted to pursue. When I graduated, I knew that there was a community that would welcome me into the teaching profession.

Shared community, language, and identity was closely tied to my upbringing as well as my success and I took this privilege for granted. I realize now that due to the ongoing systemic racism that as well as the deliberate separation of families and communities, Indigenous students did not have the same opportunities to see themselves reflected in their teachers or the school system. While my community flourished in Canada, Indigenous sovereignty and culture was actively being diminished by racist policies, broken treaties and the systematic removal of children to residential schools:

From 1867 to 1945, the Government of Canada continued to root its policies in forced assimilation and relied on missionaries such as the Roman Catholic Oblates and the Anglican Church to "raise Indians to the level of whites." Much of the work involved both day schools and residential schools, largely using religious personnel belonging to

various Christian orders and organizations across Canada. (Battiste, 2013, p. 53) Residential schools resulted in intergenerational trauma that continues to effect Indigenous peoples and communities. Indigenous communities were essentially prohibited from establishing linguistic and cultural strongholds within a country that is their ancestral homeland. Papaschase Cree scholar Dwayne Donald (2011) explains, "the residential school policies forcefully removed Aboriginal children from their homes, housed them in harsh environments, unraveled their connections to their cultural values, identities, families, languages, and spiritual practices, and disrupted the functioning of family and cultural institutions" (p. 76). Therefore, while my family and other (predominantly white) European immigrants were eventually accepted into the "mosaic" and "multicultural fabric" of Canadian societal values, Indigenous families experienced ongoing systemic oppression. Because of this dynamic, families such as mine were able to also carve out places within the professional workforce and political realm of Canada, which ultimately impacted opportunities and legislation which benefitted, and continues to benefit the settler populations.

The Impacts of Teacher Demographics in Canada

Teaching is a profession that continues to be dominated by those who identify as white and female (Antonelli, et. al, 2009, p. 598). However, this demographic is not reflective of the communities in which Canadian teachers work and the students with whom they are working. Just as I was able to see myself represented in the teachers who taught me, it is important that all students have this experience. A teacher statistical analysis by Antonelli, Pollock, and Ryan (2009) identified a lack of teacher diversity in the workforce. Their research indicates that "in Canada the number of elementary and secondary teachers and school counsellors of colour have not kept pace with the phenomenal growth in the number of citizens of colour, and by extension, the number of students of colour" (p. 596). Unlike me, students who identify as BIPOC (Black, Indigenous, Person of Colour) do not have the same opportunities to see themselves reflected within the school system and therefore, may not be encouraged to join the profession. Consequently, the cycle that lacks teacher diversity, continues. In an opinion piece published by the CBC in 2020, Black educator Helen Vangool explains, "Being a teacher was not something I considered before because I never saw anyone who looked like me in a position of power in schools. I never felt like I fit in the school system, so I had no desire to teach in it" (Vangool, 2020).

Perspectives such as Vangool's (2020) motivate me to work towards a better understanding of the colonial and racial implications that exist within the school system, and particularly the curriculum documents. It is my intention that this research engages an Indigenist, decolonizing approach, that honours the Calls to Action in Canada's Truth and Reconciliation Commission (2015). Battiste (2013) defines this approach as a commitment to working collaboratively "towards Indigenous peoples' goals for sovereignty, self-determination, and treaty and Aboriginal rights reconciliation with the provinces, territories, and the federal government" (p. 74). Canada's settler population must confront the past and recognize the present ongoing acts of violent colonialism as well as become introduced to the power of counter-storytelling (Madden, 2019) which allows opportunities for stories to be told from the perspectives of those who are dismissed by dominant narratives. Battiste (2013) underlines the importance of this type of collaboration, stating, "These [Indigenist movements] must not be an agenda for Indigenous peoples alone, as so many have been complicit in their subordination, and beneficiaries of the relationships that enabled lands to be used, bought, taken, or misused. Non-Indigenous allies must support these as well [...]" (p. 74). Therefore, in doing this work and exposing these narratives, I, as a white settler, intend to highlight the need for progressive curricular reforms that reflect a commitment to reconciliation.

By thinking reflexively, I am attempting to recognize my positionality as well as inherent biases that lie beneath the following myth: Canada is a multicultural mosaic, accepting of all cultures, races, and religions, and therefore public schools and curricula reflect those values. These myths influenced my own understanding of Canadian culture and was based on a desire to honour the history of my ancestors. However, promoting Canada as a nation built on multiculturalism and the celebration of immigration (of some, mostly white settlers), ignores and silences the racist colonization policies, the deeply-rooted impacts of colonialism, and the history of the land pre-Confederation. Métis scholar, from Beardy's and Okemasis First Nation, Verna St. Denis (2012) explains, "public schools are defended as neutral multicultural spaces where all participants are equally positioned, irrespective of racism and colonialism" (p. 313). Therefore, in repositioning and explicitly valuing white and Eurocentric cultures under the veil of Canada's multicultural mosaic, schools have "privileged other peoples' stories" (Battiste, 2013, p. 17) over Indigenous perspectives and ultimately, "re-positioned [Indigenous stories] in the margins of knowledge and curriculum" (p. 23).

For decades, Indigenous advocates such as Mi'kmaq scholar, Marie Battiste, have been calling for educational reforms that unpack Canada's relationships with Indigenous communities and prioritize Indigenous knowledge. However, little has been done to initiate these changes. Instead, Canadian provinces have prioritized colonial imperialism though neoliberal structures that continue to be implemented in public education systems (Tuck, 2013). This has resulted in the maintenance of white settler structures and perspectives under the guise of strong, economic gain. The maintenance of these structures are defined by Unanga[°] scholar, Eve Tuck (2013) as an extension of settler colonialism and as an ongoing, systematic event.

The "So What?" of this Research: Objectives and Audience

It has become politically popular to declare oneself as "committed to reconciliation." However, without particular action, through policy reform or redress, such declarations are rendered meaningless. Thus, society finds itself in a "reconciliatory" holding pattern as governments and stakeholders proclaim their commitments to reconciliation without changing the ways in which they function, ultimately preserving the structures of colonialism. When meaningful gestures to promote reconciliation do materialize, sudden backlash exemplifies the entrenched racism that exists within the society at large. A recent example of this type of racial manifestation came with the announcement that involved the Hudson's Bay Company building in downtown Winnipeg. Once described as a "homage to British imperialism" by Anishinaabe scholar, Dr. Niigaan Sinclair (2022), it was recently announced that the Southern Chiefs' organization would claim stewardship over the building in an act of reclamation towards advancing economic and social reconciliation (Southern Chiefs' Organization, 2022). Sinclair (2022), who has written extensively on the Hudson's Bay Company exploitation of Indigenous peoples and lands within Canada, described the building as a symbolic image of colonization: "extracting billions of dollars of profit from every inch of the territories it entered." For years, the building was left a derelict, until "a Friday in late April [of 2022], more than 350 years since King Charles II pronounced Indigenous Peoples and lands don't matter, Indigenous people offered to clean up the mess" (Sinclair, 2022). The announcement prompted swift backlash. Racism was rapidly spewed within comments sections and the Winnipeg Free Press' Letters to the Editor section, illustrating the argument that we, as a society, are far from achieving reconciliation, rather, settler colonialism continues to endure and actively resists when it is threatened.

Settler colonialism is also evidenced in changes to curriculum that move further from reconciliation (Tuck, 2013). Across Canada, changes in curriculum have prioritized competition and "accountability" by overvaluing scores of standardized tests such as PISA (Programme for International Student Assessment) as a "gold standard" of success (Kennedy, 2015). It is also important to note that in other provinces, newly formed curricular documents have prioritized white perspectives. For example, in Ontario, "modernization" to its public school system resulted in rollbacks to progressive sexual education programming as well as a reduction of teaching positions and the promotion of widespread online learning for high school students (Christou, 2019). Amongst many problematic concerns, these changes further disadvantage populations

who lack access to public health messaging as well as technology. In Alberta, newly released curricular documents prioritize Christian and white perspectives, and erased experiences and stories of First Nations, Métis, and Inuit (Sharpe, 2021), while also obfuscating climate change science in efforts to promote ongoing oil sands extraction (Seidel, 2021). Considering that the Government of Manitoba has also used "modernization" language and tactics (as proposed in The Education Modernization Act, 2021), it is worrisome that the curricular changes in Manitoba could follow in a similar manner. Should this occur, the ramifications of ongoing systemic racism and oppression will continue to influence and impact students in Manitoba. As Truth and Reconciliation commissioner, Senator Murray Sinclair famously declared, "Education is the key to reconciliation; education got us into this mess, and education will get us out of this mess" (The National Centre for Collaboration in Indigenous Education, 2020).

Therefore, this study aims to reach policy makers, curriculum writers, historical thinkers as well as educators. In conducting a critical discourse analysis on Manitoba's current social studies framework of outcomes, this study highlights the ways in which curriculum acts as catalyst in the maintenance of settler colonialism within Manitoba's education system and greater society. Furthermore, this research exposes the ways in which cognitive imperialism (Battiste, 1998) and curriculum language informs a certain way of thinking and promotes specific forms of knowledge. Defined by Battiste (1998), cognitive imperialism is a form of manipulation, which has been used to validate one source of knowledge over another. Systemically, cognitive imperialism has legitimized structures of settler colonialism and has undermined Indigenous languages and cultures, regarding them as inferior and illegitimate. The objective of looking at the curricular documents through a postcolonial lens is to foreground these underlying narratives. Another objective of this research is to bring attention to the omissions that exist within the curricular documents, such as the lack of content regarding residential schools. The trauma of uncovering unmarked graves at former residential schools have recently become a recurring headline. These stories have opened wounds for residential school survivors and have exposed Canada's shame at an international level (Austin & Bilefsky, 2021). Therefore, the Calls to Action from Canada's 2015 Truth and Reconciliation Commission (TRC), have begun to garner greater public attention. Within these Calls to Action exists recommendations to improve school curriculum by incorporating Indigenous languages, cultural teachings and Indigenous community involvement (p. 2). Considering the current period of reckoning, curriculum must reflect the Calls to Action as Canada and its citizens aim to work towards reconciliation.

Rationale, Purpose and Research Questions

Manitoba's Kindergarten to Grade 8 social studies framework of outcomes was created in 2003 under the auspices of Manitoba Education and Youth and since then, this 20-year-old document has undergone very few changes. Meanwhile, the world that it is supposed to reflect has experienced dramatic historical events such as the Boushie tragedy, the Missing and Murdered Indigenous Women and Girls commission, Black Lives Matter, and the public movements to defund the police, the COVID-19 pandemic and more – all of which have exposed society's inequities as well as shifts in public attention towards social justice movements around the globe. Therefore, the curriculum finds itself nearing irrelevancy as it has remained stagnant within a world that has continued to evolve. Battiste (1998) emphasizes this perspective stating:

Although current educational literature speaks to the need for schools to encourage the full academic and human achievements of all students, the provincial governments in Canada that have been responsible for education in their provinces have not revamped

their curricula in the interests of the diverse groups they teach. Although over half of the Aboriginal students in Canada are in provincial schools, little has been done to develop a transformed curriculum. (p. 19)

The claims that Battiste made in 1998 ring true today and are evidence of a lack of effort towards equity and reconciliation on the part of provincial governments across Canada.

Implemented in 2003 meant that collaboration to create the social studies document began at the beginning of a new millennium. The tragic events of 9/11 were fresh in the minds of Canadians, Jean Chrétien was the Prime Minister of Canada, and the country was on the brink of legalizing same-sex marriage across the country. Therefore, the curriculum document was created before Canada's Truth and Reconciliation (2015) as well as the national focus on the Inquiry into Missing and Murdered Indigenous Women and Girls (2016), meaning that the curricular implications of the finding from these inquiries are noticeably absent. However, this is not a justification for the lack of Indigenous content or knowledge, as documents such as the Indian Control of Indian Education by the Assembly of First Nations (1973), which emphasized the importance of Indigenous curriculum content, were already in existence.

Using a critical discourse analysis as a methodology and a postcolonial theoretical lens, this project explores the Manitoba to Grade 8 Social Studies Curriculum Framework of Outcomes (2003) guided by the following research questions:

1) In what ways does the social studies curriculum maintain structures of settler colonialism whilst justifying colonization?

2) In what ways does the curriculum promote Eurocentric narratives through a colonial lens?

3) In what ways does the curriculum promote the othering of Indigenous perspectives whilst endorsing prairie settler ideology as a dominant narrative?

4) How is the history of Indigenous peoples included and referenced in the curriculum? How are these stories related to those of colonialism?

5) In what ways does multiculturalism and various Canadian stereotypes delegitimize Indigenous perspectives within the curriculum?

The purpose of this research project is to: 1) engage in a critical discourse analysis of Manitoba's K-8 Social Studies Framework of Outcomes; 2) explore the ways in which language empowers specific ways of thinking over others, with special attention to the ways in which colonial narratives and settler grammars are utilized; and 3) submit recommendations to stakeholders in order to inform future curriculum documents. Fourth, it is my intention that this research will be a means through which to inform educators of the importance of thinking critically and of using critical lenses when reading and implementing curriculum documents.

Theoretical Framework: Postcolonialism

To guide the critical discourse analysis, I analyzed the *Manitoba K-8 Social Studies Framework of Outcomes* (2003) curricular document through a postcolonial lens. I chose this theoretical lens as I wish to unpack my role as a white settler in a nation that was colonized by European settlers while displacing those who already occupied the land. Postcolonial theory infers that colonization has had global impacts that have shaped the ways in which languages, cultures, and perspectives have developed across the world. These global impacts continue to be enacted in colonized and non-colonized nations, and between people who were colonizers and those that were colonized (Burney, 2012, p. 174). Postcolonial theory analyses the ways in which

23

imperialism has created "the other," fetishizing the colonized in a way that recognizes original peoples of the lands as "exotic" or "uncivilized." Burney (2012) explains the ways in which "othering" in educational and curriculum documents can be examined through a postcolonial lens. Burney (2012) states that, "The processes of othering or marginalization (of the student, race, class, gender, minorities, natives, language, or culture, for instance) can also be applied as strategies for critical analysis in education" (p. 175). By analyzing Manitoba's social studies curriculum documents through a postcolonial lens, this project highlights the ways in which the discourses within the curriculum "normalizes" white-settler European cultures and perspectives, creating and fostering cognitive imperialism. Cognitive imperialism "denies many groups of people their language and cultural integrity and maintains legitimacy of only one language, one culture, and one frame of reference" (Battiste, 1998, p. 20). Therefore, by analyzing the curriculum through a postcolonial lens and by drawing on decolonizing and Indigenizing epistemologies, I will highlight the ways in which the discourses within Manitoba's social studies studies curriculum reflects and maintains discourses of settler colonialism.

Recognizing Colonialism within Curriculum

Postcolonial theory draws attention to the ways in which "Western education [acts] as an emancipatory force and bring to the fore schooling's role in maintaining inequality and marginalising non-Western knowledges by emphasizing how in a postcolonial era education continues to be permeated by the imperial power/knowledge matrix" (Spina, 2018, p. 22). In investigating Canada's history books and curricula through a postcolonial lens, one can critique the celebratory and multicultural narratives that have long promoted an understanding of colonization through a heroic, white lens. For example, these narratives tell stories of "European explorers and traders in search for *new* lands" (Manitoba K-8 Social Studies Curriculum

Framework of Outcomes, 2003, p. 77). The use of the word "new" reflects the Latin term, *terra nullius*, which is used a means for the justification of colonialism, by claiming the lands as unoccupied or belonging to no one. This discourse reflective of white settler ideology, is one that I embodied throughout my childhood. I spent my summers exploring Canada coast to coast, visiting historic forts and becoming interested in Canadian history at a young age. However, due to a Eurocentric education, I was unable to understand the implications of the romanticized bullet holes at the Batoche National Historic Site or the symbolism of the tall wooden walls that surround each fort that I visited. This symbolism is explained by Donald (2009), who compares the representations of life inside the walls of a fort (the white colonizers) to those represented on the outside of the walls (Indigenous peoples). He states, "Inside the walls was a more industrious place where newcomers laboured in the interests of civilizing a country and building a nation" (p. 2). This dichotomy was so entrenched in my worldview, that I was unable to see or understand perspectives beyond it.

Using a postcolonial lens to critically engage with the *K-8 Social Studies Curriculum* therefore allows me to unpack my own biases that have shaped me and many white settlers that call Canada home and who were integral to the project of colonization. The analysis will illustrate the legacy of colonialism in the present day. I aim to take responsibility for these perspectives in looking at curricular resources through a critical, postcolonial lens. As a white, female teacher with a Eurocentric background, I see this as a crucial responsibility and must confront these truths towards a path of reconciliation. Battiste (2013) points to an essay by Len Findlay (2000), entitled, "Always Indigenize! The Radical Humanities in the Postcolonial Canadian University." In it, Findlay urges non-Indigenous scholars to include Indigenous issues within their academia to centre the ways in which settlers understand how colonialism has

infiltrated all aspects and structures of Canadian daily life. Furthermore, Findlay (2000) discusses the ways in which history books state or imply that Canada was once an "empty land," barren, and "free of civilization" but that these notions are rooted in European settler ideology, solely for the purpose and profitability of their "civilization mission" (p. 310). This ideology is consistent with the language and structure found in Manitoba's *K-8 Social Studies Framework of Outcomes* (2003). Poignantly, Findlay concludes his essay by discussing the colonial powers which the English language upholds and has been used as a tool for colonization. He calls on institutions such as universities to recognize this, urging:

an enhanced capacity for analytical and imaginative critique of the current

(Amerocentric, neocolonial, capitalist) hegemony [...] in taking their lead from a new generation of Indigenous theorists and activists, Englishes and their critical promoters can contribute in highly practical ways to economic and social justice for all — for as long as the sun shines, the curriculum flows, and the text of treaties between the Crown and

Canada's First Nations is not reduced to the rhetoric of entreaty. (p. 310) Therefore, curriculum scholars such as Battiste, Tuck, Madden, Donald, and Findlay point out that those who identify as a white settler have a responsibility to educate themselves on the ways in which structures within Eurocentric societies have consistently worked to undermine Indigenous identity through ongoing acts of violence and systemic racism. I engage in this work by underlining the importance of exposing the ways in which discourse is used within the *Manitoba K-8 Social Studies Curriculum* (2003), and to explore how such discourse has contributed to maintaining and upholding settler narratives in the curriculum, the classroom, and subsequently, Canadian society.

In choosing postcolonial theory, I considered the ways in which my own education, upbringing, and positionality impacted my understandings of historical thinking and the way I interpreted and taught the social studies curriculum when I first became a teacher. By looking at the curriculum using a critical, postcolonial lens, I aim to understand the power dynamics that have shaped the values, stories, and knowledge that dominates classroom discourses. Young (in Viruru, 2005) discusses postcolonialism as the "recognition of the Western imperialist project and its complicated legacies, such as the appearance of decolonization as nations have attained freedom, juxtaposed with political and economic domination that seeks power over people's identities and intellects" (p. 141). Therefore, my research recognizes the social studies curriculum as an imperialist and colonial project. Subsequently, this research does not aim to determine *if* the social studies curriculum reflects colonial logics, but rather aims to analyze how it does so. Furthermore, postcolonial theory aims to explore the ramifications of the colonized and the colonizer and their intertwined and complicated relationships. Lopez (in Viruru, 2005) points out that, "although those who have been subjected to colonization find it impossible to live without the languages and cultural practices of the colonizers, they cannot fully identify with them" (p. 142). Thus, Viruru (2005) explains that postcolonial theory grapples with analyzing the past while at the same time understanding the effect of outside rule on those who were colonized. By exploring the notion of discourse, power, and voice in the social studies curriculum through this lens, my project exposes the ways in which settler narratives have been imposed on students, teachers, and society at large, and the ways in which the social studies curriculum works as a tool that upholds those power dynamics.

The Implications of Postcolonial Theory

In utilizing postcolonial theory as a lens to conduct my research, I recognize the inherent problem with the name of the theory itself, as "post" colonial theory implies that society has moved *past* colonialism. Many historical scholars critique the use of the theory and the implications that surround the name. McClintock (in Xie, 1997), "objects to the term 'postcolonial' for its premature celebration of the pastness of colonialism" (p. 7). Xie (1997) points out that:

critics reject the term 'postcolonial' primarily for its dismaying implication of 'after the demise of colonialism.' Their objections to the concept of postcoloniality arise from the recognition of the increasing presence of neocolonialism. To these critics, it is a logical impossibility to assign postcolonialism and neocolonialism to the same temporality. (p. 8)

Although the use of postcolonial theory may imply the chronological movement beyond colonialism, I want to make clear that its impacts, including ongoing acts of violence are very much present within the Canadian context today. Rather, I will rely on the definition of postcolonial theory by Mi'kmaq scholar, Marie Battiste, who in 2004 discussed the implications of postcolonial theory, stating:

'Postcolonial' is not a time after colonialism, but rather for me it represents more of an aspiration, a hope, not yet achieved. It constructs a strategy that responds to experience of colonization and imperialism. As a critique, it is about rethinking the conceptual, institutional, cultural, legal, and other boundaries that are taken for granted and assumed universal, but act as a structural barrier to many, including Aboriginal people, women, visible minorities, and others. [...] Postcolonial is not about the criticism and deconstruction of colonization and domination, but also about the reconstruction and transformation, operating as a form of liberation from colonial imposition. (p. 1)

Battiste (2004) continues this discussion by pointing out that she views postcolonial theory as a catalyst for transformation, rather than a commentary on the past. Therefore, Battiste's (2004) definition of postcolonial theory has guided my thinking throughout this project.

Literature Review: Settler Colonial Narratives in Curriculum

There is considerable research that explores how settler narratives dominate curriculum within North American societies and their ongoing experiences of colonialism. Much of this writing points to the ways in which curriculum has maintained structures of settler colonialism (Battiste, 1998; Battiste, 2013; Calderon, 2014; Donald, 2009; Findlay, 2000; Madden, 2019; St. Denis, 2012; Tuck & Gaztambide-Fernández, 2013) as well as the ways in which structural racism has influenced the worldview of students and teachers (Marom, 2019; Sleeter, 2017; Tuck & Gaztambide-Fernández, 2013). Furthermore, Indigenous scholars have discussed the ways that curriculum, through the empowerment of Indigenous populations within the education system, can push back on the systems that continue to marginalize First Nations, Inuit, and Métis populations within the Canadian society (Battiste, 1998; Battiste, 2013; Madden, 2019; Makokis, 2008; Tuck & Yang, 2014). These scholars discuss the ways Indigenist perspectives are realized through self-determination, counter-stories, governance, and a reclamation of culture. I have chosen to rely on curriculum scholars to guide this study, rather than social studies scholars to attend to the inherent whiteness within the writings of traditional historical thinkers. In an interview with the Harvard Gazette (2020), historian Donald Yacovone discusses the ways in which American textbooks were deliberately written to teach white supremacy and, therefore, urges much needed changes to the ways curriculum is taught to all students as a way to combat contemporary forms of racism and violence. Anderson (2017) discusses this notion within the Canadian context in her analysis on Canada's national narratives and the ways they influence pedagogy, stating, "simplified understandings of history that produce binary notions of insiders/outsiders, and promote state visions that exclude or silence particular individual or group identities" (p. 5). Anderson also discusses the consequences of certain ways of thinking

historically by referencing Gadamer who, "believes that when individuals look at the past, they cannot avoid doing so through the kaleidoscope of their influences, conditioning, and historical moment-they are perpetually restricted by the lens of their current place and time" (Gadamer in Anderson, 2017, p. 9). Anderson therefore points out that history and historical consciousness is not static, but changes over time through differing perspectives and lenses. Additionally, Samantha Cutrara (2018) warns of the reliance of historical thinking to shape social studies curricula, arguing that, "historical thinking has an intolerance for the type of work needed to decolonize history education and Indigenize our understanding of the Canadian past" (p. 255). It is with this notion in mind, and through thinking reflexively, that I frame this project through curriculum scholars who specialize in decolonizing and Indigenist ways of thinking rather than solely relying on social studies scholars and/or historical thinkers.

Neoliberal Narratives within Curriculum

It is necessary to look at the research regarding the uprising of neoliberal ideology in westernized countries such as the United States and Canada in order to understand the ways which curriculum acts as a catalyst in maintaining colonial structures. Tuck (2013) describes this as "the emergence of neoliberal logic, especially as an extension of settler colonial sensibilities" (p. 334). She argues that settler colonization is "not a fixed event in time, but a structure that continues to contour the lives of Indigenous people, settlers, and all other subjects of the settler colonial nation-state" (p. 326). Woolford & Curran (2011) explore the ramifications of this ideology within the non-profit sector of Manitoba's context stating:

This neoliberal shift in Canada and Manitoba is felt in the non-profit field and it is evident in both pre-reflective and reflective strategizing off agents working within this field. These agents adapt their practices to a structured set of conditions in hopes of advancing agency goals. (p. 590)

Woolford and Curran (2011) also argue that participating in this type of neoliberal restructuring, has resulted in increased competition between agencies as well as "increased pressure on executive directors of social service agencies to become more business-minded" (p. 590). This type of ideology is directly related to the ways in which Manitoba's current government hopes to restructure the public education system. The recently proposed then retracted Education Modernization Act (2021) would have undermined the public education system through increased teacher accountability, including a restructuring of funding based on standardized-test performance and corporate-based modelling within schools. An example of this shift towards corporate-based modelling was evidenced by the intention to separate principals from the Manitoba Teachers' Society, as well as curricular restructuring that threatens to rely on standardization and test-based accountability (The Education Modernization Act, 2021). These shifts to neoliberal logics are, in effect, a threat to a public education system that is the cornerstone of democracy.

Threats to Democratic Education

One can look to the United States to understand the dangers of neoliberal standards-based curriculum in further increasing the equity gap due to policies such as "No Child Left Behind" as well as the "Common Core Standards" that embed high-stakes testing into all facets of the American curriculum, including social studies. In an article that aims to understand the implications of these policies, entitled, "Social Studies Education and Standards-Based Education Reforms in North America: Curriculum Standardization, High-Stakes Testing, and Resistance," authors, Ross, Mathison and Vinson (2014) acknowledge the role that social studies sets out to achieve as well as the controversy it incites through "intellectual battles" which have made the subject an "ideological battleground" (p. 20-21). Ross et al. (2014) highlight the ways in which social studies curricula has been influenced by various attempts at reaching "worldclass" prominence and competition within the global standardized testing systems. This fixation and over-reliance on global competition for economic gain is what Kennedy (2015) refers to as, "the power of PISA" (p. 7). However, as Ross et al. (2014) point out, "social studies teaching should not be reduced to an exercise in implementing a set of activities pre-defined by policy makers, textbook companies, or a high-stakes test" (p. 40). By very definition, social studies should examine society in context, enrich critical thinking skills, and demonstrate an ability to adapt to ever-changing social constructs and narratives within communities and societies at large.

The Role of Citizenship within Curriculum

Social studies is not a static concept, and neither is citizenship, as Bergen and McLean (2014) point out as they examine the role that schools play in engaging with concepts such as citizenship education and democracy. In their analysis of the Saskatchewan social studies documents (2014), these authors investigate the ways in which the concept of citizenship is represented. In approaching their study using a critical discourse methodology through a critical constructivist lens, Bergen and McLean (2014) aim to examine the contributions of curriculum to endorse "effective citizenship education" (p. 1). They indicate, that according to Saskatchewan's social studies documents, a "good" citizen includes being "deliberative;" questioning authority and engaging in public debate as well as having a "social justice orientation" which aims to teach students to "recognize injustices and feel empowered to take action to resolve them" (p. 19). However, they state that although references to Indigenous perspectives were mentioned in the

34

documents, there is a lack of emphasis placed on cultural practices, language, or selfdetermination in education (Deer, as cited in Bergen & McLean, 2014, p. 18), which are focuses within the Truth and Reconciliation Commission's Calls to Action (2015).

In another study by Spina (2018), the meaning of citizenship within the Ontario social studies curriculum is examined using critical discourse analysis, through a postcolonial lens. Spina examines the ways in which the concept of citizenship reinforces Canada's national identity as white and imperial (p. ii). Spina's (2018) findings indicate that the curricular documents create discourses that centre "self," "community," and "other" and is shaped by ideologies such as multiculturalism, internationalism, and globalisation. Spina states, "by normalizing certain sensibilities, attitudes and disposition in certain bodies while constantly presenting the others as an outsider, it has become a means to constantly refabricate the modern white self" (p. 177). Spina argues that the curriculum maintains the white-settler narrative as status quo, normalizing the "us versus them" dichotomy. Therefore, this discourse upholds the "Europeans as knowledge producers" ideology, contrasted with the "erroneous knowledge of the Other" (p. 182). Spina suggests moving away from the modernist trappings of progressive education that has shaped Canadian curricula as well as disrupting white, Western pedagogies, stating, "The move to challenge the white subject's autonomy to see the 'others-among-us' as 'another-one-of-us' would be a powerful gesture in that it would disrupt white autonomy and the ability to recognize and know the other, and in the process, render the white subject an affectable one" (p. 194). The disruption that Spina suggests would allow for a shift of perspectives within the Canadian curricula, making way for a decolonizing approach to teaching specific historical subject matter, as well as current societal issues.

Similarly, this study illustrates the ways in which Manitoba's curriculum upholds the "Othering" narrative, as Spina (2018) defines as "a global non-citizen" (p. ii) as well as the narrative that Indigenous peoples are depicted as "outsiders-within," and therefore, threatened by genocide as well as cultural annihilation (p. 8).

Also important to consider within this research are the ways in which citizenship has been defined in Canada throughout the last century. Maryam Nabavi (2010) discusses this notion in her article entitled, *Constructing the "citizen" in Citizenship Education*, where she analyzes the evolution of citizenship though the educational context beginning in 1890s and its four distinct shifts:

Substantive Citizenship Elitist	→	→	Social Citizenship Activist
Informed by Confederation 1867	Informed by Citizenship Act 1947	Informed by Multiculturalism Policy 1971	Informed by social, political, economic, cultural globalization 1990s onward
Focus on nation-building	Focus on democracy	Focus on diversity (soft multiculturalism)	Focus on social cohesion (simplifies emergent tensions of diversity)

Maryam Nabavi, 2010, p. 3

It is important to note these shifts in narrative, as Anderson (2017) would define as a "national narrative [that are] discursive devices that combine history, collective memory, and myth into teleological communications of a nation's past, present, and future" (p. 4). These narratives and subsequent "shifts" give important context to the creation of social studies curriculum documents.

The Canadian Multicultural Context

As pointed out by Maryam Nabavi (2010), a shift towards the use of "multiculturalism" was a significant influence in the Canadian identity beginning in the early 1970s, cemented by

the introduction of the Canadian Multiculturalism Act of 1988 which sought to eliminate discrimination of the settler population within Canada. Although multiculturalism and the act that was subsequently introduced in 1988 became a point of national pride, and promoted the identity that Canada was a "nation of immigrants" it acted as another form of erasure for Indigenous populations. Tuck & Gaztambide-Fernández (2013) define multiculturalism as "the most widespread response to white supremacy in the curriculum" (p. 81). St. Denis (2012) also explores this notion, explaining, "by inciting multiculturalism, public schools effectively limit meaningful incorporation of Aboriginal content and perspectives into public schools" (p 307). St. Denis (2012) continues this explanation by exploring the ways in which multiculturalism "encourages social division" (p. 308) as well as "other" racialized groups. St. Denis (2012) argues that multiculturalism, promoted by white settler discourses, reduces Indigenous sovereignty and rights to a relic of the past, pre-contact, while, simultaneously perpetuating multiculturalism and whiteness as the present, or what is deemed normal and natural (p. 308-309). Therefore, when multicultural celebrations are planned within schools and public spaces, they may often be seen as "in response" to Indigenous cultural practices, which must be viewed as the norm within the public realm. If multicultural practices are used in a reactionary way, such as stating, "but there are other children here" (St. Denis, 2012), Indigenous language, culture, and ways of knowing continue to be erased. Using a postcolonial lens to critically examine the use of multiculturalism in Manitoba's social studies curriculum documents helps to unpack my Eurocentric biases in relation to the settler narratives which dominate Manitoba society.

Curriculum's Preservation of Settler Colonialism

There has also been significant literature concerning the ways in which social studies curriculum influences the maintenance of settler colonialism in other contexts such as the United States (Calderon, 2014a; Calderon, 2014b; Tuck & Gaztambide-Fernández, 2013). Calderon (2014b) pays particular attention to the ways in which settler grammar influences curriculum by discussing "Indigenous absence" and "Indigenous presence" (p. 318). Calderon connects this idea to that of Tuck & Gaztambide-Fernández (2013) who discuss the language of "settler replacement" (p. 75) and the ways in which it is manifested in American curriculum documents. Calderon (2014b) also discusses the role of "citizenship" and the implications of the word. Pearson (in Calderon, 2014b) states, "In settler nations, narratives of immigration are central to constructions of citizenship because colonization is directly constitutive of such states, and subsequent mass settlement secured majority presences as they literally swamped the Indigenous populations the dispossessed" (p. 320). Calderon (2014b) also argues that through colonial domination, it became necessary to eliminate Indigenous culture and peoples, to establish economic and political control over the land (p. 320). What Calderon (2014b) describes is a mirror image of the ongoing acts of violent colonization that have been occurring within Canada for hundreds of years. Her analysis of the American social studies curriculum as well as American social studies textbooks is reflective of the narratives within Manitoba's K-8 Social Studies Curriculum, and she challenges teachers to "collectively confront settler grammars and begin to move away from metaphors and into concrete anti-settler practice" (p. 332). Calderon (2014a) points to land resistance movements as a way to educate students about the implications of settler colonialism.

At a moment in time when Canadian society is grappling with the use of language to describe Canadian atrocities, as evidenced by the ongoing debate surrounding the use of the word, *genocide* (Stefanovich, 2021) to describe the legacy of Canada's Residential School System, it is crucial to understand how language impacts discourses within the curriculum

documents. Woolford & Benvenuto (2015) discuss the dichotomy of Canadian attempts at reconciliation stating:

[Indigenous populations] see the Canadian government with one hand offer reconciliation and reparation, while with the other it violates historic and contemporary treaty and Aboriginal rights, intensifies extractive activities that threaten life in Indigenous territories, ignores the plight of missing and murdered Indigenous women, creates minimum sentencing laws that are only likely to increase Indigenous over-incarceration, continues to try to impose private property regimes on Indigenous communities and is the source of many other ongoing Indigenous grievances. (p. 382)

Therefore, it is evident that Canadian society has come to a crossroads and it is clear that Canada is in danger of choosing to continue down a path of colonial and neoliberal policies, further increasing the equity gap, ignoring Indigenous perspectives and moving further from, instead of towards, reconciliation. Medina & Whitla (2019) argue:

On one hand, Canada needs to come to terms with the very structures of colonization which continue to disproportionately benefit specific sectors of the Euro-Canadian population. On the other hand, Canada will also have to confront its multicultural façade which claims that official multiculturalism celebrates diversity without prejudice when in fact it actually excludes those who do not fit the dominant/normative Euro-Canadian frame. (p. 19)

Thus, Canadian curriculum must also confront the narratives that uphold Euro-Canadian perspectives, which includes understanding the ways in which multicultural celebrations and teachings in schools can negatively impact the work of decolonization.

In another study, conducted by Schaefli, Godlewska, and Rose (2018), the epistemologies of ignorance were studied in the 2003-2015 Ontario Canadian and World Studies Curriculum. The authors define an epistemology of ignorance as the unwillingness to address inequities faced by Indigenous peoples within Canada regarding systems of power relations that include health, education, land claims, and child welfare (p. 475). Their study found that "content related to Indigenous peoples is consistently framed as optional and historical, a dynamic that works to centre settler subjectivity while deflecting attention away from Indigenous knowledge, experiences, and critical perspectives" (p. 479) and that the curricular documents and textbooks associated with the Ontario curriculum from 2003-2015 imply that Indigenous people only exist in the past tense (p. 486). Similarly, in her Master's thesis which analyzed hip hop culture within Métis communities, Métis scholar, Dr. Lucy Fowler (2017) discusses the problematic discourse that Indigenous communities in Canada are portrayed as "frozen in time" (p. i) which ultimately leads to the creation of educational spaces that are unresponsive to the ways in which Indigenous students see themselves (p. 9).

In engaging meaningfully with the Calls to Action from Canada's TRC (2015), I am compelled to use a postcolonial lens to critically examine Manitoba's social studies curriculum documents by drawing on Indigenous scholars as well as decolonizing and Indigenizing theories. Currently, there is a lack of critical engagement with the existing Manitoba social studies curriculum documents. Consequently, the current curriculum upholds systemic racism and white-settler narratives within Manitoba; a community that includes a significant and growing Indigenous population. My research project was motivated by the knowledge of Indigenous, decolonizing, and postcolonial scholars. By using a postcolonial theoretical lens, I seek to understand the complicity of the white settler discourses that continue to control systems that

influence public knowledge and narratives. Prior to this research, a critical discourse analysis of the K-8 social studies curriculum in Manitoba did not exist. Therefore, the goal of this project is to highlight the need to review curriculum documents with a critical lens to draw attention to how the curriculum upholds structures of colonialism.

41

This project's purpose was to understand that ways in which the Manitoba Kindergarten to Grade Eight Social Studies Curriculum (2003) legitimizes and endorses settler colonial narratives. This project underlines the ways in which the curriculum privileges Western ways of thinking and epistemologies, while at the same time, delegitimizing others by employing particular discourses and discursive strategies, such as omission and language use. By using critical discourse analysis as the methodology, I uncovered how particular uses of language, grammar, and narratives influence the meaning-making that occurs within the social studies curriculum, and ultimately, in the classroom. By doing so, I was able to demonstrate the ways in which the curriculum upholds settler colonial narratives as well as cognitive imperialism and highlight the ways in which the curricular text legitimizes Western epistemologies. Luke (as cited in Rogers, 2011) defines discourse as, "systematic clusters of themes, statements, ideas and ideologies [that] come into play in the text" (p. 132). Therefore, this critical discourse analysis enables me to "put on display what is normally invisible" (S. Moore, personal communication, May 4, 2022), as these themes and ideas have become normalized within the colonial society that we live in. Within the social studies curriculum, colonial narratives are pervasive, normalized and subsequently become the stories and the content that students learn and come to understand as "truth." Therefore, this project analyzed the curriculum in order to document the specific discourses of settler colonialism in order to critically consider the potential impacts on students' understandings of content within the social studies curriculum (Manitoba Education and Training, 2003).

As Rogers (2011) points out, critical discourse analysis (CDA) brings together "social theories into dialogue with theories of language to answer particular research questions" (p. 3).

Rogers (2011) theorizes the ways in which CDA analysis takes into consideration structures of power, political contexts, and language to explain how society is impacted by these structures. In considering narrative when conducting a critical discourse analysis, Rogers (2011) highlights the importance of understanding language as power and its role within meaning-making (p. 5). Therefore, the language used in provincially mandated curriculum texts can influence (or can be influential in) the ways in which teachers, students, and the society at large privileges and comes to understand particular narratives. Such narratives have wide-reaching implications and impact how society views historical and current political and social circumstances. When narratives become dominant, they can influence how biases are constructed and opinions are formed. Fairclough (2014) explains CDA as a "normative critique of discourse, leading to explanatory critique of relations between discourse and other social elements of the existing social reality, as a basis for action to change reality for the better" (p. 48). Fairclough (2014) notes that CDA is a critique on contemporary social change, however, at the same time, is a historical analysis that "gives prominence to the dynamics and transformations of capitalism in its critique, on the grounds that they are dialectically related to processes and changes in the existing social reality at all levels and all areas of social life" (p. 49). Therefore, this project, which analyzed the ways in which the Manitoba social studies curriculum maintains settler colonial narratives and upholds Western ways of thinking, employed a CDA methodology with a postcolonial lens that exposes the historical and political contexts as well as power dynamics that impact the curriculum's language, values, and narratives.

Limitations of CDA

Rogers (2011) points out limitations that exist within the CDA methodology. Historically, CDA was created and developed by Western theorists and scholars, such as Norman Fairclough, born in the United Kingdom. As such, CDA has "been exacerbated by the predominance of English-based journals, research universities and conferences that have shaped and continue to shape the field" (p. 9). Because of this, Rogers (2011) argues, there is a danger of promoting "monocultural values and perspectives." However, as Rogers (2011) discusses, it is important to understand CDA as beyond the Western ideology, "I think therefore I am," and instead focus on "I am because we are" which centers community rather than self (p. 9). I recognize my work as having ramifications that extend directly to the community in which I live.

Therefore, in understanding this project as one which impacts my community rather than myself, I aim to move beyond the westernized approaches to CDA. By conducting the CDA through a postcolonial lens, while drawing on decolonizing and Indigenizing theories, I relied upon Marie Battiste's (2004) definition of postcolonial theory as "a strategy that responds to colonialism and imperialism" (p. 1), as well as a recognition that *post*colonialism is an aspiration, not yet achieved. Furthermore, I recognize my project as a political project, just as I recognize the act of teaching as inherently political. As Jørgensen and Phillips (2018) discuss, "critical discourse does not understand itself as politically neutral (as objectivist social science does), but as a critical approach which is politically committed to social change" (p. 5). In drawing from Jøgensen and Phillips (2018), I do not view political subjectivity as a shortcoming or limitation within this work, as I aim to uncover how specific language maintains unequal power relations. I believe that in doing so, there is possibility in igniting political social change.

Methods and Procedures

This project incorporated Rogers (2011) methodology which links CDA to the field of education while integrating Fairclough's (2015) notion of language and power. This critical discourse analysis drew on Fairclough's three-tiered approach and is similar to the ways in which

Lana Parker (2019) conducted a critical discourse analysis of Ontario's assessment policy. Similar to Parker (2019), I looked closely at the political climate, including external documents, such as newspaper articles to understand the policies and decisions that were made in the creation of the Manitoba social studies curriculum. This allowed me to better understand the context during that period. This also helped me shape my analytical framework when I began to analyze the curriculum.

In conducting my analysis, I used a postcolonial theoretical lens to describe the ways in which the Manitoba K-8 Social Studies Curriculum upholds colonial narratives, legitimizes Western and colonial ways of thinking, while simultaneously delegitimizing certain knowledge systems. Using a postcolonial lens for the analysis allowed me to construct an analytical framework to explain the ways in which the Manitoba Social Studies Curriculum uses language, narrative, and discourse that reflect and uphold colonial narratives. The themes that I explored highlighted the language, narratives, and discourses of the curriculum include the "othering" of Indigenous perspectives, upholding prairie settler narratives and futurity, justifying colonization, and promoting a colonial construct of citizenship. Also analyzed is the omission of specific events, places, people, perspectives, and stories that demonstrate that Canada is a colonizing entity.

Postcolonial Theory as an Analytical Framework

As explicated in the previous chapter, postcolonial theory focuses on the impacts of those who were colonized and is concerned with understanding the ways in which the colonizer continues to benefit from structures that were subsequently established. At its simplest form, colonialism can be described as "the conquest and control of other people's lands and goods" (Loomba, p. 2). In establishing this control, colonizers within Canada constructed westernized knowledge systems that are utilized within the current curricular documents, thus reinforcing the established dynamics of power. Therefore, in choosing to analyze the curriculum using a postcolonial lens, this project highlights the narratives that continue to delegitimize Indigenous epistemologies and give power to European colonial knowledge systems.

In framing my analysis, I focused on five specific themes to explain the ways in which the social studies curriculum is a colonial artefact which continues to uphold settler colonial narratives, benefiting the colonizer by maintaining systems of power. A description of how I arrived at these themes appears later in the chapter. The themes that emerged from my analysis were:

1) othering, specifically of Indigenous perspectives and epistemologies;

2) settler futurity, and its implications within the curricular text

3) prairie settler colonialism, and its specific characteristics within the Manitoba context;

4) the justification of colonization; and

5) *the respectful citizen*, in which aspects of the "kind/polite Canadian," as well as the implications of multiculturalism within Canada, are explored.

In arriving at these themes, I conducted an analysis which involved a line-by-line coding process which allowed me to categorize each specific learning outcome (SLO). I also carefully documented my observations in an analysis journal that allowed me to understand the patterns of language and the ways in which the document upholds settler colonial narratives, cognitive imperialism, and Western ways of thinking. Below I will describe and define each theme to illustrate the analytical framework which was developed during my analysis.

Othering

To "other" a group of people or a person is to create a dichotomy of "us versus them" within a social construct or through a historical narrative. The concept of "we/us" is constructed through a dominant narrative, which are also constructed by those deemed "we/us." Cutrara (2020) describes the concept of the dominant narrative within curricular texts, labelling it as "a grand narrative;" a hollowed-out version of complex stories that do not explore "the power and privilege embedded in the past" (p. 23). Cutrara (2020), drawing on Derrida (1978), argues that text, including those used within history and social studies classrooms have "many voices, voices that are acknowledged, validated, and amplified and voices that are excluded, disavowed, and actively silenced" (p. 23). The "we/us" is a dominant narrative, which consequently perpetuates the notion of othering through the construct of "them." This construct is woven within the perspectives of curricular texts and is perpetuated by racism. Racism, as discussed by Battiste (2013), is also a social construct. She states:

Race is not something that resides in the blood or genes of a group of people as characterized in biology. It has no biological source, like the colour of the eyes. Race is created in the social attitudes and beliefs of society. (p. 131)

Therefore, the social construct of race "remains the theory, while intolerance, prejudice, and discrimination remain its integral practice" (Battiste, 2013, p. 132). When a group of people are "othered," racism is able to thrive, and dominant narratives are maintained.

The "us versus them" dynamic of othering is significant in understanding Canada's complex relationship with "diversity." As Cutrara (2020) points out:

Celebrating food and festivals may occur on an international stage, but many non-Indigenous Canadians are uncomfortable engaging in First Nations, Métis, and Inuit cultures on an individual level. Canadian colonial history is fraught with so much discomfort and silence that Indigenous and non-Indigenous Canadians have no shared understanding for reconciling and speaking through the violence of the past. Many Canadians still see Indigenous peoples as the shadowy Others on the edges of terra nullius, with federal governments modelling discomfort by failing to embrace colonial history in all its messy complexity. (p. 48)

As an example, the curriculum describes Canada as a "prosperous, peaceful and democratic country" (p. 9), while at the same time ignoring ongoing acts of violence through colonization. Therefore, the curriculum *others* Indigenous peoples and actively silences Indigenous perspectives. Othering perpetuates the dominant narrative that Canada is a wonderful place for everyone to live, with equal opportunity for all. The perspective that Canada is built on a system of racism which has and continues to treat people unfairly is not seen as legitimate, is not given equal value, and is dismissed as being a "minority grievance," a term coined by former University of Winnipeg President, Lloyd Axworthy while referring to alternative perspectives in approaching Canada Day celebrations (Rollason, 2022).

Settler Futurity

In exploring settler futurity within the social studies curriculum, I drew on Tuck and Gaztambide-Fernández's (2013) definition, which is a key element of prairie settler colonialism. Tuck and Gaztambide-Fernández state that settler futurity is "ensured through an understanding of Native-European relations as a thing of the past, and the inclusion of Native history as past upon which a white future is ensured" (p. 79). Tuck and Gaztambide-Fernández (2013) describe settler colonialism's overarching intent as the erasure of Indigenous peoples which happens through "commonplace tendency of appropriation and commercialization of Indigeneity, but also specifically, through the removal of Indigenous bodies and the occupation of tracts of land by

settler bodies" (p. 79). That is, for settler futurity to thrive and be maintained, Indigenous perspectives, historical narratives, and physical spaces must be expunged.

Settler futurity ensures the existence of settler narratives through the telling and retelling of historical stories, using a settler lens, and through the ways in which settlers are perceived through texts as persevering to "build a nation." By using a postcolonial lens, settler futurity is a significant feature in understanding the ways in which colonized peoples continue to be impacted by colonialism in the present day. Tuck and Gorlewski (2016) explain the implication of settler futurity on the modern-day school system, stating, "White, primarily middle-class norms of language and culture, are consistently privileged in institutions of public education, regardless of the presence of teachers and students of colour" (p. 200). They continue, "Curriculum, like policy, is socially constructed, and unless interrupted, schooling works to reinforce existing power relations" (p. 203). Therefore, curricular texts provide space for dominant, white, settler narratives to be upheld through the systematic erasure of Indigenous voices and stories, which ultimately promote settler futurity as a structural norm. In looking at the ways in which the curriculum endorses settler futurity, I drew specific attention to the language used in describing settler achievements, such as "nation building" and the hardships that settlers overcame, which position the narrative of settler futurity as one that benefitted and continues to benefit Canadian nationhood.

Prairie Settler Colonialism

Prairie settler colonialism is tied closely to – and overlaps with - settler futurity, and embodies specific characteristics within the prairie provinces of Canada, including Manitoba, as well as its capital city, Winnipeg. Prairie settler colonialism embodies a "mutually supportive relationship between neoliberalism and settler colonialism" (Toews, 2018, p. 17) where specific land and property opportunities are prioritized through racial capitalist endeavours. Toews (2018) explains:

As Winnipeg's past and present demonstrate, racist thinking is used to excuse capitalist inequality in many different ways, from straight-up vilification of oppressed groups to more cunning ways of feeling that promote the sense that oppressed groups, perhaps through no fault of their own, are not quite ready to enjoy self-determination or a humane standard of living. (p. 18)

49

Prairie settler colonialism and racial capitalism are closely tied to the notion of property and land rights, which enables settler futurity. The Manitoba Social Studies Curriculum (2003) discusses property rights through a settler colonial and patriarchal lens, through the language of "rights" and "respect" whilst ignoring Indigenous epistemologies and Treaty agreements. This underscores the disconnect between Indigenous peoples and settlers and sets the stage for colonization to be an ongoing event. Anishinabe scholar, Aimée Craft (2013) explains that in Anishinabe culture, land and property is not owned, rather, we, as humans, "are made of it" (p. 94). Craft explains:

The Anishinabe dependence on the land and reverence for *Nimaamaa Aki* (Mother Earth) affected how they understood their responsibilities to the land and their ability to enter into negotiations about it with outsiders. The Anishinabe were bound by obligations of care toward the land, thanksgiving to the land for its bounty, and understanding that the Creator had assigned individuals to the land. They were created of the land and belonged to it. (p. 95)

Prairie settler colonialism, therefore, normalizes property ownership as an inherent right of the white settler. This concept was put under the microscope during the 2016 trial of Gerald Stanley,

a farmer, who shot dead Colten Boushie, a 22-year-old Indigenous Cree, for driving on to the Saskatchewan farm in search for assistance with a flat tire (Starblanket & Hunt, 2020). Stanley was acquitted. The trial, steeped in racism, portrayed Stanley "as a human being [...] but it felt like throughout the entire proceedings, despite being the victim, Colten was not allowed to be seen as a human being" (Starblanket & Hunt, 2020, p. 11). This is one example of the ways in which prairie settler colonialism is tied to racial capitalism.

Moreover, the prairies have a deeply rooted history of over-criminalizing Indigenous peoples, a practice which continues today. Comack (2019) explains:

Historically, the North-West Mounted Police (NWMP) played a key part in creating a white settler society. In contemporary times, this role is nowhere more evident than in the policing of the racialized spaces of inner-city communities on the Canadian Prairies. (p. 175)

Prairie settler colonialism also embodies extractivist thinking. Extractivism, which is the extracting of natural materials from the Earth for the purpose of economic gain, also has racial foundations. Preston (2017) explains:

Land use and European liberal ideologies of property not only motivated the "resourcification" of Indigenous territories then and now, but also informed the racialization of Indigenous peoples as wasteful, lazy and unable to be productive in the economy or in white settler society more generally. (p. 358)

In creating this dominant narrative, extractivism ensures "white access to land, cheap labour and capital change over time and in relation to regional politics and histories, the systemic channelling of assets to 'exalted subjects' of white settler states remains uninterrupted" (Preston, 2017, p. 360).

While "settler colonialism is distinguished by the fact that the colonizing force does not leave but rather seeks to replace Indigenous society with settler colonial society," (Dorries, 2019, p. 27), prairie settler colonialism is defined by the aspects of racial capitalism to ensure settler futurity. It also promotes extractivism of the land whilst over-criminalizing Indigenous peoples on the land that has been made property of the settlers.

Justification of Colonization

In understanding the ways in which colonialization is justified within the curricular texts

(2003), I drew on Rowe and Tuck's (2017) definition of settler colonialism, which reads:

[Settler colonialism is] the pursuit of land, not just labour or resources. Settler colonialism is a persistent societal structure, not just an historical event or origin story for a nation-sate. Settler colonialism has meant genocide of Indigenous peoples, [and] the reconfiguring of Indigenous land into settler property. (p. 4)

Through a white-settler lens, colonization is justified through the stories of settler struggles and the necessity of their migration, from undemocratic nations to land that needed to be developed to ensure a "better, brighter future." Through the justification of colonization, stories of Indigenous governance and systems are ignored, and *terra nullius* (land belonging to "no one") is evoked. By justifying colonization, racism is endorsed, and Indigenous peoples are positioned as "uncivilized" or "in need of education." Battiste (2013) addresses this notion within Canada by arguing:

First Nations humanities are not synonymous with ethnic and class elitism, although they have been associated with versions of "barbarian" or savage in order to authenticate and privilege Eurocentrism. By this characterization – and its pseudo-civilizing mission – First Nations humanities seem a contradiction in terms. By this categorization, too, the

socially contrived primitive or uncivilized Indigene could not credibly lay claim to such knowledge in earlier centuries, and they may only do so now via imitation and assimilation because of the continuing misguided perception that there is no such thing as

Indigenous knowledge and nothing to be learned from Indigenous peoples. (p. 114-115) In justifying colonization, settler colonialism is seen as an act that is necessary for a nation's progress. In the case of Canada, colonization is justified as it is seen as achieving democracy and multiculturalism. However, "it has racialized Aboriginal peoples' identity, marginalized and delegitimated their knowledge and languages, and exploited their powerlessness in taking their lands" (Battiste, 2013, p. 106).

An example of the way in which the social studies curriculum justifies colonization occurs when it asks students to "appreciate the achievements of previous generations whose efforts contributed to the building of Canada" (p. 3). In doing so, students learn that colonization was necessary in "building" the country of Canada to achieve "democracy, including social justice, federalism, bilingualism, and pluralism" (p. 3). Applying a postcolonial lens to the curriculum (2003) allowed me to demonstrate the ways in which colonization functions as an ongoing system and is justified through the stories within the texts, as well as the topics that are presented to students that look at the ways in which colonization has been justified within Canada and in other places around the world.

The Respectful Citizen

A well-known Canadian stereotype proclaims Canadian citizens to be kind, inclusive, and polite. Canadian curricular texts boast a thriving democracy that was built upon a pillar of multiculturalism and pluralism (Manitoba Social Studies Curriculum Framework of Outcomes, 2003, p. 3). Spina's (2018) thesis, which challenges the making of the "global citizen" in Ontario's social studies curriculum using a postcolonial lens, deconstructs the notion of the respectful, global citizen and reframes it as a project of imperialism. Spina, who draws on Gorman (2006) and Hall (2002) states that:

Postcolonial theory points to the continuity of the identity of the citizen in imperial times and in the current "globalized" world that defines settler societies such as Canada. In the globalization discourse, the lives and identity of citizens have become more cosmopolitan. But a cosmopolitan ideal was at the core of the imperial project as well. "Imperial citizenship," although not a legal status, was one of the most important identities in settler societies. If empire built a sense of community among settler nations, it had, therefore, a cosmopolitan edge, based on internationalist and humanitarian principles. It gave settlers across the globe a transnational identity and a sense of community with an origin and a future goal – that of establishing the liberal capitalist order and the liberal peace around the globe. (p. 7)

In establishing an imperial, cosmopolitan identity, Canada envisions itself as a beacon of democracy, imposing itself on the global stage as an example of an ethical nation-state with a moral compass that other, "less-developed" countries must look to for inspiration. Spina (2018) points to the theory of ethical liberalism in establishing this Canadian identity. She refers to Manzer's (1994) definition of ethical liberalism as:

A society founded on the principle of universal human development, in which all persons have equal opportunities to develop fully their special abilities and participate

freely in the political, economic, social, and cultural life of their community. (p. 32) Canadian curricular texts promote national identity as ethically liberal, respectful, peaceful, multicultural and tolerant, with equitable opportunity for all. However, Cutrara (2020) points out that this notion shields students from exploring "how colonial practices and legislation, exploitative labour policies for immigrants, and restrictive rules related to migration and cultural expression have been built into Canadian law and society" (p. 21), and furthermore, the ways in which colonization has created deep racial disparities within Canada's culture, undermining the façade that Canada's citizenship is tolerant, respectful and open-minded towards diversity. As Nabavi (2010) points, out, "in Canada, citizenship education is closely connected with multiculturalism" (p. 4). However:

a combination of factors including the relationships between the multiculturalism policy and the conceptually progressive yet practically disjoined and patch-work approach to citizenship education has led citizenship theorists to the conclusion that development and implementation of citizenship education in Canada is cause for concern and arguably in a state of crisis. (Sears & Hughes, 2006, in Nabavi, p. 5)

Nabavi (2010) argues that citizenship education in Canada is used as a tool to instil nationalism, while attempting to "cover up neoliberal policies and programs" that "strengthen the concept of nation rather than the individuals who are members of the nation" (p. 5-6).

I drew on Spina's (2018) understanding of the ways in which citizenship education in Canada connects its identity to the theory of ethical liberalism, as well as Nabavi's (2010) notion that citizenship education is used to promote Canadian nationalism, to understand the concept of the respectful citizen and how it manifests in the curricular text. I also connected Cutrara's (2020) notion that Canadian citizenship education ignores systematic racism and structural marginalization which continues to disadvantage specific populations within Canadian society, through the act of ongoing colonialism. As an example, the curriculum (2003) lists "active democratic citizenship" as tied closely to behaviour, through a Western lens. The curriculum (2003) states, "active democratic citizenship does not apply solely within the confines of the classroom: certain social studies outcomes refer to student behaviour in groups and communities beyond the school" (p. 7). Therefore, the curriculum (2003) promotes good citizenship as following rules, being respectful and living up to the stereotype of the polite and kind Canadian.

Data Collection and Analysis

In this section I will outline how I collected data from the *Kindergarten to Grade 8 Social Studies Manitoba Curriculum Framework of Outcomes* (2003) to analyze the ways in which the document upholds settler colonial perspectives as well as Western ways of thinking. This section will explain in detail the process of my analyses and the tools that I used to complete it. However, I will begin by providing readers an opportunity to understand the structure of the curricular text.

Document Structure Outline

To understand the way in which the *Kindergarten to Grade 8 Social Studies Manitoba Curriculum Framework of Outcomes* (2003) document is structured, I have provided an outline below. The document was created in 2003 by Manitoba Education and Youth, under the auspices of the Government of Manitoba, represented by the Minister of Education. The document is 150 pages in length and the structure is as follows:

- Acknowledgements (p. iii-vi): Description of personnel involved in the document's creation.
- 2. Table of Contents (p. vii-ix).
- Introduction (p. 1-2): A brief explanation about the document's purpose, background and content.

- 4. Overview (p. 3-7): An explanation that discusses how teachers and students should use the document and the roles teachers and students play within a social studies classroom as well as the general goals of social studies as a subject area.
- 5. Citizenship As a Core Concept in Social Studies (p. 9-10): A brief explanation that underlines the importance of citizenship to the framework.
- General Learning Outcomes (p. 11-13): Six outcomes that influenced the specific learning outcomes for each grade level.
 - a. Identity, Culture and Community
 - b. The Land: Places and People
 - c. Historical Connections
 - d. Global Interdependence
 - e. Power and Authority
 - f. Economics and Resources
- Social Studies Skills (p.15): An overview of four categories that influenced specific skills for each grade level.
 - a. Skills for Active Democratic Citizenship
 - b. Skills for Managing Ideas and Information
 - c. Critical and Creative Thinking Skills
 - d. Communication Skills
- Framework Components and Structure (p. 17-19): An explanation of the document's key components as well as its structure. Includes a guide to reading the learning outcome codes.

- 9. Social Studies skill categories and cluster tiles (p. 20): A chart that outlines the broad goals of the four "skill" areas identified.
 - a. Active Democratic Citizenship
 - b. Managing Information and Ideas
 - c. Critical and Creative Thinking
 - d. Communication
- 10. Guide to Reading the Learning Outcome Code (p. 21-22): An explanation of the learning outcome numerical system.
- Student learning outcomes (p. 26-115): The grade-levelled specific learning outcomes.
- 12. Cumulative skills charts (p. 121-127): An overview of the skills and values as defined by the curricular document (2003) which include the categories: "Active Democratic Citizenship," "Managing Information and Ideas," "Critical and Creative Thinking," and "Communication."
- 13. Glossary (p. 141-143): Identification of what the writers highlighted as key terms and the ways in which they were defined.
- 14. Bibliography (p. 147-150): resources and scholarly citations that influenced the document's content and epistemologies.

Except for the table of contents, I analyzed each section to better understand the framework, beginning with who was involved in the curriculum writing process; the discourses, implications and omissions of each grade level through the use of language within each outcome as well as the specific terms that were highlighted and defined in the glossary. I also analyzed the bibliography, which ultimately is a reflection of the curriculum writers' influences, thereby inferring their perspectives and values.

Process of Analysis

Through multiple readings and subsequent analysis of the curricular text, I used the theoretical framework of postcolonialism and the five specific themes (othering, settler futurity, prairie settler colonialism, the justification of colonization, and the respectful citizen) to analyze and document the ways in which the document upholds, endorses, and legitimizes colonial narratives while delegitimizing Indigenous peoples, histories, and perspectives through omission. First, I read the entire document with the purpose of a content overview and highlighted the areas that stood out to me with the specific themes in mind. I documented these themes in my analysis journal by recording the specific sections that these discourses were present. During the second reading of the document, I looked specifically at the learning outcomes that dealt with Indigenous content. During this reading, I also documented my observations in my analysis journal and noticed the ways in which the language "others" and delegitimizes Indigenous perspectives and looked at the specific ways the document frames Indigenous peoples in relation to citizenship as well as settler stories. In the third reading, I analyzed the text to consider omissions that further minimize and delegitimize Indigenous content throughout the document. In a fourth reading of the document, I engaged in line-by-line coding, by assigning a particular label (code) to each specific learning outcome (SLO) which concisely summated the idea of the individual SLO. The codes allowed me to form the four major themes that informed the analytical framework. After which, I transferred the codes on to a grade specific chart (Appendix A), which allowed me to visualize the data and solidified the overarching narratives that are

present within the document. From there, I was able to zero in on outcomes that underline the themes from my analytical framework.

In addition to coding each SLO, I also analyzed the *Acknowledgements* section of the document (p. iii–vi), the *Introduction* (p. 1-22), the *Glossary* (p. 141-143), and the "Bibliography" (p. 147-149). In doing so, I was able further analyze the context and influences behind the framework (2003). Rogers (2011) explains, "Meanings are always embedded within social, historical, political and ideological contexts and, meanings are motivated [...], and thus the ways in which meanings get chained together have consequences for privilege, status, the distribution of resources, and solidarity" (p. 5). Therefore, I aim to explain the discourses of the language within the curriculum document, including their implications on society, structure, and education, and will then illustrate the connections between language, power, and ideology.

The purpose of the analysis journal was to keep track of the different phenomena I explored through multiple readings of the curricular document and to keep track of the specific discourses related to the themes in my analytical framework. Throughout these readings, the analysis journal assisted me in organizing my thinking and creating tools, such as the SLO codes chart to understand underlying goals and narratives more clearly within the text. Through a reiterative process of line-by-line coding, and reading text, I generated the five specific themes: othering, settler futurity, prairie settler colonialism, the justification of colonization, and the respectful citizen. The analysis journal also allowed me to document and organize my thinking in a way that provided clarity in understanding my next steps.

As I began to investigate the content areas of the document, I started to realize specific structural elements that influenced the ways in which I approached subsequent readings. For example, I quickly realized that within grade-level content area existed specific learning

59

outcomes (SLOs) exclusively "made for" Aboriginal students and teachers, seemingly those who live and work in First Nations-controlled communities outside of urban centres. These separate SLOs are titled, "Distinctive Learning Outcomes" (DLOs). Looking directly at the DLOs lead me to focus on omissions within the text and to uncover the ways in which the document maintains prairie settler narratives and us/them ideologies. As I was coding the SLOs, I noticed patterns in language and the ways in which the document upholds prairie settler narratives, as well as how it privileges Western ways of thinking. Through these patterns, I was able to determine the specific dominant narratives that permeate the text as well as generate its five specific themes, which I will explain more fully in the next chapter.

Findings and Analysis: Discourses of Settler Colonialism

This chapter will detail my findings and explain the ways in which the Manitoba K-8 Social Studies Framework of Outcomes (2003) document endorses, upholds, and legitimizes colonial narratives while simultaneously delegitimizing Indigenous perspectives. To guide my explanation, I have used Fairclough's (2015) three-tiered approach to Critical Discourse Analysis (CDA), which involves describing, interpreting, and explaining. Therefore, I will begin by *describing* the text through an exploration of the context through a critical reading that explores the political influence of the document's curricular content and structure. This critical reading uncovers the tone of the curricular document as well as puts into context the political environment that existed when the document was written. Next, I will interpret the discourses that exist within the text, by expanding further on the five themes developed through my analytical framework (i.e., othering, settler futurity, prairie settler colonialism, the justification of colonization, and the respectful citizen). Finally, I will use my research questions to explain the ways in which the document endorses and upholds colonial perspectives. My analysis will begin the first sections of the curriculum, including the Acknowledgements and Introduction sections (p. iii-2), which communicate the political and contextual influences that shaped the document.

I will begin by addressing the "front and back matter" of the document which includes the *Acknowledgements* and *Introduction* sections (p. iii-2), the *Overview* section (p. 3-7), the *Citizen as a Core Concept in Social Studies* section (p. 9-10), the *General Learning Outcomes* (p. 11-13), as well as the *Glossary* (p. 141-143), and the *Bibliography* (p. 147-149). For these sections, I have provided a critical reading to look closely at the tone, inspiration behind, and vision of the curricular document, and to contextualize the reasons that the grade-levelled specific learning outcomes were written with certain perspectives, stories, and narratives at the

61

forefront. The critical reading will provide an examination of *who* was included in the document's creation, which then gives context to *why* the document privileges specific narratives, as well as *what* the overall intention of the specific learning outcomes are. The critical reading examines the document's structure and purpose, while weaving in the five specific themes that were included in the analytical framework as a basis for my analysis of the specific learning outcomes. This follows Fairclough's (2015) approach to critical discourse analysis, as he emphasizes the importance of highlighting the structure of the text in question as well as "the relationship between *texts, interactions,* and *contexts*" (p. 58). Fairclough continues, "What one "sees" in a text, what one regards as worth describing, and what one chooses to emphasize in a description, are all dependent on how one interprets a text" (p. 59). With Fairclough's process in mind, I felt it important to provide a critical reading of the document's introductory section as well as its references and definitions to lay the groundwork and to provide context for the thematic analysis of the specific learning outcomes.

Acknowledgements and Introduction: Who is (not) included?

In the first section of the curriculum is the *Acknowledgements* section which is organized into the teams and committees of advisors and curriculum writers. There are 25 Kindergarten to grade twelve representatives on the "Framework Development Team" from school divisions across Manitoba as well as five academic advisors from Manitoba's universities and a "Steering Committee" of 14 additional representatives from Manitoba school divisions. Also listed is a Cultural Advisory Team, comprised of 15 cultural representatives by name from across the province representing various multicultural institutions such as the Winnipeg Chinese Cultural Centre, Manitoba Teachers of German, Manitoba Multicultural Resource Centre, Manitoba Teachers of Ukrainian, B'nai Brith Canada, and Black Educators Association of Manitoba, to name a few. Although many cultural groups are represented, there appears to be no representation from Indigenous organizations on the "Cultural Advisory Team" (p. v). Also missing is any explicit representation on these teams and committees from leadership from First Nations communities or the Manitoba First Nations Education Resource Centre (MFNERC), an organization which provides leadership in supporting First Nations schools, curriculum, language and cultural practices in educational settings. Included in the "Academic Advisors" (p. iv) section is Robin Brownlie, Professor in the History Department at the University of Manitoba, who has published works which discuss decolonization and broken treaties from a historical perspective. Now identifying as Jarvis Brownlie, he is a settler Canadian who has written extensively on colonialism within Canada, including injustices to Indigenous populations, such as land rights, exploitation, and lack of representation within academia. Although Dr. Brownlie is well-versed in Indigenous history and postcolonial perspectives within Canada, there are no individuals listed who are affiliated with specific Indigenous organizations or groups listed within the *Acknowledgements* section.

Separately from the *Acknowledgements*, the *Introduction* section mentions involvement from "Aboriginal Teachers and Consultants" (p. 1) but does not indicate who specifically was involved by name, nor does it explain the capacity of that involvement included. Mentioned later within the *Introduction* section is a brief explanation:

The Framework was reviewed by the Manitoba First Nations Education Resource Centre and the Manitoba Métis Federation. The Framework was also reviewed by a Cultural Advisory Team, including representatives of ethnocultural communities and groups in Manitoba, and the Social Studies Steering Committee, consisting of representatives from Manitoba educational organizations. (p. 1) By mentioning Indigenous partnership separately and not within the *Acknowledgements* section indicates the process was not conducted in a collaborative or meaningful way. Therefore, Indigenous perspectives are "re-positioned into the margins of knowledge and curriculum" which speaks to a "distrust of Indigenous knowledge systems [...] and affirms how the false assumption of settler superiority positioned Aboriginal students as inherently inferior" (Battiste, 2013, p. 24-26). The first few pages of the curricular text, therefore, physically positions whose perspectives and included and valued and whose were omitted and delegitimized.

Background: Political Context and Influence

In the 1990s, Manitoba was led by the Progressive Conservative party and the Premier at the time was Gary Filmon. In 1992, the Minister of Education was Rosemary Vodrey, and in 1993, the education portfolio was overtaken by Clayton Manness. Throughout the 1990s, Gary Filmon's government was responsible for a systematic educational review which eventually involved the amalgamation of several school divisions within Manitoba. During the 1990s, Manitoba saw funding cuts to the public sector and policies which came to be known as "Filmon Fridays," which mandated reductions in work weeks and pay (Greenslade, 2017). In an alternative budget, written by the Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives in 2001, equity issues faced throughout the 1990s by the Filmon government are highlighted:

Over the past decade, a set of interconnected ideas has risen to the point of overwhelming influence. For example, the idea that government debt is too high and we have to pay it off at all costs; that the debt was caused by spending on social programs; that income taxes are simply bad. This set of ideas found a safe home in Manitoba under the Gary Filmon government. (p. 2)

Therefore, when this curriculum was created, neoliberal ideals under the Filmon government of the 1990s were used in the justification which called for educational reform. In the context of current educational reform efforts in Manitoba, similar language and tactics are being used by the conservative Pallister/Stefanson government, for example, through the government's efforts to "improve student outcomes," "develop a stronger sense of accountability," and to develop a "sustainable fiscal framework" (Government of Manitoba, n.d.).

In another analysis, examining the educational reforms within Manitoba in the 1990s, Young and Graham (2000) explain the ways in which the educational review's proposed revolutions lacked substantiated reasons for the changes:

A striking feature of the Manitoba reform documents is the lack of ideological justifications for the substantial changes that they called for. Nevertheless, the central theme of these documents is that the school system generally is not adequately meeting the challenge of graduating students ready to take on the requirements of citizenship in the twenty-first century, in particular, the academic competencies deemed necessary for the province's and for the nation's economic well-being. Without a discussion of which students are underachieving and with no clear statement on the significance of issues such as race, culture, class, and gender to school achievement or to the competing visions of what qualities might in fact be deemed appropriate for successful citizenship, these shortcomings of the public school system were seen as stemming primarily from: a lack of uniformly applied definition of basic education/essential learning; a lack of rigour and relevance within the existing curriculum; and a lack of accountability within the system for student achievement. (p. 145)

This is another example that highlights the motivations for educational reform which are being used by Manitoba's current government with little ideological justifications or direction other than cost-cutting measures to the public sector, creating a crisis in public education.

As Manitoba currently finds itself within another period of calls for educational reform as illustrated through the now retracted *Bill 64: The Education Modernization Act* (2021) and the remaining *Better Education Starts Today* (2021) document, it is impossible to notice the strikingly similar rhetoric that began with the election of the Progressive Conservative government in 2017 under the leadership of Brian Pallister. Similar calls for decreases of spending for public services, cuts to education, and the threat of the return of policies such as "Filmon Fridays" (Greenslade, 2017) as well as an educational review occurred swiftly after the Pallister majority win in 2017. Following the re-election of the Progressive Conservative government, the Manitoba Commission on Kindergarten to Grade Twelve Education was formed in January of 2019. The chair of the commission was named as Clayton Manness, former Minister of Education during the Filmon era (Government of Manitoba, n.d.). The commission's mandate stated:

The Commission will carry out an independent review of the K-12 education system to improve outcomes for students, ensure long-term sustainability and enhance public confidence. The Commission will:

- propose a renewed vision for K-12 education.
- make bold recommendations to ignite change within existing systems, structures and programs which inspire excellence in teaching and learning;

• consider the continuum of early learning, post-secondary education and labour market needs as part of an integrated lifelong learning approach.

The review will be informed through extensive and transparent public consultations, supported by research and best practices. The Commission will seek the input of students, parents, educators, school boards, academics, Indigenous organizations, *la francophonie*, municipal councils, professional organizations, the business community and members of the public. (Government of Manitoba, n.d.)

Despite conducting public forums, surveys, and a report that included initiatives to increase student equity within Manitoba (Report of the Commission on K to 12 Education, 2020), legislation was introduced entitled Bill 64: The Education Modernization Act, which largely ignored many commission recommendations and prompted widespread community backlash. Among the backlash was a statement from one of the appointed commissioners who called the Manitoba government's decisions "a bit of a mystery" (Macintosh, 2021). The pervasive criticism ultimately ended in the bill's demise when it was removed in October of 2021 (Bergen, 2021). Therefore, similarly to the political influence in the 1990s, present day Manitoba's proposed reforms proved unpopular for numerous reasons, including that some felt they were aimed at centralizing and defunding the public sector without focusing on initiatives that would address child poverty or change the systems that fundamentally disadvantage specific populations. As Young and Graham (2000) argue, Clayton Manness' 1994 reforms were not ideologically justified (p. 145). Therefore, echoes of a similar rhetoric emerged in my analysis of the Background section of the curriculum to today's calls for curriculum reform. This indicates that Manitoba is headed down a path towards upholding and maintaining the status quo which

benefits and legitimizes specific (white) perspectives while at the same time delegitimizes Indigenous perspectives within the curriculum, as well as infuses neoliberal ideals into the curricular text, and ultimately, into classrooms.

This brief historical recounting illustrates that education policy, including the creation of curriculum, is inherently political. Determining whose motivations, opinions or ideas become a priority in the classroom can also be partisan. Battiste (2005) points out that there are political benefits when educational institutions classify decolonization and Indigenous knowledge as priorities, however, until postcolonial frameworks are introduced into the curriculum, achieving these goals are not possible (Battiste, 2005, p. 224). Therefore, it is important for educators and community members to understand that teaching is an inherently political act, and that learning from the past creates opportunity for mistakes to not be repeated as well as the prospect of a better future.

The Overview

The *Overview* section (p. 3-7) of the social studies curriculum defines social studies as, "the study of people in relation to each other and to the world in which they live" (p. 3). In its *Vision Statement*, the document underlines its intentions to be inclusive of many diverse voices of the past and present including Aboriginal, Francophone, and other diverse cultural perspectives (p. 3). Included in the *Goals of Social Studies* paragraph, these topics are highlighted: 1) *Canada* 2) *The World* 3) *The Environment* 4) *Democracy*, and 5) *General Skills and Competencies*. Each of these themes and their corresponding goals are then discussed briefly in the *Overview* section and outline the document's goals. The overview sets the tone for the document and highlights the specific topics and themes that will be explored within the gradelevelled specific learning outcomes. I have summarised each topic that is outlined within the overview and provided a short analysis of each below.

1) Canada

The intentions of this topic are to have students learn about Canadian history and geography; to "appreciate the achievements of previous generations whose efforts contributed to the building of Canada" (p. 3); as well as to understand the Canadian political system, the responsibilities of Canadian citizens, and the importance of Canadian democracy, bilingualism, and community that contribute to the sense of belonging within Canada (p. 3). This topic endorses and justifies the maintenance of Canadian colonial structures by stating that the "building of Canada" (p. 3) was undertaken by European settlers who eventually created the political system that Canada follows today. The use of the verb "building" suggests that before settlers arrived in Canada, structures and systems were non-existent. However, as illustrated by Aimée Craft (2013), "Prior to the arrival of Europeans on Turtle Island, the Anishinabe had longstanding diplomatic relationships among different groups (or tribes) within their nation" (p. 23). Therefore, there were already existent agreements, treaties, and relationships between the Indigenous communities on Turtle Island. These systems that were in place prior to European arrival, are overlooked and not discussed within the curriculum document. Also highlighted is also the importance of bilingualism, namely, English, and French as Canada's official languages, which reflects the languages of the colonizing nations of Canada and the primacy of these languages in Canadian historic and contemporary culture. The document omits recognizing Indigenous languages or other communications systems that were in use and had been established pre-European contact.

The stated intention of this topic is to enable learners to understand world history and geography and to develop an awareness of global events, as well as an appreciation of the world's peoples and cultures. This topic also suggests students will become aware of human rights issues around the world and develop a "commitment to social justice and quality of life for all the world's peoples" (p. 4). This section asks students to "examine global issues" (p. 4) implying that students should look outside of Canada to understand issues of human rights. Another goal asks students to "respect the world's peoples and cultures through a commitment to human rights, equity, and the dignity of all persons" (p. 4). However, in learning about human rights violations in places on a global scale, the curriculum minimizes the atrocities that have been committed within Canada through the Indian Act, such as the Residential Schools and the Sixties Scoop, which continues to impact families today. It also omits ongoing poverty concerns within Manitoba and Canada. By ignoring the injustices and inequities that people within Manitoba and Canada face, the curriculum upholds the perspective that Canada is a country free from human rights injustices, and that these violations only occur in the "global other." This approach that the curriculum takes is what Samantha Cutrara (2020) describes as a "Canada-first knowledge package designed to prevent greater complexity from entering the grand narrative" (p. 143), which, as Cutrara points out, prevents white-washed Canadian historical events from being challenged by diverse perspectives. This also endorses othering by highlighting human rights violations in non-Westernized countries, which, promotes the justification of colonization as these countries are then looked upon as needed to be "saved" by Western organizations and/or governments.

3) The Environment

This theme outlines the importance of geographic skills and knowledge. This theme also promises that students will assess the impacts of human life on the environment and the importance of stewardship and sustainability. This paragraph is the shortest of the listed objectives for the purpose of social studies and does not include any notion of Indigenous epistemologies that could contribute to meaningful learning about environmental stewardship and respect for the Earth. Within this theme is an opportunity to weave in Indigenous knowledge and perspectives and connect learning to topics in science. It also presents an opportunity to look critically at the ways in which Canada is committed to protecting the environment and how the country is reaching or falling short of its goals. Instead, this topic endorses settler futurity by encouraging the maintenance of systems of power by focusing on geography and mapping from a post-contact perspective, and by looking at the environment as resources to be used rather than preserved. This maintains settler futurity as it upholds the belief that the land was in need of development and ignores Indigenous ways of knowing or prior claim to the land.

4) Democracy

The purpose of this theme is to look critically at "history, nature and implications of democracy" (p. 4) and promises that students will look at "alternatives to democracy" (p. 4) to understand the ways in which democracy is important to the history of Canada. This category also promises a close look at the ways in which municipal and federal systems of government work. A goal within this theme is for students to "demonstrate a commitment to democratic ideals and principles" (p. 4). It also encourages students to think of ways in which democracy could be improved in Canada. This concept also asks students to "critically understand the role of various institutions in civil society," (p. 4), suggesting a look at the non-governmental

organizations that have influence over the structures of society within Canada. As Marie Battiste (2013) states, "colonialism as a theory of relationships is embedded in power, voice, and legitimacy" (p 106). Therefore, this concept within the curriculum has the most potential to uncover the governmental and non-governmental structures that hold power in the "imperialistic system of knowledge that is considered the mainstream" (Battiste, 2013, p. 106-107). Instead, however, the specific learning outcomes in the curricular text highlight the ways in which colonial structures of power work within the current Canadian society. Topics such as researching past and present Prime Ministers, the dates that they held power, and their achievements (p. 100-102), are examples of the curriculum's focus within the "democracy" theme. Therefore, this topic upholds the document's definition of a "respectful citizen" by endorsing certain facts, narratives, and stories that all Canadians "should know" rather than challenging students to look critically at these structures or leaders who created systematic inequities that continue to be felt across generations of Indigenous peoples throughout Canada.

5) General Skills and Competencies

The final section of the overview lists several goals to be gained through social studies learning. This section promises that students will become engaged in inquiry and critical thinking and underlines the importance of working collaboratively with others as well as the importance of hearing differing opinions and perspectives. The objective of this section also encourages students to think "historically and geographically" (p. 5) and to develop strong communication skills. Although thinking historically and geographically sounds beneficial, one might ask: *From whose perspective will students be thinking historically? From whose perspectives are we learning about the history of the land?* For example, might Treaty maps be included in the

lessons, or will students simply be learning the history of Confederation from a Eurocentric perspective?

In summation, the goals listed within the document's *Overview* section set the tone for the curricular content. This section gives a rough outline of the overarching "big ideas" that the curriculum will explore. The *Overview* uses a Euro-centric epistemology and lens that sets the stage for the imperialistic specific learning outcomes which are manifested in grade-specific sections. The *Overview* obscures Indigenous knowledge and perspectives and does not include them as topics or themes to be explored.

Citizenship as a Core Concept in Social Studies

The Kindergarten to Grade Eight Social Studies Manitoba Curriculum Framework of Outcomes (2003) identifies citizenship as a core concept in social studies and outlines the role of citizenship, the rationale of citizenship education and touches on the importance of active democratic citizenship in Canada (p. 9). The document endorses specific knowledge that all Canadian citizens "should know," and it is taught through a white lens, offering little opportunity to question the ways in which history is presented. The document states that "citizenship education is fundamental to living in a democratic society" (p. 9) and touches on the important qualities Canadian citizens must possess, such as "knowledge of Canadian history and geography," "involvement in public affairs," and a "commitment to freedom, equality and social justice" (p. 9). This section of the document also addresses Canada's human rights violations, stating: "Throughout much of history, citizenship has been exclusionary, class-based, racist and sexist. In Canada, for instance, First Nations parents were forced to send their children to residential schools in the *interests of citizenship*." (p. 9, italics added). This sentence is the only occurrence where residential schools are mentioned within the entire 150-page document. Instead of the atrocity being addressed within the grade-levelled content pages, it is merely an annotation within the document's "Overview" section (p. 8). Furthermore, it is justified within the document as an "interest of citizenship." This type of minimization is discussed by Battiste (2013) who emphasizes the impact of glossing over atrocities within Canada:

I ask you to imagine for a moment the experience of Aboriginal peoples in Canada. Imagine that for hundreds of years your peoples' most formative achievements and traumas, their daily suffering and pain, the abuse they live through, the terror they live with, are ignored and silenced. Their compelling voices and stories, largely cast in in romance novels or on television in stereotypes for the public, are occasionally brought forward, used to sanction some programmatic innovation, or to support some theory of opposition or resistance and then re-positioned in the margins of knowledge and curriculum. (p. 23)

The fact that Residential Schools are mentioned once throughout the entire document and justified in terms of the "interests of citizenship" speaks to the foundation of colonial perspectives that permeate the document. By justifying residential schools as an "act of citizenship" the document highlights the ways in which Canada's colonial history is one of denial and contradiction. By choosing to focus on Canada's commitment to multiculturalism, but denying motivations behind residential schools, as well as omitting this topic in the grade-levelled specific learning outcomes, the document does not challenge the narrative and myth that Canada is a diverse, inclusive, caring, and accepting nation. However, the document instead pushes the narrative that:

[Canada] is a bilingual and multicultural country committed to pluralism, human rights, and democracy. Canada is regarded as one of the most prosperous, peaceful and democratic countries in the world, although it still has its share of economic and social injustices and inequities (p. 8).

Prioritizing Canadian atrocities as a narrative within the curriculum would also challenge the myth that structural racism does not exist in Canada. Therefore, through the reduction and justification of explaining residential schools in one sentence, it becomes clear that the curriculum's authors wanted to maintain the narrative that glorifies Canada as a multicultural, and racism-free nation. Instead of confronting the history of racism within Canada head-on, the document refuses to engage in these topics in meaningful ways. As a result:

Many Canadians still see Indigenous peoples as the shadowy Others on the edges of terra nullius, with federal governments modelling discomfort by failing to embrace colonial history in all its messy complexity." (Cutrara, 2020, p. 48)

Therefore, the social studies curriculum models the discomfort of Canada's history of racism to teachers and students in Manitoba. By doing so, students are unable to learn the truth behind Canada's colonial structures before pursuing reconciliation.

General Learning Outcomes

The introductory pages of the document also contain a subsection that identifies six general learning outcomes (GLOs) that influence the subject matter of the specific learning outcomes (SLOs) within each grade level (p. 11). GLOs are defined as general topics that students should learn whereas SLOs are the specific facts and particulars students should understand after learning about a topic. In the following section within the overview, a short summary is presented for the purpose of defining each GLO. In what follows, I will identify the general learning outcome and then provide my analysis.

1. Identity culture and community: *Students will explore concepts of identity, culture and community in relation to individuals, societies and nations.*

This general learning outcome addresses the values and beliefs that Canada embraces. Within this outcome, Canadian symbols are highlighted as well as multicultural expression and diversity. The specific learning outcomes in this category are geared towards upholding Canada as a beacon of democracy, diversity, and inclusion. It endorses the "respectful citizen" as one who is open to learning about multiculturalism and diversity. It also posits Canada as a land of opportunity for everyone, regardless of culture or ethnicity. However, this perspective ignores the policies and institutions that have systematically disadvantaged Indigenous peoples such as the *Indian Act*. As Battiste (2013) states, "There is danger in Canada's thinking of itself as a fair and just society" (p. 135). The danger, Battiste explains, is upholding perspective that Canadians, regardless of race or culture, can earn privilege through hard work and perseverance.

2. The Land: Places and People: *Students will explore the dynamic relationships of people with the land, places, and environments.*

This general learning outcome encompasses geography, mapping, and relationships to the land in terms of natural resources and economic gain. The specific learning outcomes in this section are influenced by connections and relationships to the land. The outcomes state that they will consider students' connection to the land and their responsibility and role in environmental

stewardship. However, this section is absent of any SLOs that include Indigenous epistemologies, and instead, maintains settler futurity by endorsing white systems of power and omitting Indigenous claims to land. Instead of digging into a deep understanding of the impacts of human life on Earth, the SLOs in this category focus on the geography of the land as well as the locations of political borders within Canada and around the world. Maps and borders are focused on as illustrated in the grade three (p. 51 & 55), grade four (p.61 & 62), grade five (p. 74 & 79), grade six (p. 86), grade seven (p. 97, 98, & 100) and grade eight (p. 108). These SLOs teach mapping skills, memorization of capital cities as well as political borders, which are the result of political colonial policies. Analyzing this general learning outcome through a postcolonial lens uncovers the document's purpose of maintaining status quo when considering environmental stewardship, as it does not provide opportunities for students to understand the detrimental impacts of an economy-driven, nor does it focus on the complexity of Canadian history that impacted colonial borders and maps. Cutrara (2020) speaks of the complexity of Canadian history as the "multiplicity of experiences in the past and present, taught with instruction that requires students to think about how the world is open to interpretation, not a superficial with a definitive beginning and end" (p. 84). Therefore, by having students think about the land, its places, and its people in a linear way (i.e., with colonial maps and dates, or a focus on geography without context behind environmental issues such as resource exploitation) provides little opportunity to question, interpret, and understand the complexity of Canadian history.

3. Historical Connections: *Students will explore how people, events and ideas of the past shape the present and influence the future.*

This general learning outcome refers to historical and critical thinking and its role in active democratic citizenship. The SLOs in this section aim to focus on chronological events in Canadian history and require students to "appreciate the past, to understand the present, and to live with regard for the future" (p. 12). The focus is on chronological thinking, dates, and events that shaped systems within Canada. The curriculum presents Canadian history through a white, settler lens and teaches students that good Canadian citizens must memorize specific events that justify colonization and promote a settler narrative. As Cutrara (2020) describes, "historical thinking places far too great an emphasis on the discipline of history and far too little on personal explorations of historical narratives" (p. 57). Cutrara describes a shift in the ways in which historical thinking permeated Canadian social studies curriculums in the 1990s and early 2000s. She states that although language such as "critical thinking" and "inquiry" were used to describe aims of new social studies curricula during this time period, texts such as the Atlantic Canada Social Studies Curriculum (1999), lacked emphasis on historical thinking or critical inquiry skills within the overall text. Similar to the Manitoba, the Atlantic Canada social studies curriculum asks students to "gather information and draw conclusions about events from the past" (Cutrara, 2020, p. 56). Considering that the Manitoba curricular text defines critical thinking as "[involving] the use of criteria and evidence to make reasoned judgements" (p. 15), students are taught what Cutrara (2020) describes as a "skills-based disciplinary focus" that is "attractive to provincial governments" who look to instill skills in students that will ultimately drive the economy, furthering a neoliberal agenda (p. 58).

Currently, Manitoba is seeing a shift to an economy-driven performance-based approach to funding universities. This approach, which is a widespread practice for schools of all levels in the United States, is based on a model from Tennessee (Froese, 2022). This tactic, should it be enacted, would require universities to provide data on graduates "ready" to take on the labour market. This would push a skills-based agenda which would undoubtedly trickle into elementary, middle, and senior years curricula, spurring a need to teach "skills" rather than instilling a foundation of critical thinking or reasoning.

4. Global Interdependence: *Students will explore the global interdependence of people, communities, nations, and environments.*

This GLO highlights the ways in which Canada is connected to the wider world, and the influence that Canadian values have abroad. SLOs in this section highlight the global community and the ways in which nations, people, and the economies around the world are fundamentally linked. Specific learning outcomes in this category also highlight the human rights issues of countries around the world and global environmental concerns that are impacting life in other continents.

These SLOs omit any references to human rights issues within Canada and instead points to "Asia, Africa, or Australasia" (p. 20, 96, 97, 103, 107, and 115), as illustrated in SLO 7-KH-030, "Identify historical events that continue to affect a society of Asia, Africa, or Australasia. *Examples: colonization, slavery, wars, disasters*..." (p. 103). Therefore, the document promotes the global other by having students explore issues of colonization, slavery, and human rights atrocities in places other than Canada, whilst promoting stereotypes of those regions that are considered to be "developing" by the Western world, and in need of Western saviours. This GLO others Indigenous perspectives through the omission of human rights violations within Canada.

5. Power and Authority: *Students will explore the processes and structures of power and authority, and their implications for individuals, relationships, communities, and nations.*

This General Learning Outcome encourages students to learn about power dynamics through the examination of political structures as well as systems within community. This GLO is closely tied to the document's definition of citizenship, as the ways in which power is achieved through democracy. The document posits Canadian systems as being fair and equitable and "committed to democracy" (p. 9), but neglect to question the ways in which structures are an advantage to some and pose a disadvantage to others. Manitoba's social studies curriculum defines citizenship skills as "[enabling] students to work in cooperative ways toward achieving common goals, and to collaborate with others for the well-being of their communities" (p. 28) and cites citizenship skills as "consider others' needs when working and playing together;" "interact fairly and respectfully with others;" and, "make decisions that reflect, care, concern, and responsibility for the environment" (p. 28). SLOs within this section include concepts that deal with "political structures and decision making, governance, justice, rules and laws, conflict and conflict resolution" Although this category states an intention to challenge systems of structural and systemic racism, many of the outcomes focus on following rules, obeying authority, and becoming a "responsible citizen," endorsing prairie settler ideology. Examples in the document include describing the importance of the formation of the North West Mounted Police (p. 88) as well as the importance of upholding law and order. (p. 30 & 40). These SLOs also emphasize the importance of working together through cooperation (p. 28). While noble in theory, this approach is discussed by Cutrara (2020) as being "one-dimensional" (p. 5), as it ignores the realities of many students who come to the classroom with diverse perspectives, all impacted by colonialism in different ways. While there is an importance in developing interpersonal skills

within students, the Manitoba curriculum fails to explore citizenship as a complex construct beyond "getting along with others" or following rules. According to the document, a "good citizen" participates in democracy, is agreeable, and follows rules in school and the community without question. These SLOs fail to encourage students to question the systems of power and authority as well as ponder the ways in which democratic systems may be inaccessible to members of society.

6. Economics and Resources: *Students will explore the distribution of resources and wealth in relation to individuals, communities and nations.*

This general learning outcome includes SLOs that teach students about the importance of economy and commerce. Students learn that there are places around the world that do not have a fair distribution of wealth or resources. This upholds the curriculum's narrative that justifies colonization as it compares Canada to other nations and points out deficits such as "access to food, water, shelter, a secure environment, fair and equal treatment..." (p. 55). The SLOs in this category teach students that they are lucky to live within Canada, a wealthy nation that meets the needs of all people. Examples of SLOs from this general outcome category include, "Appreciate the rights afforded by Canadian citizenship;" "Appreciate the importance of immigration in the development of Canada;" "Appreciate the efforts of people living in early Canada to overcome environmental hardships" and, "Appreciate the importance of agriculture in the development of Canada" (p. 89). Within this category of learning outcomes, SLOs that deal with injustices within Canada, such as lack of access to clean drinking water on many First Nations communities, are noticeably absent. By doing so, Indigenous perspectives are omitted and othered.

Instead, the trope of "pulling up one's bootstraps" and working hard will lead to success and economic prosperity are upheld. This trope ignores the institutional racism that has benefited specific communities and disadvantaged others. Battiste (2013) argues that racism "justified policies, practices, and outcomes that Canadians have come to accept as neutral and even just" (p. 130). By ignoring that the foundations of structures in Canada and its policies are rooted in racism and were designed to benefit white populations, the document upholds the notion that all Canadian citizens have equal access to economic gain and comfortable livelihood so long as they work hard for it, discrediting lived experiences of populations who are faced with many barriers in accessing the "ideal" Canadian lifestyle.

The six categories of the overarching GLOs, dictate the grade-specific SLOs that are designed to teach the overall goals of the curriculum document. By reinforcing Canadian stereotypes, ignoring inequitable systems and structures as well as encouraging status quo, it becomes clear that the GLOs aim to protect Canada's image as a multicultural and inclusive society. In doing so, they omit Indigenous epistemologies, injustices within Canadian society as well as discourses that could alter the ways in which students learn about life and political and cultural structures within Manitoba and Canada. These discourses, therefore, continue uphold systems of inequity and racism.

Analyzing the Glossary and Bibliography

There are 29 words or phrases that are defined in the glossary within the Manitoba Kindergarten to Grade Eight Social Studies Curriculum document (2003). Some of these definitions are defined by the curriculum writers while others cite government institutions.

Out of the 29 key terms within the glossary, nine (or approximately 31%) are specifically related to Indigenous terminology. The curriculum (2003) defines "indigenous peoples" as "a term used worldwide to identify the original people of all countries, such as Aboriginal peoples in Canada (p. 142). It is widely acknowledged that the term, "Indigenous Peoples" should be capitalized. Citing the University of Manitoba website, "The argument for capitalization is that the terms, although encompassing a broad range of diverse cultures and nations, should still be treated as comparable to other words referring to nations and cultures such as Canadian and European" (University of Manitoba, 2020).

The term, First Nations, is defined as:

A term that came into common usage in the 1970s to replace the word 'Indian,' which many people found offensive. Although the term First Nation is widely used, no legal definition of it exists. Among its uses, the term 'First Nations peoples' refers to the Indian people in Canada, both Status and non-Status. Many Indian people have also adopted the term 'First Nation' to replace the word 'band' in the name of their community. (p. 141)

The definition is cited as being from Indian and Northern Affairs Canada. Problematically, the description both discourages and normalizes the use of the word 'Indian' within the same sentence. It states that "many people found [Indian] offensive." Not only offensive, the use of that term is also widely acknowledged as outdated and was only attributed due to incorrect origin (Joseph, 2016). Furthermore, the definition in the curriculum document's (2003) glossary defines First Nations as a replacement for 'Indian' but does not offer any context to the meaning behind it, and why it cannot be used interchangeably with the term, Indigenous. The definition also references Status and Non-Status but fails to explain the legality and implications behind those

84

terms. Therefore, the glossary's definition (p. 141) is inadequate in its explanation of First Nations.

The words and phrases that are directly linked to Indigenous terminology cite Indian and Northern Affairs Canada as a resource. The issue that this evokes is that it is a federal department within the colonial parliamentary system of Canada. Therefore, by referencing the federal department, the curriculum relies on a colonial definition of the terms. A more inclusive practice would have been to consult directly with First Nations, Elders, or people within Indigenous communities. Furthermore, these terms could have been integrated more purposefully within the document, including its learning outcomes, so that teachers and students would have a better understanding of specific language and not have to rely on a glossary that uses a colonial lens.

The Manitoba Kindergarten to Grade Eight Social Studies Curriculum Framework's (2003) bibliography (p. 147-149) indicates where the curriculum writers looked to regarding inspiration, pedagogy, and content. "Alberta Learning," is referenced several times, which is the former name of Alberta's curriculum resource portal. Other Canadian references include the Atlantic Provinces Education Foundation, Association Canadienne d'éducation de langue Française, Council of Ministers of Education, Canada, Indian and Northern Affairs Canada, Canadian Council for Geographic Information, Manitoba Education and Training, Northwest Territories Education, Culture and Employment and the Western Canadian Protocol (listed as: Protocole de collaboration concernant l'éducation de base dans l'Ouest canadien). There are two Indigenous references:

- The Grant Council of the Crees (2002), "Who Are the World's Indigenous Peoples?"
- Northwest Territories Education, Culture and Employment:
 - Dene Kede K-6: Education: A Dene Perspective (1993).

- Elementary Social Studies 1-6 (1993).
- Inuuqatigiit: The Curriculum from the Inuit Perspective (1996).
- o Junior Secondary Social Studies 7-9: Draft for Field Validation (1993).

Additional references highlight international influences such as the California Department of Education: *History-Social Science Content Standards for California Public Schools*, National Geographic Society, New Zealand Ministry of Education, the National Center for History in the Schools, *National Standards for History* (Los Angeles, California), and The National Council for Social Studies, *Expectations of Excellence: Curriculum Standards for Social Studies* (Washington, DC).

Important to note is the word, "standards," which appears eight times within the referenced documents, suggesting that the curriculum writers looked to specific models of standardized curricular documents when writing Manitoba's social studies curriculum. Eve Tuck (2014) discusses the ways in which standardized teaching and testing has led to a "relentless pursuit of accountability" (p 324) within the realm of the education system and how these types of neoliberal ideals have led to "an extension of/the most recent iteration of (settler) colonialism" (p. 325).

Additionally, the curriculum writers chose to gather inspiration from authors, most of whom identify as white and male. A list of authors and their accolades can be found in Appendix B. Although the intent to include scholarly authors is beneficial for curriculum creation, one must question the lack of diversity within the authors chosen. I was unable to find any references to BIPOC scholars within the document's bibliography which would have diversified content knowledge as well as pedagogy when the document was initially created. This lost opportunity can explain many of the curriculum's shortcomings, including perspectives from diverse lenses.

This section will contain analysis of the Specific Learning Outcomes (SLOs). SLOs are one or two sentences that appear in the "clusters" (i.e., units of study) for each grade. The SLOs provide teachers with a framework and a perspective for shaping their lessons as well as dictate the content and knowledge that the teacher will communicate to their students. The SLOs encompass the bulk of my critical discourse analysis. In analyzing the SLOs, I relied on my analysis journal for observations while reading the document. From there, I coded the curriculum and transferred the codes on a grade specific chart which can be found in Appendix A. I was then able to identify five central themes that are prevalent throughout the curriculum. Using postcolonial theory, I will illustrate the ways in which the Manitoba socials studies curriculum delegitimizes Indigenous perspectives and privileges European colonial knowledge systems.

Othering

As described in the analytical framework, "othering" constructs a "we/us" dominant narrative, which consequently perpetuates the construct of "them." In doing so, dominant and/or mainstream narratives permeate the curriculum and, ultimately, societal values. Othering systematically delegitimizes perspectives that challenge the narrative of the status quo. The function of "othering" also works to uphold the virtuous narrative of multiculturalism at the expense of Indigenous epistemologies and perspectives.

The "we/us" versus "them" dynamic is significant in understanding Canada's complex relationship with "diversity" as well as "multiculturalism." In describing Canada as a "prosperous, peaceful and democratic country" (p. 9) with "historical roots of [a] multicultural nature" (p. 81), while at the same time ignoring ongoing acts of violence through colonization, the curriculum (2003) others Indigenous peoples and actively silences Indigenous perspectives.

The curriculum repeatedly emphasizes notions that Canada is a beacon of diversity and asks students to "identify historical reasons for bilingual and multicultural policies in Canada" (p. 91).

The curriculum also uses structure to other Indigenous perspectives and content. Specific learning outcomes are designated exclusively for Indigenous students and teachers (called "Distinctive Learning Outcomes"), and they separate specific knowledge within the text. They are found within the SLOs for each grade levels, usually underneath a similar SLO, written for the "general" population. The language of the "regular" SLO in comparison to the "Distinctive Learning Outcome" is altered. Many examples of othering Indigenous perspectives can be found within the pages of the content-level curriculum, particularly with the use of "Distinctive Learning Outcomes" for Indigenous students and teachers. On page 66, two consecutive learning outcomes are listed as follows:

- 4-KI-006: Give examples of diverse artistic and cultural achievements of Manitobans. *Include Aboriginal and francophone cultural achievements*.
- 4-KI-006A: Give examples of Aboriginal artistic and cultural achievements and organizations in Manitoba.

These two outcomes give teachers the same goals, therefore, I question the purpose of creating separate outcomes. If the goal is to research First Nations, Métis, Inuit, and/or francophone cultural achievements, it should be listed as such, without the separation of Indigenous perspectives.

Therefore, the "Distinctive Learning Outcomes" dissuade non-Indigenous teachers from covering the content in their classrooms. The curriculum states that the "Distinctive Learning Outcomes" should be taught within a locally controlled First Nations school, implying that these distinctive learning outcomes were intended for students living or attending schools controlled by First Nations. However, many people who identify as First Nations (or Métis or Inuit) do not live in these areas. According to the Government of Canada, out of 164,289 people who are registered as First Nations in Manitoba, 57.1% live on a reserve (Government of Canada, 2021) which means that a large proportion live in a setting that is not controlled by a First Nation, and likely, urban. Therefore, many schools and classrooms within Manitoba have students who identify as First Nations, Inuit and/or Métis. By stating that, "it is advisable that teachers selected to address the distinctive learning outcomes have a background in Aboriginal culture" (p. 19), non-Indigenous teachers in non-First Nations-controlled schools are encouraged to overlook the outcomes. Furthermore, the social studies document (2003) describes Canada "as a culturally diverse, bilingual and democratic society" (p. 84). The social studies document (2003) uses the word "diversity" on 44 different pages and over 70 times, in contrast to the word "Aboriginal" which is used 28 times in its specific learning outcomes (not including the "distinctive learning outcomes"). Battiste (2013) discusses this form of othering, stating:

Difference marks Indigenous peoples as largely historical and local, but not contemporary and global, and their knowledge systems become minimized to local value. Thus, teachers and institutions can easily ignore Indigenous knowledge, peoples, and histories, rationalizing that there are too few Indigenous students in their class to make any reasonable effort for inclusion, and far more immigrant students whose cultures need to be included. (p. 103)

In marking Indigenous learning outcomes as "distinct" (or "different"), the curriculum document others Indigenous perspectives as well as separates them from mandated outcomes and furthermore, dismisses them. Instead, teachers are encouraged to teach curriculum that promotes multiculturalism and diversity, dismissing Indigenous epistemologies, which is a concept

discussed by St. Denis (2012). In her article entitled, "Silencing Aboriginal Curricular Content and Perspectives Through Multiculturalism: "There Are Other Children Here," St. Denis explores the ways in which multiculturalism encourages teachers and schools to dismiss Indigenous stories and perspectives under the guise of diversity and inclusion. She argues that "public schools are defended as neutral multicultural spaces where all participants are equally positioned, irrespective of racism and colonialism" (p. 313). St. Denis also points out that creating a blanket of neutrality dismisses Indigenous rights and sovereignty as well as "defends public schools against the need to respond to Aboriginal education" (p. 312) and that:

The experiences of Aboriginal teachers teach us that just as the Canadian national space is not neutral, so are school spaces not neutral. Dominant cultures regard efforts to address inequality and diversity as a rejection of, and even an intrusion into, broad understandings of self and nation, and so they therefore resist and resent Aboriginal knowledges and history. (p. 315)

Therefore, St. Denis (2012) illustrates a Canadian public school system and curriculum that in embracing "multicultural" values overrides Indigenous perspectives. Cutrara (2020) states, "while multiculturalism is a codified way for us to understand and respect diversity in Canada, it can unwittingly (re)affirm principles that keep ideas about "us" and "them" more stable than intended" (p. 20). The social studies curriculum (2003) positions multiculturalism as the result of the development of "contemporary Canada" (p. 85), brushing over Indigenous perspectives, stating, "students also study developments regarding Aboriginal rights and the evolution of Canada as a bilingual and multicultural nation" (p. 85). This example, found in the grade six section of SLOs, does not mention treaty rights, instead asks students to "identify historical reasons for bilingual and multicultural policies in Canada" and to "identify changes and developments regarding Aboriginal rights in Canada from 1867 to the present" (p. 91).

One can also look to Donald's (2009) fort analogy to understand the separation between "official" versions of history versus those who are positioned as on the outside, looking in. In discussing Indigenous content and knowledge with reference to curriculum and classrooms, Donald (2009) further explains this approach, stating, "attempts at the so-called inclusion of Indigenous perspectives have usually meant that an anachronistic study of Aboriginal peoples is offered as a possibility in classrooms if there is time and only if people are interested" (p. 5). By classifying these SLOs "intended for First Nations, Inuit, or Métis students and teachers," (p. 19), the curriculum dissuades the non-Indigenous reader to ignore specific Indigenous-focused content.

The Manitoba social studies curricular text (2003) pushes Indigenous perspectives to "the margins of knowledge and curriculum" (Battiste, 2013, p. 23), structurally and within its content pages. The curriculum uses the virtue of multiculturalism at the expense of Indigenous epistemologies and viewpoints which upholds Eurocentric thinking and narratives. By othering Indigenous perspectives, the curriculum upholds and promotes the dominant "we/us" narrative, delegitimizing those that challenge it. Consequently, students are not provided with opportunity to understand alternative perspectives and Indigenous peoples and communities remain positioned as "the other." This creates a discourse inside classrooms that is in danger of harming and/or delegitimizing students within it.

Settler Futurity

Settler futurity is the maintenance of a white future by understanding "Native-European relations as a thing of the past" (Tuck & Gaztambide-Fernández, 2013, p. 79). Settler futurity

ensures that a white lens is applied to the ways in which society understands events and circumstances and white-washes historical thinking to maintain systems of privilege. Therefore, the use of a settler lens in the curriculum (2003), ensures that stories are told through a Eurocentric perspective and positions Indigenous perspectives as historical, in the past and no longer existent. Settler futurity erases Indigenous peoples as Canada's "nation builders" while justifying colonization through the curricular text.

Examples of settler futurity can be seen within the grade six section of the curriculum (2003) in particular. The introductory overview of the grade six section describes Canada's "nation building" period from 1867 (the year of Confederation) to 1914 (p. 85). The text states that students will be asked to "explore the expansion of Canada through the addition of new provinces and territories" and "focus on the entry of Manitoba into Confederation, establishment of treaties and reserves, building of railroads, role of the North West Mounted Police, the 1885 Resistance, and the gold rushes." The overview also states:

Students consider the impact of immigration and hardships faced by new settlers. They also study cultural diversity, including the evolving relationships between First Nations, Inuit and Métis peoples and the Canadian government, and relationships between anglophones and francophones. (p. 85)

Students, therefore, are made to understand that the nation of Canada was built on the backs of settlers, who faced hardships, but who contributed to the multicultural and diverse country we enjoy today. Although the overview mentions treaty relations, only one specific learning outcome in the grade six section addresses it, stating:

Give reasons for the establishment of treaties and reserves and describe their impact on individuals, families, and communities. *Examples: indigenous rights, no right to vote, permission needed to leave a reserve*... (p. 88)

The specific learning outcomes fail to mention the Treaties that were agreed upon within Manitoba, which include Treaties one to five, from 1871 to 1875, which mean they were all signed post-Confederation and within the time period that the grade six section addresses. Therefore, by ignoring Treaty education within the text, the curriculum omits significant Indigenous contributions to the formation of Canada as well as the atrocities that were committed to Indigenous populations through harmful legislation. In doing so, this time period is whitewashed within the curriculum and it solidifies settlers as those who "built" Canada as a dominant narrative.

The final "cluster" of the grade six section emphasizes governance, democracy, and the cultural identity of Canada. It is titled, "Canada Today: Democracy, Diversity, and the Influence of the Past." In this cluster, students explore the different levels of government within Canada, the virtues of the electoral system as well as the ways in which arts and culture impact Canada's identity. Canadian ideals through a white settler lens exist in the following SLOs on page 93:

- Appreciate the struggles and achievements of past generations in shaping Canada.
- Appreciate the benefits of living in Canada. *Examples: freedoms, education, health, safety...*

Both SLOs omit Indigenous perspectives and do not address the health, education, or clean water crises that are ongoing in Indigenous communities within Manitoba and Canada. Therefore, when students are asked to "appreciate the benefits of living in Canada," the lens is decidedly

white and promotes settler futurity as the structural norm as it does not challenge the narrative that Canada is a democratic haven, that is good and equitable for all its residents.

To title the time period of 1867 to 1914 as "Building a Nation" implies that a nation or systems did not exist prior to Confederation. However, this time period highlights when many settlers arrived in Canada and infrastructure such as railroads were built. The title dismisses the established structures pre-Confederation and applies a distinct settler lens to the events that occurred post-Confederation. Aimée Craft (2013) explains,

Prior to the arrival of Europeans on Turtle Island, the Anishinabe had longstanding diplomatic relationships among the different groups (or tribes) within their nation, as well as with other Indigenous peoples. These relationships persist to this day and are the foundational indicators of Anishinabe diplomacy; they illustrate Indigenous principles of normative ordering that were applied to the making of the peace treaties. (p. 23)

The grade six section then titles the time period of 1914 to 1945 as "An Emerging Nation" (p. 85) which examines Canada's role in the World Wars as well as the economic events that occurred including the Winnipeg General Strike and women's suffrage. Although important events in Manitoba's history, the curriculum fails to acknowledge the racial undertones of those events, and instead highlight the heroinism of Nellie McClung. Cutrara (2020) discusses the perspective of the McClung legacy and the importance of looking at her story through a different lens:

Nellie McClung and the Persons Case could be added to a timeline of the early twentieth century as a way of acknowledging the feminist actions during this period. But simply adding her to the timeline fails to explore the complexities of McClung's racist beliefs, which resulted in the forced sterilization of many poor, and mostly Indigenous, women in Alberta. It also fails to imagine the relationships between her fight for Personhood and other contested legislation during this time, such as the Chinese Exclusion Act of 1923, which ended the Chinese head tax but barred any further immigration from China. (p. 169)

Therefore, by asking students to "Describe the struggle for and identify individuals involved in women's suffrage in Manitoba and Canada" (p. 90), the curriculum (2003) "helps support a vision of Canada's continued progress" (Cutrara, 2020, p. 169), but fails to acknowledge the context behind the creation of specific legislation and the white supremacy that motivated the changes. By failing to acknowledge racism, settler futurity is maintained as Nellie McClung, the white hero, is protected by being seen as a feminist, and Canada champions her and itself as one of the first in a Western democracy to give women the right to vote, ignoring the fact that Indigenous and Asian men and women were not granted the right to vote until after the Second World War.

The curriculum maintains settler futurity by white-washing Canadian history and by protecting specific stories by omitting the racial undertones that motivated certain actions and/or events. In doing so, the curriculum does not provide opportunity or direction for students to understand the history of Canada in a way that is truthful or well-rounded. By maintaining settler futurity, Canada is kept innocent of the harms of colonialism, and because of that, these harms continue today as the truth remains unconfronted.

Prairie Settler Colonialism

Prairie settler colonialism speaks to a unique phenomenon that occurs within the prairie provinces of Canada, including Manitoba. While settler colonialism in Canada involves the

displacement of Indigenous peoples with (mostly European) immigrants for the purpose of land cultivation, while prairie settler colonialism also includes the notion of racial capitalism, positioning Indigenous peoples as unable to claim land ownership, due to discriminatory stereotyping and systemic racism. As seen in the Gerald Stanley trial of 2016, prairie settler colonialism normalizes property ownership as the inherent right of the white settler, which, during Stanley's trial, vilified Boushie, even though he was the victim in the tragedy. Prairie settler colonialism also embodies the legacy of over-criminalizing Indigenous peoples. Citing a report by Statistics Canada in 2016-2017, the Assembly of Manitoba Chiefs state that although Indigenous youth represent eight percent of the total Canadian population, they represent 46% of incarcerations in Canada. This number is even greater within Manitoba. The Assembly of Manitoba Chiefs (2018) explain:

In Manitoba, that number jumps to 81% for Indigenous boys and 82% for Indigenous girls. The numbers for Indigenous adults are similar. Indigenous men represent 15% of Manitoba's population but represent 74% of those incarcerated. Indigenous women are currently the fastest-rising prison population.

Furthermore, prairie settler colonialism encompasses extractivist thinking, allowing for the extraction of natural materials for purpose economic gain, whilst ignoring treaty agreements or environmental concerns.

The curriculum (2003) engages discourses of prairie settler colonialism in a number of ways. The curriculum often refers to concepts related to land ownership and repeatedly emphasizes "respecting own and others' property," "respect public and private property," "recognize the need to care for personal property" and to "use examples to distinguish between public and private property" (p. 30, p. 40, and p. 65). The curriculum also asks students to

"respect neighbourhood and community places and landmarks" (p. 39) and to "treat places and objects of historical significance with respect" (p. 74). The phenomenon of protecting settler land rights and landmarks is a principle of prairie settler colonialism which, ultimately, protects the control of the land to those in power, while displacing Indigenous peoples.

In addition to the emphasis on respect for public and private property within the curriculum, the text asks students to explore the "significance of the British North America Act," (p. 88) which united provinces into a dominion of Canada as well as asks students to "Describe the role of the North West Mounted Police" (p. 88). Omitted is any mention of the Indian Act, which was signed shortly after Confederation, which aimed to assimilate Indigenous peoples into the Eurocentric Canadian society and is the cause of the generational traumas that we see today, including the legacy of residential schools, as well as a denial of language and cultural practices.

With regards to extractivism, the curricular text asks students to "name natural resources in their local community" (p. 46) but does little to emphasize the need to safeguard or protect them. There are also subtle changes in language between mainstream SLOs and those that are designated for Indigenous students as seen below (p. 56):

- Value the land for what it provides for communities.
- Appreciate the sacredness of living on and with the land.

These SLOs are found next to each other in the curricular text, however, the mainstream outcome emphasizes what the land "provides" to the population while the Indigenous-designated outcome asks students to "appreciate" the land. These subtle changes in language encompass the prairie settler colonial mentality; non-Indigenous peoples own land and prosper from what it provides, while Indigenous peoples appreciate it, but do not own it or prosper from it. According to the curriculum (2003), resources are also seen as integral to building Canada:

• Appreciate the significance of the land and natural resources in the development of Canada. (p. 79)

Resources are also seen as vital to the economy, contributing to a "global quality of life," stating, "Students examine the role of international agencies and global cooperation, the relationship between wealth, resources, and power, as well as the impact of their personal actions on quality of life for people in other places" (p. 97).

Prairie settler colonialism is distinct theme throughout the curriculum (2003) as the text's narratives are told through a white, colonial lens as the specific learning outcomes embody its key features: land ownership and the rights of non-Indigenous Canadians to it, the celebration of historical events such as the British North America Act and the formation of the North West Mounted Police (disregarding the harms of this legislation or of the Indian Act), as well as the ways in which resources are regarded as essential to the economic needs of Canada with little emphasis on their protection. Therefore, this discourse upholds the societal value that settler land rights must be maintained and protected as well as be profitable. This goes against calls for Indigenous resurgence and movements such "Land Back" or "Idle No More" that call for the return of Indigenous control of land and/or environmental protections to be put in place.

Justification of Colonization

The justification of colonization allows dominant, white, colonial discourses to be maintained. Colonization is seen as necessary for progress to occur and explorers as well as conquests are told through a heroic lens.

Using a white-settler lens, stories of settler struggles, and the necessity of their migration are told, and their stories are a credit to the development of Canada. The grade six section of SLOs ask students to "consider the impact of immigration and hardships faced by new settlers" (p. 88)

as well as to "appreciate the importance of immigration in the development of Canada" (p. 89). Therefore, the curriculum justifies colonization by crediting settlers' hard work to build the country that Canada is today.

Stories of Indigenous governance and systems are omitted, and *terra nullius* (the land belonging to "no one") is used in the justification. An example of *tera nullius* can be seen in the grade five section of the curricular text:

 Relate stories of European explorers and traders in their search for new lands or the Northwest Passage. *Examples: Leif Eriksson, Giovanni Caboto, Henry Hudson, Jacques Carter, Martin Frobisher, David Thompson...* (p. 77)

When Indigenous perspectives are mentioned, tragedies, such as smallpox and tuberculosis epidemics, which decimated many Indigenous populations during the fur trade are brushed over, and the factors that influenced the fur trade, justified:

- Give examples of the impact of interactions between First Peoples and European traders and settlers. *Examples: shared technologies, cultural change, spread of disease*... (p. 79).
- Identify global factors that influenced the fur trade in Canada. *Examples: European fashion, wars in Europe...* (p. 79).
- Appreciate the contributions of various groups involved in the fur trade to the historical development of Canada (p. 79).

The curriculum (2003) justifies colonization as an act that was necessary for progress in achieving the democratic, tolerant, multicultural nation that is called Canada. Therefore, by undermining Indigenous knowledge systems, through racism, Canadian colonizers justify their actions as unavoidable in the creation of Canada.

Colonization is also justified in the curriculum by exploring ancient conquests that lead to the evolution of humanities in the areas of art, science, technology, and politics. Through the study of ancient civilizations and the conquests of the Roman and Greek Empires, colonization is seen as necessary to achieve advancements in technology, language, society, arts, culture, and democratic institutions:

- Describe the rise of democracy in ancient Greece (p. 112).
- Compare criteria for citizenship and participation in government in ancient Greece and in contemporary Canada (p. 112).
- Appreciate the enduring qualities of the arts, architecture, science, and ideas of ancient Greece and Rome (p. 112).
- Appreciate the benefits of citizenship within a democracy (p. 112).
- Give examples of achievements in art, architecture, literature, and science in diverse societies from the fifth to fifteenth centuries (p. 113).
- Describe the impact of technological developments from the fifth to fifteenth centuries. *Examples: wind power, gunpowder, stirrups, catapults, longbows, armour...*(p. 113).
- Appreciate the enduring qualities of art, architecture, literature, and science of the fifth to fifteenth centuries (p. 114).

In using the examples of the Greek and Roman Empires, and the colonization in Europe and around the world, the curriculum (2003) justifies colonization as a necessary act, as it created advancements in human life including technology, architecture, arts, culture, and democracy. This opens the door for the same narrative to be used within Canada: colonization and the conquest of Indigenous peoples was necessary to achieve the advanced, democratic society we enjoy today. By highlighting conquests and specific explorers through a heroic lens, the curriculum justifies colonization as events that were necessary in the formation of Canada. The curriculum draws on other countries as examples from where colonization produced art, language, technology, and democracy. This approach omits opportunity for critical thinking regarding the consequences of colonization, the human cost, and the harms that continue today because of it. Therefore, Canada is preserved as innocent of human rights atrocities, and the notion that Europeans "discovered" Canada is maintained.

The Respectful Citizen

The respectful citizen is one who embodies the Canadian stereotypes of kindness, inclusivity, and humanitarianism. While these concepts are noble in theory, they lack the opportunity for students to understand the structures, systems, and histories of Canada from a critical lens. Rather, this concept glamourizes Canada's reputation. The respectful citizen concept teaches children that they must maintain the status quo, rather than challenge it.

According to the curriculum, the stereotype that Canadians are respectful, kind, and inclusive citizens, admired around the world, is a core value within the Manitoba social studies curriculum (2001). Within the curricular text, respectful citizen participates fully in democracy (p. 3, 4, 93) by making informed and ethical choices (p. 3, 5, 6), welcomes newcomers to Canadian lands with open arms (p. 80, 84, 85, 88, 89), works well with others by negotiating fairly (p. 62, 74, 86, 98, 108, 121, 130, 131), appreciates environmental stewardship (p. 4, 66, 98, 108, 131), promotes community well-being (p. 15, 28, 34, 36, 44, 52, 62, 72, 86, 98, 108), follows rules (p. 13, 27, 30, 35, 40, 65), and respects public and private property (p. 30, 40, 65). These core values ensure students become respectful citizens of the future as they learn about "their responsibilities and rights as members of communities" (p. 40).

The First and Second World Wars are highlighted in the curriculum's grade six section, as part of the cluster entitled, "An Emerging Nation" (p. 85). Canada's involvement in these wars contribute to the ways in which the curriculum defines Canada's development as a leader on the world stage. Paired with specific learning outcomes that ask students to "describe Canada's involvement in the First and Second World Wars and identify its impact on Canadian individuals and communities" (p. 90), the curriculum asks students to also "Value the contributions of various groups to the development of Canada. Examples: suffragettes, trade *unions*..." (p. 90), to "appreciate the struggles of past generations in achieving the rights that people in Canada enjoy today" (p. 90), and to "appreciate the sacrifices that soldiers and other Canadians made during the World Wars" (p. 90). The grade six section then goes on to highlight Canada's contributions as a world leader, asking students to "Give examples of global events and forces that have affected Canadians from 1945 to the present. Examples: international cooperation, relief efforts, disease, environmental changes, famine, refugee movement..." (p. 91), to "Give examples of Canada's participation in the United Nations and other international organizations. Examples: urbanization, transportation, communication, education..." (p. 91) and to "Give examples of inventions and technologies created in Canada. *Examples: kayaks*, snowmobiles, Canadarm, insulin, canola..." (p. 91).

Omitted within the specific learning outcomes are values that address a commitment to social justice, advocacy, as well as a critical look at the systems that have caused some groups of people to benefit and others to endure generational cycles of poverty and injustice. Samantha Cutrara (2020) explains,

Canadian history education often reaffirms a vision of Canada as a nation developed through European settlement and commercial trade, with growth based on making progress through the wilderness, gaining independence and freedom through military involvement, and developing a tolerance for multiculturalism. This version of Canada leaves out the violent history of colonialism, the state's perpetration of continuous racial

injustice, and the desire (and actions taken) to make, and keep, Canada white. (p. 5) Cutrara's explanation of Canadian history education is a blueprint for the way in which Manitoba's social studies curriculum is developed. A European settler lens is applied to its content and narratives, multiculturalism is emphasized and the importance of military involvement to achieve freedom, as well as the normalization of war, and to "promote selective and triumphalist historical narratives in school textbooks in order to create loyal citizens with a shared national identity" (Pennell, 2016, p. 40). The Manitoba social studies curriculum features Remembrance Day as a specific learning outcome in each grade from kindergarten to seventh. Although Remembrance Day is not explicitly featured within the eighth-grade outcomes, it is not without a focus on war as the content shifts to ancient conquests.

Therefore, the curriculum (2003) promotes the heroic narrative of global Canadian contributions, for the purpose of educating future citizens to be considerate, rule-following, welcoming, and proud of its accomplishments. The document highlights wartime achievements and Canada's accomplishments on the world stage but omits its own injustices. The document also promotes multiculturalism and diversity but does not acknowledge the system racism that has marginalized certain communities. In doing so, stereotypical Canadian narratives remain unchallenged, and the document is upheld as a colonial artefact.

Summary of Analysis

My analysis highlights the ways in which the *Manitoba Kindergarten to Grade Eight* Social Studies Framework of Outcomes (2003) legitimizes, maintains, and endorses settler colonial narratives. There is no evidence that Indigenous communities, knowledge keepers, Elders, or Indigenous organizations (such as the Manitoba First Nations Educational Resource Centre or the Manitoba Métis Federation) were meaningfully included in its creation. The bibliography lists few Indigenous references and shows a lack of diversity amongst the scholarly titles and authors.

Within its content pages and specific learning outcomes, the curriculum framework is a void of Indigenous epistemologies. For example, topics that deal with sustainability or the environment prioritizes Westernized capitalist and neoliberal thinking. The omissions and biases of the ways in which the history of Canada and Manitoba are presented are problematic. Two significant examples stand out: the virtual omission of residential schools and the minimization of Louis Riel's story of resistance and contributions to the formation of Manitoba. Through omission and minimization, the curriculum delegitimizes the important stories and narratives of important topics such as residential schools and the Red River Métis.

Other absences from the document include Treaty knowledge, lessons on the Indian Act and subsequently, its harmful repercussions both historically and contemporarily, as well as the explicit teaching of the history of Canada as a colonial nation. Without these significant pieces of knowledge, Canadian students are taught white settler colonial narratives of Canada, of its societal structure, and how these were/are built upon racial inequity. This obstructs any movement towards reconciliation in the future. Without the knowledge on Treaties or their purposes, students will not understand how to honour or defend them. Without understanding Métis history and the impact or influence of Louis Riel, students receive an incomplete and a settler-colonial biased understanding of Manitoba's formation. Rather, students are taught to view Manitoba through the lens of settler perspectives, privileging narratives of domination, heroism, and capitalism.

White settler perspectives are consistently centred while Indigenous perspectives are omitted. When Indigenous perspectives or stories are touched upon, or Treaties are mentioned, the curriculum references them as artefacts of the past. Furthermore, Indigenous perspectives are consistently othered, through "distinctive learning outcomes." When injustices such as lack of clean water or access to food or health care are described, through the context of human rights, they are taught as a foreign or faraway issue instead of in Canada's backyard.

Roman and Greek conquests are glorified within the curriculum and used to justify colonization as necessary for the development of technology and the growth of the world's economy. Therefore, in "re-positioning [Indigenous stories and perspectives] in the margins of knowledge and curriculum" (Battiste, 2013, p. 23), *Manitoba's Kindergarten to Grade Eight Social Studies* curriculum was written to be a "Eurocentric framework that privileged other peoples' stories" as well as acts as a project of "forced assimilation" (Battiste, 2013, p. 17-23). In moving forward towards reconciliation, curriculum writers must do better to promote full truths and historical narratives through a postcolonial and decolonizing lens.

Canadian students must be prepared to confront the painful legacy of Canada's racist societal structures that continue to impact people within our communities today. The current curriculum does not do an adequate job at this. However, there is hope for the future as there is an initiative amongst policy makers and stakeholders to revamp the curricular documents. With the Truth and Reconciliation's (2015) recommendations publicly available and many other resources easily accessible, as well as grassroots and political will towards reconciliation, I am optimistic that curriculum writers will be held accountable when reforming curricular texts.

Discussion: Rethinking Curricular Discourses

Following Fairclough's (2015) three-tiered framework, I will now explain the ways in which the curricular document endorses and upholds colonial perspectives. In this section, I will revisit my thesis questions and contextualize the implications of Manitoba's Kindergarten to Grade Eight Social Studies Curriculum Framework of Outcomes (2003) as it currently reads. I will also provide considerations and suggestions that support the ways we must rethink curricula that promotes equity, justice, and is committed to reconciliation. I believe that a commitment to reconciliation must begin at a grassroots level, in schools and classrooms, and that all children, from kindergarten to senior years should be critically engaged in learning about topics that impact the structures of our communities. Yet, what this analysis demonstrates is that we still have a long way to go to reach this goal. The curriculum, as it stands, reinforces white settler narratives and colonial discourses. Instead of challenging the status quo and encouraging students to think about Canadian history and systems through a critical lens, it maintains it. Consequently, students' views are shaped through a lens that reinforces ideas of prairie settler colonialism, the justification of colonization, othering, settler futurity, and the "goodness" of Canadian citizens and Canada on the world stage.

Marie Battiste (2013) discusses the integration of Indigenous knowledge into curriculum as integral to reconciliation, as well as a Treaty right that must be fulfilled. She states,

It is clear, however, that the exclusive use of Eurocentric knowledge in education has failed First Nations children. Indigenous knowledge is now seen as an educational remedy that will empower Aboriginal students if applications of their Indigenous knowledge, heritage, and languages are integrated into the Canadian educational system. (p. 87) Neglecting to meaningfully integrate Indigenous epistemologies into curricula will continue to fail First Nations, Métis, and Inuit children and will further contribute to the erasure of Indigenous culture, language, and knowledge in Canadian society, structures, and narratives. Canada has a moral obligation to ensure that this does not continue to occur. Stated in the findings of the *Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada* (2015) are Calls to Action directly related to the creation of appropriate curricula as well as additional initiatives for education that include a commitment to improving resources and better involvement of Indigenous families and communities within the educational system (TRC, Calls to Action, 2015). Unfortunately, across Canada, these initiatives have yet to be implemented in meaningful ways, including in educational policies, and within curriculum.

Instead, curricular reforms have instead focused on neoliberal ideals that promote economic objectives rather than address Canadian injustices or initiatives that would endorse critical thinking or commitments to healing and understanding. An example can be found in British Columbia, who in 2010 committed to reforming curriculum to specifically respond to the TRC's Calls to Action (2015), but instead fell short in reaching their goals in meaningful and authentic ways (Miles, 2021). In his study of British Columbia's social studies curricular reforms, James Miles (2021) discusses the problematic approaches that the curriculum takes in addressing "historical wrongs" and "Indigenous histories and perspectives," concluding that the curriculum "reinforces the notion that Indigenous and non-Indigenous peoples in Canada occupy separate realities" (p. 48). Therefore, although political will to adopt the TRC's Calls to Action (2015) seemed to exist, Miles' (2021) assessment of the British Columbia curricular reforms was that its initiatives were largely symbolic.

Miles' (2021) findings of the British Columbia curriculum largely echo the structures of Manitoba's current studies curriculum. The notion that "Indigenous and non-Indigenous peoples occupy separate realities" (Miles, 2021, p. 48) is also present within the pages and structure of Manitoba's document beginning with the separation of specific learning outcomes. Entitled "distinctive learning outcomes," these outcomes literally and figuratively separate content for students and teachers who identify as First Nations, Métis, or Inuit. The Manitoba kindergarten to grade eight social studies curriculum (2003) also omits specific information on past and present Canadian historical injustices, such as residential schools. Additionally, the curriculum (2003) fails to meaningfully teach the formation of Manitoba as a province as it neglects the role of Louis Riel and disregards Indigenous epistemologies, treaty education or any significant Indigenous language knowledge. Rather, the Manitoba social studies curriculum (2003), highlights and upholds Eurocentric perspectives and white voices, as evidenced in its contentbased sections (p. 25-116) as well as its Bibliography (p. 147-149). This is evidence of the legacy of whiteness in places of power that works to maintain colonialism in our society to the present day. This legacy of whiteness and imperialism was built upon broken Treaties and injustices in the name of colonization and its subsequent imbalance of power, and marginalization and erasure of Indigenous communities through acts of genocide and denials of language and culture.

Reflecting on the Research Questions

My project critically examined the discourses within the social studies curriculum and subsequently what gets taught within classrooms. I wanted to highlight whose stories, perspectives, and voices are prioritized and upheld and to what end. I wanted to find out the ways in which the curriculum encourages disciplinary thinking that maintains structures of white settler colonialism while at the same time, delegitimizes Indigenous perspectives through omission. I also wanted to understand the ways in which the curriculum endorsed Eurocentric perspectives and narratives. To investigate these questions, I used a postcolonial lens and conducted four readings of the text to guide my critical discourse analysis. These readings allowed me to closely examine the content, look at the ways in which pronouns, grammar, and language are used and allowed me to carefully take note of the text's omissions. I also used Fairclough's three-tiered approach (2001) to critical discourse analysis which included: 1) description of power relations, exploring government legislation and mandated policies that helped shape the context of my analysis; 2) an interpretation stage which focused on a narrow analysis of the document's (2003) content and, 3) an explanation of my findings using my research questions as a guide.

As I reflect on this work, as a teacher who identifies as a white, female settler, I believe that it is important for all teachers to understand the inherent biases they carry with them into the classroom and the ways in which these biases translate into what we teach; whose stories get told, whose get ignored, and who decides. I acknowledge that in doing this work, and in teaching in the Canadian school system, it is impossible to remain apolitical. Writing and determining curriculum is a political act - as is teaching and determining which knowledge gets privileged – and which knowledge is ignored.

In doing this work, I have determined that the *Manitoba kindergarten to grade eight social studies curriculum framework* (2003) upholds, legitimizes, and privileges Western ways of thinking, amplifies Eurocentric and white voices, while at the same time "others" and delegitimizes Indigenous perspectives. By excluding the Indigenous perspectives and maintaining unproblematic narratives of colonization, Eurocentric perspectives are amplified. When Indigenous narratives are included, they are separate from mainstream specific learning outcomes or glossed over, tokenized, and/or minimized.

Discourses that reinforce othering, settler futurity, prairie settler colonialism, the stereotype of the respectful citizen as well as the promotion and celebration of colonization can be seen in recent local newsworthy events. On July first, 2021, Winnipeg saw a protest in honour of the hundreds of children being uncovered in unmarked graves at the sites of residential schools. The protest, which included a walk down Portage Avenue, ended at the Manitoba Legislature. While there, protesters toppled a Queen Victoria statue, as it was seen as an ongoing reminder of colonial violence (CBC News, 2021). The response in Winnipeg over the toppling of the statue was divisive, with some residents expressing outrage over the statue's demise, citing vandalism and the disrespect of property as the source of their anger. Some called it a "major setback in reconciliation." Manitoba premiere, Brian Pallister, vowed to bring the perpetrators to justice. However, Dr. Niigaan Sinclair (2021), connected another Winnipeg historical event (which is celebrated in the social studies curriculum), to explain the irony and the racial undertones that contributed to the outrage:

All seem to have forgotten that vandalism is always based in perspective. In fact, Winnipeg's most iconic moment as a city, the overturning of a streetcar during the 1919 General Strike, is commemorated in a sculpture on Main Street. During that act of vandalism, protesters pushed the streetcar off its tracks, shattered its windows, slashed its seats and set it on fire. Two people were killed in clashes with police in what became known as "Bloody Saturday." On Canada Day, no one was hurt when the statues came down. In fact, a whole lot of Indigenous and non-Indigenous people across this province felt vindicated. Heard. Seen. Celebrating the destruction of property in one incident and then condemning it in another is a strong example of the ways in which prairie settler colonialism manifests within Manitoba, as it is steeped in racism and discrimination.

Discourses such as the lack of access to healthcare and education within many Indigenous communities within Canada are omitted from the text. A local example of this injustice is the Shoal Lake water crisis. In 2021, Shoal Lake, a community that straddles the Manitoba and Ontario border, saw their boil water advisory lift for the first time in 24 years. This First Nations community is, ironically, where Winnipeg gets their drinking water from (Keele, 2021). Many First Nations communities in Canada continue to live with boil water advisories today. Education and health care in First Nations communities are also inequitable. In the First Nation community of Pukatawagan, school was unable to open in September 2022 due to limited resources in dealing with the aftermath of a wildfire that damaged the building (Grabish, 2022). During the COVID-19 pandemic, First Nations people accounted for 25% of hospitalizations (Monkman, 2022). These are not isolated incidents. They are the results of inequitable access to the resources and supports that are made readily available for non-Indigenous communities throughout Manitoba.

The curriculum also omits meaningful integration of Indigenous knowledge systems. Without authentic Indigenous epistemology, the curriculum encourages teachers to rely on events that promote cultural tokenization. Marie Battiste (2013) discusses this "band-aid" approach, stating:

The institutions must move beyond the mere 'culture' discourses tools for both analyzing problems and offering solutions, for in these discourses culture gets attached to an othering strategy when institutions do not want to acknowledge the dominant cultural

traditions that draw from cultural attitudes, values, and presumptions and how these are applied to notions of culture of Indigenous peoples in the forms of 'difference.' [...] Difference marks Indigenous peoples as largely historical and local, but not contemporary and global, and their knowledge systems become minimized to local value. Thus teachers, and institutions can easily ignore Indigenous knowledge, peoples, and histories, rationalizing that there are too few or no Indigenous students in their class to make any reasonable effort for inclusion, and far more immigrant students whose cultures need to be included. (p. 103)

By creating a "cultural advisory committee" without including Indigenous voices, by promoting Canada as a beacon of multiculturalism and diversity, whilst ignoring its own wrong-doings and by othering Indigenous perspectives through the separation of content and outcomes, the Manitoba kindergarten to grade eight social studies curriculum framework echoes Battiste's (2013) comments about othering Indigenous perspectives. The curriculum effectively positions Canada as a country of immigration and of settlers who discovered "new lands" rather than a country of colonization who forcefully occupied the land with disregard for the peoples who were there before and the systems that had already been in existence.

Recommendations

Tragedies such as the unwarranted killing of Colten Boushie are a direct result of the ongoing colonial structures that perpetuate racism in Canada. These structures are preserved through the narratives that are told through curricula – not just what stories get told, but also who tells these stories and how, as well as whose stories get omitted. Therefore, in this current context of truth and reconciliation, it is important that we critically consider our curriculums, their purposes, content, structures, and effects (even if unintended).

In September 2021, an advisory panel was announced with the intention to meet on a regular basis and present a new framework in June of 2022 (Hempel, 2021). According to the Government of Manitoba press release (2021), the panel consists of individuals who are "recognized and respected in their sector groups/organizations (e.g., Indigenous people, francophones, newcomers, industry/business)." I question the use of the word "business" as it does not clarify if this means personnel who own a local business or if they are business leaders and/or directors within the province. I also question the motivation to include the business sector in writing new curriculum writing process. My interpretation is that involving the business sector in writing new curriculum is a sign of neoliberalism infiltrating the public school system, which, as Eve Tuck (2014) explains as an "aim to extract the philosophies of the market and apply them to non-market entities" (p. 336). To move beyond the trappings of neoliberalism in hopes of creating a curriculum that would honour Truth and Reconciliation, I have included recommendations for 1) Policy makers and curriculum writers; 2) Teachers, teacher candidates, and educational leaders; and 3) Teacher educators.

Recommendations for policy makers and curriculum writers

The current K-8 social studies curriculum, as it stands, consists of a pedagogy that is "fact-based," meaning, that it focuses on people, places, and stories, without challenging teachers or students to uncover the nuances, perspectives, and purposes of these narratives. This approach does not invite the educator to "push beyond" the chronology of its text or to critically assess the information provided. Furthermore, subject areas in Manitoba are taught and assessed in isolation, even though the world in which we live is interconnected, and its knowledge systems, intertwined. Therefore, I urge curriculum committee(s) to rethink the ways in which curriculum is written, including its content, structure, and perspectives; to bridge subject areas (such as social studies and science) in a way that marries the knowledge, rather than separates it. Therefore, I recommend that the new Manitoba curriculum be written with interdisciplinary ways of thinking, that includes an orientation that centres Indigenous perspectives. For example, implementing a land-based approach, that values environmentalism, sustainability, and ecojustice could decenter white-colonial narratives, prioritize an Indigenous worldview, and would also center Indigenous knowledge as flourishing, rather than as a thing of the past. Rethinking curriculum in this way must also meaningfully involve Indigenous leaders, Elders, scholars, students, and educators. Curriculum writers should ground the curriculum in the recommendations from the Truth and Reconciliation Commission (2015) and be committed to unlearning and relearning the ways in which colonial narratives have shaped Canadian discourse and have ultimately perpetuated structures that are permeated by racism and marginalization.

The prairie provinces are rich with knowledge keepers, scholars, and educators who would bring to the table the perspectives that are needed to stimulate significant changes. I would recommend involving Mi'kmaq scholar, Dr. Marie Battiste, currently based in Saskatchewan, who has written extensively on the steps that need to be taken to bring knowledge systems together in an authentic way for the benefit of all Canadian students, or Papaschase Cree scholar, Dr. Dwayne Donald, based in Alberta, whose comprehensive work discusses the consequences of othering Indigenous communities and is an expert in curriculum and pedagogy. I would also recommend involving prominent local voices such as Anishinaabe scholar, Dr. Niigaanwewidam (Niigaan) Sinclair, who is a professor at the University of Manitoba and consistently writes in the Winnipeg Free Press about the tangible and concrete steps we can all take towards reconciliation; Dr. Frank Deer, a Kanienkeha'ka scholar at the University of Manitoba who promotes the affirmation of Indigenous learners in primary and secondary levels; and Dr. Lucy Fowler, a Métis scholar and expert in Métis identity and Indigenous education. However, we cannot rely on Indigenous scholars or knowledge keepers alone to do the challenging work that must occur. Non-Indigenous community members must also do the work of learning about settler colonialism if truth and reconciliation is to be realized.

Battiste (2013) outlines the various ways that curricular content resists and dismisses the integration of Indigenous epistemologies. She argues:

Eurocentric knowledge operates as if it is a depoliticized process of intellectual refinement, whereas Indigenous knowledge is treated as if it is a by-product of domestic politics among Aboriginal peoples, such as the history of treaties, constitutional issues, politics and policies of Indian Affairs, and continuing struggles Aboriginal people have with white settlers [...] In 'mainstream' or conventional schooling, teachers use approved cultural content and books, including resources and speakers from communities, but often do so without having to consider the power dynamics involved or their lack of agency in repeating the serious past omissions. (p. 105-106)

Therefore, it is crucial that the new Manitoba curriculum moves beyond recounting only Indigenous stories and narratives in relation to colonialism, rather, it must emphasize the ways in which Indigenous ways of knowing and cultural practices are the fabric of Manitoba as "We Are All Treaty People."

Recommendations for teachers, teacher candidates, and educational leaders

Teachers and schools have the unique opportunity to shape the ways in which knowledge is presented, interpreted, understood, and deciphered. Therefore, this research displays the immense responsibility teachers have, to cultivate specific ways of knowing and values within their students. Teachers and educational leaders must be willing to engage critically with curriculum documents, and speak out against neoliberal impositions to curriculum, policy, and assessment practices. In recent history, Manitoba's teachers and educational leadership came together to oppose Bill 64: The Education Modernization Act (Government of Manitoba, 2021), which aimed to centralize, and ultimately defund, Manitoba's public education system. Manitoba's teachers and educational leaders began to advocate against this bill through educational campaigns. This resulted in the public becoming aware of the consequences of the bill, which proved to be highly unpopular, and the bill was eventually scrapped. This recent example of community-based advocacy, led by teachers, demonstrates the importance of speaking up and out against reforms that will further marginalize specific communities and students.

To further truth in pursual of reconciliation, teachers and educational leaders must be willing to "push beyond" the facts and narratives in the current curriculum. For this to occur, engagement with the Truth and Reconciliation Commission's Calls to Action (2015) in meaningful ways is necessary, as is committing to professional development and investing in time to discuss our individual and collective responsibilities to the Calls to Action. It is also important to establish relationships with Indigenous communities and community members and to ensure staff are hired who identify as Indigenous. To guarantee this process, partnerships such as the Community-Based Aboriginal Teacher Education Program (CATEP) must be invested in. Schools must also promote and normalize cultural practices such as smudging. Initiatives such as Pow Wow dance instruction should hold the same weight as a music or physical education class and take place during school hours. Schools should also ensure that students are hearing Indigenous languages on a daily basis, as language is a key feature in the preservation of culture.

Having an Elder come to speak once in classrooms is simply not enough. Completing and moving on from unit or lesson that discusses treaties, or the Seven Sacred Teachings is simply not enough. Having an Indigenous artist visit a school on one day of the year is simply not enough. The changes and integration of specific knowledge must be systematic, and it must change the ways in which educators teach and interpret curriculum texts. These changes must also be grounded in relationships and relationship building. Furthermore, all families, students, and teachers must engage in learning about Canada's historic and contemporary colonial and racist policies, legislation, and practices. Noticeably, this is absent from Manitoba's current curricular documents.

Unfortunately, we, as teachers may not be able to rely solely on the reformation of curriculum to change the ways in which Canadian history is told, or to amplify voices that have been historically dismissed. Therefore, it is important for all educators to take the time to read the Calls to Action (2015), to learn about the injustices committed within Canada, and to critically approach all government-mandated educational documents, curriculum included. School leaders must commit to integrating Indigenous perspectives in meaningful ways into their school planning, as well as professional development, and encourage staff to think critically about their approaches to pedagogy and assessment.

In her book, *Breathing Life into the Stone Fort Treaty: An Anishinaabe Understanding of Treaty One,* Aimée Craft (2013) discusses the original purpose of treaties which was to promote understanding amongst different peoples as well as "to create relationships, not to cede land" (p. 114). Craft (2013) points to an Anishinaabe prophecy that predicts environmental disaster, due to the neglect of principles that treaties were signed to protect. Although stark, the prophecy is also

hopeful that change will come. I, like Craft, hope these changes can be made. I intend to advocate for them within the schools that I work in and the community that I live in.

Recommendations for teacher educators

Teacher educators play an important role in forming the pedagogy and practices of the teachers of tomorrow. Therefore, teacher educators must also instill the importance of looking at curricula with a critical lens in their students. It is my recommendation that teacher educators assign their students with critical reading projects that deconstruct and/or analyse current curricular documents. These projects should encourage future teachers to seek out problematic narratives that hinder truth and reconciliation. Teacher educators should also underscore the purposes of education, understanding that the ways in which content is taught, influences students' understandings of the world. It must be emphasized that, "the point of education is not that students learn, but that they learn *something*, that they learn it for particular *reasons*, and that they learn it *from someone*" (Biesta, 2014, p. 234). Biesta (2014) states that education functions through "domains of purpose," arguing,

we have been able to indicate what it is we seek to achieve through our educational activities and endeavours, that we can make decisions about appropriate content students should engage with. (p. 234)

Teacher candidates must be well-informed about the ways in which the curriculum impacts the broader picture of society, to engage critically with it, and always with the greater purpose of education in mind.

Conclusion

In working on this project, I have become more reflective on the ways in which I teach and more critical of the content that I have prioritized within my classroom and in my role as a learning support teacher. I have also realized the importance of social studies topics within the classroom environment, and the implications of the narratives that are taught as well as the language that is used. However, social studies are often overshadowed by the primacy of mathematics and literacy, which are often at the forefront when reporting on how students across Canada are performing academically. Yet, critical thinking skills, analysis, and an ability to comprehend topics that require deeper-level thinking and inquiry skills are ignored and undervalued in a day and age that operates on instant information and attention-grabbing tweets or headlines. By merely underscoring student performance in mathematics and literacy skills, as isolated subjects, society ignores the essential topics that well-rounded, independent thinkers need to thrive in a world that rapidly presents new challenges towards the preservation of democracy and the perseverance of social justice. Therefore, we witness a world who refuses to reverse course on catastrophic environmental ruin, who watches as poverty and gross inequities persist in Canada and around the world, and who turns a blind eye to the ongoing aggressive acts of war, hate speech and prejudice.

At the local level, it is important to understand the discourses that have led to attitudes and perspectives within our present situation. It is important to understand the ways in which power dynamics have wielded certain communities to thrive while others have struggled. It is important to understand that the gentrification of our lands and communities have bestowed wealth on some and poverty upon others. It is also important to understand that present-day Manitoba was formed upon racist policies and acts of genocide which include the atrocity of residential schools. Colonialism is not static, or an event of the past. It is ongoing today. Therefore, we continue to see the scales tipped in favour of non-Indigenous communities. To illustrate this inequity, I point to the statistics of children in the system of foster care. Indigenous children make up 90% of those within the care of Manitoba Child and Family Services (CBC News, 2020). Witnessing this disparity first-hand as an educator has led me towards uncovering the discourses that exist within Manitoba's curriculum as I believe that education and the structures of the educational system have a direct correlation in these types of statistics. In speaking to these concepts on a local Winnipeg level, Toews (2018), explains, "Dispossession, captivity, and genocide are still with us; the task is to figure out how they've survived in new times, what exactly they have become, and what they are doing now" (p. 19). Therefore, by continuing to ignore the underlying racial discourses that exist within the Manitoba curriculum, the further we perpetuate colonialism within modern-day society.

I approach this work humbly, conducting my research from the perspective of a descendent of Ukrainian settlers. My family empathizes with the desire to keep heritage, language, and culture alive in their homeland. Recent events only reaffirm this struggle, as Russia has once again sought to invade Ukraine and eliminate the Ukrainian language, culture, and its people. Coming from this perspective, I am motivated to do everything I can to avoid playing a role in the ongoing marginalization of Indigenous communities that exists within Canadian society today. Instead, I want to work to be a part of the movement towards reconciliation and for that to occur, I realize that this must begin with truth and with education. As an educator, I have a unique opportunity to positively influence the children who enter the school I work at and to ensure they understand the full picture of Canadian history. I acknowledge that I have a great opportunity to build relationships that are built on trust with

Indigenous and non-Indigenous families alike. I also have the opportunity to come to work each day to directly impact my community in a constructive way. I acknowledge, however, that I still have much learning to do. Nevertheless, this research project has allowed me to critically examine the impact of discourse within a government-mandated document. The skills that I have acquired from conducting this analysis will allow me to look critically at future documents that I am required to read and implement. This is a crucial step towards understanding my role as an educator on a more profound level as I strive towards the betterment of my own practice.

References

Academia. (2022). Alan Sears. https://independent.academia.edu/AlanSears

- Anderson, S. (2017). Stories nations tell: Sites of Pedagogy, historical consciousness and national narratives. *Canadian Journal of Education 40*(1), 1-38.
- Antonelli, F., Pollock, K., & Ryan, J. (2009). Teacher diversity in Canada: Leaky pipelines, bottlenecks, and glass ceilings. *Canadian Journal of Education*, 32(3), 591-617.
- Assembly of Manitoba Chiefs. (2018, June 26). *The over-incarceration of First Nations people in Manitoba is a national crisis*. AMC. https://manitobachiefs.com/the-overincarceration-of-first-nations-people-in-manitoba-is-a-national-crisis/
- Association of Supervision and Curriculum Development. (2022). *Ron Brandt*. https://www.ascd.org/people/ron-brandt
- Association of Supervision and Curriculum Development. (2022). Grant Wiggens. https://www.ascd.org/people/grant-wiggins
- Battiste, M. (2004, May 29). *Animating sites of postcolonial education: Indigenous knowledge and the humanities.* Plenary Addresss presented at the CSSE Conference. Winnipeg, MB.
- Battiste, M. (2013). *Decolonizing education: Nourishing the learning spirit.* Purich Publishing. UBC Press.
- Battiste, M. (1998). Enabling the autumn seed: Toward a decolonized approach to Aboriginal knowledge, language and education. *Canadian Journal of Native Education*, 22(1), 16-27.
- Battiste, M. (2005). Postcolonial remedies for preserving Indigenous knowledge and heritage. In Muzzin, L. J., & Tripp, P. (Eds.), *Teaching as activism: Equity meets environmentalism*. (pp. 224-232). McGill-Queen's University Press.

- Bergen, J. K., & McLean, L. R. (2014). Students as citizens: Conceptions of citizenship in a social studies curriculum. *Transnational Curriculum Inquiry*, 11(2), 1-24.
- Bergen, R. (2021, September 1). Embattled education bill will not move forward under new Manitoba premier. CBC. https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/manitoba/kelvin-goertzenaddress-premier-manitoba-1.6161195
- Biesta, G. (2014). Freeing teaching from learning: Opening up existential possibilities in educational relationship. *Studies in Philosophy and Education.* 34(3), 229-243.

Braul, E. (2021, March 31). Bill 64: The public education modernization act is racist. *Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives Manitoba Office*.

https://www.policyalternatives.ca/sites/default/files/uploads/publications/Manitoba%20O ffice/2021/04/CCPA-Mb%20Bill%2064%20March%202021-final.pdf

- Burney, S. (2012). Chapter Seven: Conceptual frameworks in postcolonial theory; Applications for educational critique. *Counterpoints*, *417*, 173-193.
- Calderon, D. (2014a). Speaking back to manifest destinies: A land education-based approach to curriculum inquiry. *Environmental Canadian Research*, 20(1), 24-36.
- Calderon, D. (2014b). Uncovering settler grammars in curriculum. *Educational Studies*, 50(4), 313-338.

Canadian War Museum. (n. d.). *The Internment of Ukrainian Canadians*. https://www.warmuseum.ca/firstworldwar/history/life-at-home-during-the-war/enemyaliens/the-internment-of-ukrainian-canadians/

CBC News. (2021, July 1). 2 statues of queens toppled at Manitoba Legislature. CBC Manitoba. https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/manitoba/queen-victoria-statue-winnipeg-1.6087684 CBC News. (2020, October 1). Number of Manitoba kids in CFS down 4 per cent from last year. CBC. https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/manitoba/cfs-child-welfare-system-manitoba-families-kids-in-care-drops-annual-report-1.5746315

- CBC Radio. (Producer). (2014-present). Unreserved. [Radio show]. CBC. https://www.cbc.ca/radio/unreserved/how-the-indian-act-continues-to-impact-the-livesof-first-nation-people-1.5614187
- Christou, T. (2019, April 11). Welcome to the latest wave of 'modernizing,' 'progressive' school reforms in Ontario. The Conversation. https://theconversation.com/welcome-to-the-latest-wave-of-modernizing-progressive-school-reforms-in-ontario-113348
- City of Winnipeg Infrastructure Planning Office, Economic Research. (2018). *City of Winnipeg Indigenous peoples highlights: 2016 Canadian census.* https://winnipeg.ca/cao/pdfs/IndigenousPeople-WinnipegStatistics.pdf

Cohen, B., & Hudson, I. (2018). Manitoba inequality update: Low income families left behind.
Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives Manitoba.
https://policyalternatives.ca/sites/default/files/uploads/publications/Manitoba%20Office/2
018/06/Manitoba_Inequality_Update.pdf

- Comack, E. (2019). Policing racialized spaces. In Tomiak, J., McCreary, T., Hugill, D., Henry,
 R., & Dorries, H. (Eds.), *Settler city limits: Indigenous resurgence and colonial violence in the urban Prairie West.* (pp. 175-195). University of Manitoba Press.
- Craft, Aimée. (2013). Breathing life into the stone fort treaty: An Anishinabe understanding of Treaty One. Purich Publishing Limited.

Cutrara, S. (2020). Transforming the Canadian history classroom. UBC Press.

Cutrara, S. (2018). The settler grammar of Canadian History Curriculum: Why historical thinking is unable to respond to the TRC's calls to action. Canadian Journal of Education, (41)1, p. 250-275.

DeBono. (n.d.). Dr. Edward deBono. https://www.debono.com/about-and-contact

- Deer, F. (2008). Global citizenship: Abstraction or framework for action? *The Journal of Educational Thought, 42*(1), 69-82.
- Donald, D. (2009). Forts, curriculum, and Indigenous Métissage: Imagining decolonization of
 Aboriginal-Canadian relations in educational contexts. *First Nations Perspectives 2*(1),124.
- The Education Modernization Act, Bill 64, 42nd Leg. (2021). https://web2.gov.mb.ca/bills/42-3/b064e.php#Explanatory%20Note

Fairclough, N. (2015). Language and Power: Third edition. Routledge.

- Fowler, L. (2017). "We're rapping not trapping": Hip hop as contemporary expression of Métis culture and a conduit to literacy. [Master's Thesis, Lakehead University]. Knowledge Commons, Lakehead University Library.
- Froese, I. (2022, November 8). Presidents of 2 Manitoba universities wary of funding higher education using certain outcomes. CBC Manitoba. https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/manitoba/university-presidents-manitoba-performancebased-funding-1.6643810
- Gadamer, H, G., & Fantel, H. (1975). The problem of historical consciousness. *Graduate Faculty Philosophy Journal*, 5(1), 8-52.

Gadamer, H. (2013). Truth and method. Bloomsbury.

Gardner, H. (2022). About Howard. https://www.howardgardner.com/about

- Gebhard, A. (2018). 'Let's make a little drum': Limitations and contradictory effects of cultural approaches in Indigenous education. *Race Ethnicity and Education, 21*(6), 757-772.
- Gorman, D. (2006). *Imperial citizenship: Empire and the question of belonging*. Oxford University Press.
- Government of Canada. (2021). First Nations and Treaty Areas in Manitoba. https://www.sacisc.gc.ca/eng/1100100020576/1616073943706

Government of Canada. (2021). First Nations in Manitoba. https://www.sacisc.gc.ca/eng/1100100020400/1616072911150

Government of Manitoba. (2021). Advisory groups and task forces: Curriculum advisory panel. https://www.edu.gov.mb.ca/k12/action_plan/curriculumadvisorypanel.html

Government of Manitoba. (n.d.). Background.

https://www.edu.gov.mb.ca/k12/cur/math/framework_k-8/background.pdf

Government of Manitoba. (2021). Better education starts today. https://bettereducationmb.ca

- Government of Manitoba. (n.d.). *Manitoba commission on kindergarten to grade 12 education*. https://www.edu.gov.mb.ca/educationreview/members.html
- Government of Manitoba. (2020, March). Our children's success: Manitoba's Future, Report of the commission on K to 12 education.

https://www.edu.gov.mb.ca/educationreview/docs/public-discussion-paper.pdf

Grabish, A. (2022, October 5). Kids still waiting for school to reopen months after wildfire forced Pukatawagan residents to flee. CBC Manitoba.
https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/manitoba/pukatawagan-children-out-of-school-1.6604867

- Greenslade, B. (2017, February 10). *Manitoba government workers see wage decrease, reduced work week*. Global News. https://globalnews.ca/news/3241199/manitoba-government-workers-could-see-wage-decrease-reduced-work-week/
- Hall, C. (2002). *Civilising subjects: Metropole and colony in the British imagination*, 1830-1867.University of Chicago Press.

Heinemann. (2022). James Beane. https://www.heinemann.com/authors/4049.aspx

- Hempel, R. (2021, September 13). Members named to Manitoba's K-12 curriculum advisory panel. Global News. https://globalnews.ca/news/8184707/manitoba-k-to-12-curriculumadvisory-panel/
- Hunt, S. (2014). Ontologies of Indigeneity: the politics of embodying a concept. *Cultural Geographies*, *21*(1), 27-32.

Jørgensen, M., & Phillps, L. (2011). Discourse analysis as theory and method. London: Sage.

- Joseph, B. (2016, September 16). *Indigenous or Aboriginal: Which is correct?*. CBC. https://www.cbc.ca/news/indigenous/indigenous-aboriginal-which-is-correct-1.3771433
- Keele, J. (2021, September 30). Access to clean drinking water remains an issue in First Nations communities. CTV Winnipeg. https://winnipeg.ctvnews.ca/access-to-clean-drinkingwater-remains-an-issue-in-first-nations-communities-1.5605633
- Keele, J. (2016, December 6). 'We would like to see better results': Manitoba students fall behind compared to rest of Canada. CTV Winnipeg. https://winnipeg.ctvnews.ca/wewould-like-to-see-better-results-manitoba-students-fall-behind-compared-to-rest-ofcanada-1.3192307
- Kennedy, A. (2015). What do professional learning policies say about purposes of teacher education? *Asia-Pacific Journal of Teacher Education*, 43(3), 183-194.

Kent State Ashtabula Communications and Marketing. (2021, August 23). Campus mourns passing of award-winner and benefactor Dr. John Cogan. Kent State University. https://www.kent.edu/ashtabula/news/campus-mourns-passing-award-winner-andbenefactor-dr-john-cogan

Library and Archives Canada. (2020). Ukrainian. https://www.baclac.gc.ca/eng/discover/immigration/history-ethnic-cultural/Pages/ukrainian.aspx
Lopez, A. (2001). Posts and pasts: A theory of postcolonialism. Albany: SUNY Press.
Loomba, A. (1998). Colonialism/postcolonialism. Routledge.

Luke, A. (2000). Critical literacy in Australia: A matter of context and standpoint. *Journal of Adolescent and Adult Literacy*, 43(5), 448-461.

Macintosh, M. (2021, March 23). Province's school board decision 'bit of a mystery,' commissioner says. Winnipeg Free Press.

https://www.winnipegfreepress.com/local/provinces-school-board-decision-bit-of-amystery-commissioner-says-

574052602.html?fbclid=IwAR3YkisGwwLr38puR91XVUsQvN_ZJbr6jjUtS4ovN9WEN IKWMifIO2yk58E

- Makokis, J. (2008). Nehiyaw iskwew kiskinowâtasinahikewina paminisowwin namôya tipeyimisowin: Learning self determination through the sacred. *Canadian Woman Studies*, 26(3,4), 39-50.
- Marom, L. (2019). Under the cloak of professionalism: Covert racism in teacher education. *Race, Ethnicity and Education, 22*(3), 319-337.

- Madden, B. (2019). A de/colonizing theory of truth and reconciliation education. *Curriculum Inquiry*, *49*(3), 284-312.
- Manitoba Education and Youth. (2003). *Kindergarten to Grade 8 Social Studies*. Manitoba Curriculum Framework of Outcomes.

https://www.edu.gov.mb.ca/k12/cur/socstud/framework/k-8framework.pdf

- Manzer, R. (1994). *Public schools and political ideas: Canadian educational policy in historical perspective*. University of Toronto Press.
- Marzano Resources. (n.d.). *Robert J. Marzano*. https://www.marzanoresources.com/robert-jmarzano.html
- McClintock, A. (1992). The Angel of Progress: Pitfalls of the Term "Post-Colonialism." *Social Text*, *31/32*, 84–98. https://doi.org/10.2307/466219
- McIntosh, A. (2006, February 6). *Constitution Act, 1867*. The Canadian Encyclopedia. https://www.thecanadianencyclopedia.ca/en/article/constitution-act-1867
- McTighe & Associates Consulting. (n.d.). Jay McTighe & Associates Consulting. https://jaymctighe.com
- Medina, N. & Whitla, B. (2019). (An)Other Canada is possible: Rethinking Canada's colonial legacy. *Decolonial Horizons*, *5*, 13-42.
- Mickunas, A. (2016). Globalization, neoliberalism, and the spread of economic violence: The framework of civilization analysis. In V. Berdayes & J. W. Murphy, (Eds.), *Neoliberalism, economic radicalism, and the normalization of violence* (pp. 107-126). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-25169-1

- Miles, J. (2021). Curriculum reform in a culture of redress: How social and political pressures are shaping social studies curriculum in Canada. *Journal of Curriculum Studies*, 53(1), 47-64.
- Mineo, L. (2020, September 4). *How textbooks taught white supremacy*. The Harvard Gazette. https://news.harvard.edu/gazette/story/2020/09/harvard-historian-examines-howtextbooks-taught-white-supremacy/
- Monkman, L. (2022, January 19). First Nations people in Manitoba account for 25% of COVID-19 hospitalizations. CBC Indigenous. https://www.cbc.ca/news/indigenous/manitobafirst-nations-covid-19-hospitalizations-1.6321002
- Nabavi, M. (2010). Constructing the 'citizen' in citizenship education. Canadian Journal for New Scholars in Education (3)1, p. 1-10.
- National Centre of Collaboration in Indigenous Education. (2020). *Reconciliation and NCCIE: Shining a light on education for reconciliation*. https://www.nccie.ca/reconciliation-and-nccie/
- National Centre for Truth and Reconciliation. (2015). *Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada: Calls to Action*. http://nctr.ca/assets/reports/Calls_to_Action_English2.pdf

National Education Policy Centre. (n.d.). Michael W. Apple.

https://nepc.colorado.edu/author/apple-michael-w

- National Indian Brotherhood/Assembly of First Nations. (1973). *Indian Control of Indian Education Policy Paper*. https://oneca.comIndianControlofIndianEducation.pdf
- National Inquiry into Missing and Murdered Indigenous Women and Girls. (2016). *Reclaiming power and place: The final report of the national inquiry into missing and murdered Indigenous women and girls*. https://www.mmiwg-ffada.ca/final-report/

- Ottmann, J., & Pritchard, L. (2010). Aboriginal perspectives and the social studies curriculum. *First Nations Perspectives*, *3*(1), 21-46.
- Parker, L. (2019). Deconstructing growing success: A critical discourse analysis of Ontario's assessment policy. *Critical Education*, *10*(14), 1-18.
- Pearson, D. (2010). Theorizing citizenship in British settler societies. *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, 25(6), 989-1012.
- Pennell, C. (2016). Learning lessons from war? Inclusions and exclusions in teaching First World War history in English secondary schools. *History and Memory*, 28(1), 36-70.
- Preston, J. (2017). Racial extractivism and white settler colonialism: An examination of the Canadian tar sands mega-projects. *Cultural Studies*, *31*(2-3), 353-375.
- Queen's University. (n.d.). *Will Kymlicka*. Department of political studies. https://www.queensu.ca/politics/people/faculty/will-kymlicka
- Rollason, K (2022, June 20). Canada Day changes out of focus for The Forks: Axworthy. Winnipeg Free Press. https://www.winnipegfreepress.com/local/canada-day-changesout-of-focus-for-the-forks-axworthy-576609172.html#long-story
- Rogers, R. (Ed.). (2011). An Introduction to Critical Discourse Analysis in Education: Second edition. Routledge.
- Ross, W., Mathison, S., & Vinson, K. (2014). Social studies education and standards-based education reform in North America: Curriculum standardization, high-stakes testing, and resistance. *Revista Latinoamericana de Estudios Educativos*. 10(1), 19-48.
- Rowe, A.C., & Tuck, E. (2017). Settler colonialism and cultural studies: Ongoing settlement, cultural production, and resistance. *Cultural Studies* ↔ *Critical Methodologies*, 17(1), 3-13.

- Sage Publishing. (2022). John S. Kendall. https://us.sagepub.com/en-us/nam/author/john-s-kendall
- Samoukovic, B. (2013). Democracy in the global world: From Dewey's educational aims for social efficiency to educating a global mind. *Journal for Critical Education Policy Studies*, 11(2), 57-81.
- Schaefli, L. M., Godlewska, A. M. C., & Rose, J. (2018). Coming to know Indigeneity: Epistemologies of ignorance in the 2003-2015 Ontario Canadian and world studies curriculum. *Curriculum inquiry*, 48(4), 475-498.
- Seidel, J. (2020, December 11). Curriculum studies in Canada seminar series: Imagining ecologically-oriented and life-serving curriculum practices in a hostile petrostate (Alberta, Canada) [Webinar]. Curriculum studies in Canada. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=uVKg98O0ndY
- Sharpe, B. (2021, April 20). *Like many Alberta parents, our new elementary curriculum has me up in arms*. CBC. https://www.cbc.ca/parents/learning/view/alberta-curriculum-parents
- Sinclair, N. (2022, April 22). Monument built on exploitation to be rebuilt on reconciliation. Winnipeg Free Press. https://www.winnipegfreepress.com/local/monument-built-onexploitation-to-be-rebuilt-on-reconciliation-576423802.html
- Sinclair, N. (2021, July 2). Vandalism is in the eye of the beholder. Winnipeg Free Press. https://www.winnipegfreepress.com/local/2021/07/02/vandalism-is-in-the-eye-of-thebeholder
- Sleeter, C. (2017). Critical race theory and the whiteness of teacher education. *Urban Education*, 52(2), 155-169.

- Southern Chiefs' Organization Inc. (2022). A bold vision for a new future: Economic reconciliation the focus of SCO's plans for Winnipeg's historic Hudson's Bay building. https://scoinc.mb.ca/a-new-future-wehwehneh-bahgahkinahgohn/
- Spina, N. (2018). Race, empire and the making of the global citizen in the Ontario curriculum (1920s-2010s). [Doctoral dissertation, University of Toronto]. University of Toronto TSpace.
- St. Denis, V. (2011). Silencing aboriginal curricular content and perspectives through multiculturalism: "There are other children here". *Review of Education, Pedagogy, and Cultural Studies*, 33(4), 306-317.
- Starblanket, G., & Hunt, D. (2020). *Storytelling violence: Unravelling colonial narratives in the Stanley trial.* ARP Books.
- Stefanovich, O. (2021, June 10). NDP push to declare residential schools a genocide defeated in the House. CBC. https://www.cbc.ca/news/politics/ndp-residential-school-genocidemotion-vote-rejected-1.6061006
- Taras Shevchenko Museum. (2021). Community Stories: First Wave of Ukrainian Immigration to Canada 1891-1914. https://www.communitystories.ca/v1/pm v2.phpid=story line&lg=English&fl=0&ex=

464&sl=5504&pos=1

Taylor & Francis Group. (n.d.). *Multidimensional citizenship: Educational policy for the 21st century*. https://www.taylorfrancis.com/chapters/mono/10.4324/9781315880877-13/multidimensional-citizenship-educational-policy-21st-century-cogan-john-professor-education-university-minnesota-usa-derricott-ray-director-centre-continuing-education-university-liverpool

The Council of Canadians. (n.d.). Safe water for First Nations. https://canadians.org/fn-water

- Tomiak, J., McCreary, T., Hugill, D., Henry, R., & Dorries, H. (2019). Settler city limits: Indigenous resurgence and colonial violence in the urban prairie west. University of Manitoba Press.
- Treaty Relations Commission of Manitoba. (2022). *Teaching treaties K-12*. https://trcm.ca/education/teaching-treaties/
- Tuck, E. (2014). Neoliberalism as nihilism? A commentary on educational accountability, teacher education, and school reform. *Journal for Critical Education Policy Studies*, 11(2),324-347.
- Tuck, E., & Gaztambide-Fernández, R. (2013). Curriculum, replacement, and settler futurity. *Journal of Curriculum Theorizing*. 29(1), 72-89.
- Tuck, E., Gorlewski, J. (2016). Racist ordering, settler colonialism, and edTPA: A participatory policy analysis. *Educational Policy*, *30*(1), 197-217.
- Tuck, E., & Yang, K. W. (2012). Decolonization is not a metaphor. *Decolonization: Indigeneity, education & society, 1*(1), 1-40.
- University of Manitoba. (2015, April). *Briefing note on terminology*. https://umanitoba.ca/student/indigenous/terminology.html
- Vangool, H. (2020, September 3). Schools need BIOIC educators now more than ever. CBC. https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/saskatoon/op-ed-sask-diversity-teachers-bipoc-1.5703711

- Viruru, R. (2005). Postcolonial theory and the practice of teacher education. In S. Ryan & S.
 Grieshaber (eds.), *practical transformations and transformational practices:* globalization, postmodernism, and early childhood education (pp. 139–160). Jai Press
 Inc.
- Woolford, A., & Benvenuto, J. (2015). Canada and colonial genocide. *Journal of genocide* research, 17(4), 373-390.
- Woolford, A., & Curran, A. (2011). Neoliberal restructuring, limited autonomy, and relational distance in Manitoba's nonprofit field. *Critical Social Policy 31*(4), 583-606.
- Xie, S. (1997). Rethinking the problem of postcolonialism. New Literary History, 28(1), 7-19.
- Yeo, D. (2008). School division/district amalgamation in Manitoba: A case study of a public policy decision. [Doctoral dissertation, University of Manitoba]. University of Manitoba, MSpace.
- Young, J., & Graham, R. J. (2000). School and curriculum reform: Manitoba frameworks & multicultural teacher education. *Canadian Ethnic Studies Journal*, *32*(1), 142-200.

Young, R. J. C. (2001). Postcolonialism: An historical introduction. Oxford: Blackwell.

Appendix A

SLO Codes by grade

Kindergarten	/ Distinctive Indig	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
remoter garten	Landmarks	Geography	 Geography 	 Geography 	Settlers	 Colonization as 	 Global "other" 	 Past vs.
 Communit 	 Geography 	 Geography Study an 	 Geography Multicultural 	 Geography Power 	Settler	 Colonization as identity 	 Global other quality of life 	 Past vs. present
V			Global		interactions		1	
Rules	Canada's	Aboriginal community		 Patriotism 	with	 Justification of colonization 	 Global "other" demographics 	 Past vs. Present
	Language		community	 Geography 			demographics	
Rules	 Rules 	Rules	exploration	 Patriotism 	Indigenous	 Land expansion 	 Indigenous 	 Impact of
Rules	 Rules 	 Research 	 Global 	 Research 	peoples	 Multicultural 	awareness	globalizat
Communi-	 Research 	 Research 	Indigenous	 Geography 	 Explorer 	(settler moves	 Global "other" 	
cate	 Geography 	 Research 	community	 Indigenous 	experiences	to innocence	quality of life	colonizat
Stories of	 Consequence 	 Rules 	exploration	contributions	 Settler 	SMTI)	 Global "other" 	 Past vs.
the past	 Rules 	 Community 	 Patriotism 	 Rules 	experiences	 Citizenship 	quality of life	present
	• War	• War	• War	 Rules 	 First Peoples 	(SMTI)	 Global 	 Impact of
	 Community 	 Community 	 Rules 	 Rules 	 Colonization 	 Global 	compare and	globaliza
	 Indigenous 	 Multicultura 	 Research 	 Rules 	 Manitoba 	connections	contrast with	 Past vs.
	identity	1	 Geography 	 Research 	Métis	 Citizenship 	Canadian	present
	 Francophone 	 Community 	 Research 	Research	 Explorer 	(SMTI)	lifestyle	 Worldvie
	identity	 Indigenous 	 Rules 	 Geography 	experiences	 Land expansion 	 Canadian 	 Theories
	· Identity and	community	 Citizenship 		 Manitoba 	 Justification of 	responsibility/	origin of
	culture	 Multicultura 	 Citizenship 	Research	Métis	colonization	saviour	human lit
		• Muncunura		 Geography 	 Settler 	 Manitoba's 	 Global 	· Past vs.
	 Multiculturalis 	1 ALLIN IN	 Patriotism 	 Geography 	experiences	formation	geography and	present
	m	 Multicultura 	 Canada's 	 Geography 	Settlers shaped	 Justification of 	demographics	Sources of
	 Community 		Languages	 Research 	 Settiers snaped Canada 	 Justification of colonization 	 The global 	history
	 Canada's 	 Indigenous 	• War	 Conflict 			"other"	Bronze a;
	language	culture	 Multicultural 	 Research 	Settler	 Settler moves 	Global "other"	
	 Indigenous 	 Francophon 	 Indigenous 	 Research 	experiences	to innocence		study-
	languages	e culture	community	Research	• War	 Settler 	quality of life	ancient
	 Patriotism 	 Natural 	 Francophone 	Rules	 Settlers shaped 	experiences	 Global "other" 	societies
	 Canada's 	resources	community		Canada	 Multicultural 	quality of life	• Life in th
	language	 Geography 	Power	Rules	 Multicultural 	(SMTI)	Global	Bronze A
	 Community 	 Community 	Conflict	 Comprehensio 	Settler	 Canadian 	agencies	ancient
	Human Needs	 Indigenous 	Rules	n	interactions	government -	 Global 	societies
	Human Needs Community	community	Rules	 Geography 	with	Indigenous	disparity	 Life in th
		 Francophon 		 Geography 	Indigenous	relations	 Global 	Bronze A
	 Geography 			 Geography 	peoples	 Terra Nullius 	compare and	ancient
	 Indigenous 	e	concerns	 Geography 	 Métis culture 	 Conflict 	contrast of	societies
	landmarks	community	 Equity 	 Geography 	 Conflict 	Settler	Canadian	 Ancient
	 Francophone 	 Leadership 	 Geography 	 Geography 	resolution	experiences	lifestyle	societies
	landmarks	 Conflict 	 Global 	 Patriotism 	Rules	 Consolidation 	· Global "other"	· Life in
	 Non-Indigenous 	 Community 	concerns				Global	Ancient
	relationship	 Indigenous 	Global	 Patriotism 	 Conflict 	of power		Greece ar
	with	community	concerns	 Citizenship 	resolution	 Global 	compare and	Rome
	environment	 Power 	Human	 Indigenous 	 Conflict 	connections	contrast with	
	 Indigenous 	 Conflict 	needs	citizenship	Resolution	 Canada's 	Canadian	Contribut
	relationship	Community	needs	 Francophone 	 Conflict 	heroism	lifestyle	s of Anci
	renarionanip	- Community		citizenship	resolution			
	with	 Natural 	 Human 	 Power 	 Rules 	 Settler moves 	 Western 	Greece &
	environment	resources	needs	 Power 	 Research 	to innocence	economic	Rome
	 Rules 	 Natural 	 Global 	 Power 	 Research 	 Multicultural 	impact	 Ancient
	 Community 	resources	connections	 Indigenous 	 Research 	 Democracy in 	 Westernization 	Greece
	 Culture 	 Natural 	 Global 	leadership	 Research 	Canada	 Human impact 	 Ancient
	 Human Needs 	resources	concerns	 Power 	 Research 	 Power 	on society in	Rome
	 Global 	 Community 	 Multicultural 	 Conflict 	 Geography 	 Right to 	the global	 The Midd
	connection	 First 	 Indigenous 	Rules	 Geography 	multiculturalis	"other"	Ages
	 Community 	Peoples	culture	 Power 	 Geography 	m	 Human impact 	 The Midd
	Rules	 Settlers 	 Community 	Media	 Geography 	 Resources 	on society in	Ages
	Rules	 Resources 	 Multicultural 	influence	 Geography Geography 	 Consolidation 	the global	 Conquests
	 Community 	 Economy 	 Comparing 	Rules	Research	of power	"other"	 Contributi
	 Multicultural 	 Multicultura 	communities	 Citizenship 	Conflict	 Conflict 	 Human impact 	s of Midd
	Rules	1	Resources	Power	 Conflict resolution 	resolution	on society in	Ages
	- males	 Indigenous 	 Multicultural 	Rules		Rules	the global	 Contributi
	1	community	 Geography 	Rules	Research	Conflict	"other"	s of Midd
	1	 Francophon 	 Economy 	 Kules Multicultural 	Research	resolution	 Economy and 	Ages
		c	Resources	 Multicultural Multicultural 	Research Research	 rules 	resources in	 Transition
		community	Media	Multicultural art	Research Research	Conflict	the global	Modern E
		 Stories 	influence		Research	resolution	"other"	 Modern
		 Economy 	 Multicultural 	 Indigenous art 	Research	Rules	 Student role as 	advances
	1	 Patriotism 	 Geography 	and culture	 Research and 	Research	citizens	 Conquest
	1	 Multicultura 		 Francophone and culture 	bias	Research	 Conflict 	and
	1	1		art and culture	 Research 	Research	resolution	Colonizat
		 Multicultura 	Resources	 Indigenous 	 Research and 	Research	 Rules 	 Contributi
		1	Economy Ancient	culture and	bias	Research	 Conflict 	s of societ
		 Geography 	 Ancient 	community	 Rules 		resolution	studied
	1		community	 Indigenous 	 Research 	Geography Geography	· Work together	 Conflict
	1	 Francophon e history 	 Ancient 	community	 Research and 	 Geography 	 Conflict 	resolution
	1	Global	culture	 Francophone 	communication	 Geography 	resolution	 Rules
	1	 Global connections 	 Ancient 	community	 Communicatio 	 Geography 	 Rules 	 Conflict
			culture	 Francophone 	n	 Geography 	 Research 	resolution
		 Human 	 Interest of 	community	 Communicatio 	 Research 	 Research 	• Work
				 Culture and 	n	 Conflict 	 Research 	together
		needs	past societies		· First Peoples as	resolution		
		 Media 	 Contribution 	identity				
		 Media influence 	 Contribution s of past 	 Indigenous 	settlers	 Research 	Research	 Conflict resolution
		 Media influence Patriotism 	 Contribution 		settlers	 Research Research 	 Research 	resolution
		 Media influence Patriotism Conflict 	 Contribution s of past 	 Indigenous 	settlersIndigenous		ResearchGeography	resolutionRules
		 Media influence Patriotism 	 Contribution s of past 	 Indigenous culture 	 settlers Indigenous culture before 	ResearchResearch	 Research Geography Geography 	resolutionRulesResearch
		 Media influence Patriotism Conflict 	 Contribution s of past 	 Indigenous culture Francophone 	 settlers Indigenous culture before settlers 	 Research Research Research 	 Research Geography Geography Geography 	resolution • Rules • Research • Research
		 Media influence Patriotism Conflict Art 	 Contribution s of past 	 Indigenous culture Francophone culture Geography 	settlers Indigenous culture before settlers Indigenous 	 Research Research Research Research 	 Research Geography Geography 	resolution • Rules • Research • Research • Research
		 Media influence Patriotism Conflict Art Global 	 Contribution s of past 	 Indigenous culture Francophone culture Geography Geography 	settlers Indigenous culture before settlers Indigenous culture before	 Research Research Research Research Research 	 Research Geography Geography Geography 	resolution • Rules • Research • Research
		 Media influence Patriotism Conflict Art Global 	 Contribution s of past 	 Indigenous culture Francophone culture Geography Geography Geography and 	settlers Indigenous culture before settlers Indigenous culture before settlers 	 Research Research Research Research Research Research, bias 	 Research Geography Geography Geography Geography 	resolution Rules Research Research Research Research Research
		 Media influence Patriotism Conflict Art Global 	 Contribution s of past 	 Indigenous culture Francophone culture Geography Geography 	settlers Indigenous culture before settlers Indigenous culture before	 Research Research Research Research Research 	 Research Geography Geography Geography Geography Geography Geography 	resolution • Rules • Research • Research • Research • Research

RUNNING HEAD: Critical Discourse Analysis of Manitoba's K-8 Social Studies Documents 136

General code / Distinctive Indigenous content / Distinctive F	rancophone conten	t / Indigenous cor	ntent for everyone	/Franc. content	for everyone
	 Demographics 	 Indigenous 	Rules	 Research 	 Geography
	 Environment 	culture before	 Research 	 Research 	 Geography
	 Indigenous 	settlers	 Research/ 	 Research 	 Geography
	knowledge Landmarks	 Indigenous culture before 	 communication Communication 	Research	Research
	Global	settlers	Communication	 Research Research 	 Conflict resolution
	connections	 Indigenous 	Consolidation	 Research, bias 	 Research
	Global	culture before	of power	Research	Research
	concerns	settlers	 Citizenship 	 Research 	 Research
	 Multicultural 	 Indigenous 	 power 	· Research, bias	 Research
	 Culture 	 leadership Indigenous 	 Treaty impact 	 Rules 	 Research
	 Indigenous 	culture before	on Indigenous	 Research 	 Research
	 global 	settlers	 Settler struggle 	 Research/ communicatio 	 Research, bias
	connections	 Indigenous 	• Settler	n	Research
	 Multicultural 	culture before	experiences	 Communicate 	Research
	 Indigenous 	settlers Power	 Immigration: 	 Communicate 	· Research,
	contributions	Settler	Consolidation	 Mapping skills 	bias
	 Indigenous identity 	experiences	 of power Settler struggle 	 Mapping skills 	 Prejudice in
	 Francophone 	(British and	Settler	 Global demographics 	media Rules
	contributions	French)	experiences	 French 	Research
	 Francophone 	 Settler experiences 	 Settler 	colonization	· Research/
	identity	(French)	experiences	 Settler 	communicat
	 Settlers Settler 	 Settler 	 Geography Settler 	experiences	e
	 Settler interactions 	geography	geography	 Mapping skills 	Communic.
	with	 Settler 	 Formation of 	 Western worldview 	 Communic. Worldview
	Indigenous	experiences	Manitoba	Western	 Society vs.
	peoples	 Settler experiences 	(Métis	worldview	civilization
	 Manitoba history 	(terra nullius)	included)	 Economy and 	 Reasons for
	Settler	Settler	 Francophone leadership 	resources	societal
	interactions	interactions	 Consolidation 	 Compare and contrast 	change • Power in
	with	with	of power	contrast Canada with	 Power in society
	Indigenous	Indigenous peoples	 Power 	the global	· Theories of
	peoples	• War	 Resources, 	"other"	the origin of
	 Manitoba history 	 Settler 	 Resources, 	 Compare and 	human life
	Valuing	interactions	 Resources, power 	contrast Canada with	 Hunter-
	history	with	 Indigenous 	the global	gatherer vs. agrarian
	 Valuing 	Indigenous peoples	leadership	"other"	ag, ar rain
	history	peoples	 Consolidation 		
			of power		
	 Indigenous 	 Settler 	 Celebration of 	 Compare and 	 Hunter-
	contributions	experiences	colonization	contrast	gatherer vs.
	 Indigenous 	 Settler 	 Resources, 	Canada with	agrarian
	culture	experiences	power	the global	 Impact of
	 Geography 	• War	 Citizenship 	"other"	societal
	 Resources 	 Colonization 	 Justification of 	 Canadian 	development
	 Demographics 	 Settler 	colonization	responsibility	 Research
	 Geographical 	experiences	 Settler struggle 	 Canadian war effort/ saviour 	 Research
	colonialism	 Justification of 	 Settler 	 Global "other" 	Rules
	 Indigenous 	 Justification of 	 experiences "Settler moves 	lifestyle	 Appreciate sustainability
	culture	 Justification of colonization 	 Settler moves to innocence" 	 Recognize 	
	Culture	 Power 	 Resources, 	racism	 Ancient society
	 Geography Northeam 	Compare	power	 Identity 	people
	Northern	Indigenous and	• War	 Global events 	 Ancient
	lifestyle	European ways	 Positioning of 	 Settler 	society
	 Economy 	of life	Indigenous	experiences	contributions
		 Indigenous 	peoples in	 Global 	 Ancient
		contributions	relation to	connections	society
		of colonial	colonization	 Global 	geography
		Canada	 Resources 	organizations	 Ancient
		 Colonial 	 Settler 	 Human rights 	society
		contributions	experiences	 Power and 	people
		 Settler and 	 Consolidation 	leadership	 Ancient
		Indigenous	of power	 Power and 	society
		experiences	 Celebration of 	leadership	contributions
		 Colonization of 	colonization	 Power and 	 Ancient
		resources	 Consolidation 	leadership	society
		Fur trade	of power	 Power and 	characteristic
		experiences	 Canada's war 	leadership	 Ancient
		Geography Geography	effort Conside's mar	 Power and leadership 	power
		 Geography and Geography and 	 Canada's war 	leadership	 Ancient
		fur trade experiences	 effort Canada's war 	 Human rights 	society
		Fur trade	 Canada's war effort 	 Human rights Citizenship 	contributions
		 Fur trade impact 	 Canada's war 	 Citizenship Canadian 	 Ancient
		Fur trade	 Canada's war effort 	 Canadian saviour 	society
		impact	 Consolidation 	 Citizenship 	contributions
		 Experience of 	 Consolidation of power 	 Citizenship Power and 	 Ancient
		European fur	 Resources 	 Power and leadership 	society
			***************	readership	
		traders	Resources	Recognize	contributions
			 Resources Settler 	 Recognize racism 	 Ancient
		traders	 Settler 	racism	 Ancient society
		traders Colonial 		~	 Ancient

RUNNING HEAD: Critical Discourse Analysis of Manitoba's K-8 Social Studies Documents 137

/ Distinctive Indige	enous content / Distinctiv	e Francophone content	t / Indigenous con	ntent for everyone	/Franc. content f	or everyone
			 Settler 	 Celebration of 	 Examine 	 Life in
	1 1		interactions	colonization	western	Ancient
			with	 Canada's war 	worldview	Greece
	1 1		Indigenous peoples	effort Colobertion of	Global	 Power in
	1 1		 European and 	 Celebration of colonization 	 commodities Global "other" 	Ancient Greece
	1 1		settler impacts	 Multicultural, 	 Giobal other lifestyle 	 Comparing
	1 1		 Settler 	power	 Westernization 	Ancient
	1 1		challenges	 Control of 	in the global	Greece and
	1 1		 Indigenous 	Indigenous	other	Canada
	1 1		contributions	peoples	· Global "other"	 Comparing
	1 1		to colonial	 Francophone 	poverty	Ancient
	1 1		Canada	perspectives	 Global "other" 	Greece and
	1 1		 Settler 	 Colonial 	geography	Rome
	1 1		economy bestification of	geography	 Global "other" 	 Greek
	1 1		 Justification of colonization 	 Celebration of 	economy and	 Religious
	1 1		 Justification of 	 colonization Canada's war 	 Global "other" 	influence
	1 1		resource	 Canada s war effort 	 Global other power and 	 Empire
	1 1		colonization	Global	leadership	expansion
	1 1		 Citizenship 	connections	· Global "other"	 Life in
	1 1		· Citizenship and	· Celebrations of	economy and	Ancient
	1 1		racism	democracy	resources	Greece &
			 Citizenship 	 Economy 	 Impacts of 	Rome
			 Settler 	· Resources,	Westernization	 Contribution
			experiences	economy	on Indigenous	of Ancient
			 Settler racism 	 Multicultural 	peoples	Greece &
			 Colonial life 	(SMTI)	around world	 Ancient
			 Formation of 	 Valuing 	 Impacts of westernization 	 Ancient society
	1 1		Canada Coloniantion of	Indigenous	 Global "other" 	characteristic
			 Colonization of Métis 	culture	economy and	Rise/
			Settler	 Valuing Erancophone 	resources	Decline of
			 Settier experiences 	Francophone culture	Global	Ancient
			 Justification of 	 Multicultural 	knowledge	Greece &
	1 1		colonization	(SMTI)	 Multicultural 	Rome
			• War	 Celebrating 	global	 Power in
	1 1		 Formation of 	Canada	knowledge	Ancient
			Canada	 Celebrating 	 Global "other" 	Rome
			 Justification of 	Canada	quality of life	 Empire
			colonization	 Canadian 	 Decline of 	 expansion War
			 Men involved 	legislation	Indigenous culture	 Roman
			in formation of	 Citizenship 	culture	 Roman economy
			Canada		-	conomy
			 Justification of 	 Celebrating 	 Global 	 Contribution
			colonization	Canadian	mapping skills	of Ancient
			 Rules 	identity	 Global 	Greece &
			 Rules 	 Francophone 	westernization	Rome
			 Colonization as 	influence	 Human impact 	 Contribution
			identity	 Celebrating Canada 	 Human impact 	of Ancient Greece &
			 Justification of 	Canadian	 Economy and 	
		1 1	colonization		resources	
1 1		1 1				Rome Contribution
			 Multicultural 	legislation	 Human impact 	 Contribution
			MulticulturalJustification of	legislationCelebrating	 Human impact Human impact 	 Contribution of Ancient
			 Multicultural Justification of colonization 	 Celebrating Canada 	 Human impact Human impact Power and 	 Contribution
			 Multicultural Justification of colonization Impact of 	 legislation Celebrating Canada Multicultural 	 Human impact Human impact Power and resources 	 Contribution of Ancient Greece &
			 Multicultural Justification of colonization Impact of colonization in 	 Celebrating Canada 	 Human impact Human impact Power and resources Power and 	 Contribution of Ancient Greece & Rome
			 Multicultural Justification of colonization Impact of 	legislation Celebrating Canada Multicultural identity	 Human impact Human impact Power and resources Power and economy 	 Contribution of Ancient Greece & Rome Respect opinions Contribution
			 Multicultural Justification of colonization Impact of colonization in present day 	legislation Celebrating Canada Multicultural identity Indigenous	 Human impact Human impact Power and resources Power and 	Contribution of Ancient Greece & Rome Respect opinions Contribution of Ancient
			 Multicultural Justification of colonization Impact of colonization in present day Global 	legislation Celebrating Canada Multicultural identity Indigenous leadership Francophone leadership	 Human impact Human impact Power and resources Power and economy Human impact 	 Contribution of Ancient Greece & Rome Respect opinions Contribution of Ancient societies
			 Multicultural Justification of colonization Impact of colonization in present day Global 	legislation Celebrating Canada Multicultural identity Indigenous leadership Francophone leadership Celebrating	 Human impact Human impact Power and resources Power and economy Human impact in urban 	 Contribution of Ancient Greece & Rome Respect opinions Contribution of Ancient societies Citizenship
			 Multicultural Justification of colonization Impact of colonization in present day Global 	legislation • Celebrating Canada • Multicultural identity • Indigenous leadership • Francophone leadership • Celebrating Canada	 Human impact Human impact Power and resources Power and economy Human impact in urban centres Global "other" human impact 	 Contribution of Ancient Greece & Rome Respect opinions Contribution of Ancient societies Citizenship Islamic
			 Multicultural Justification of colonization Impact of colonization in present day Global 	legislation Celebrating Canada Multicultural identity Indigenous leadership Francophone leadership Celebrating Canada Resources	 Human impact Human impact Power and resources Power and economy Human impact in urban centres Global "other" human impact in urban 	 Contribution of Ancient Greece & Rome Respect opinions Contribution of Ancient societies Citizenship Islamic contribution
			 Multicultural Justification of colonization Impact of colonization in present day Global 	legislation Celebrating Canada Multicultural identity Indigenous leadership Francophone leadership Celebrating Canada Resources Indigenous	 Human impact Human impact Power and resources Power and economy Human impact in urban centres Global "other" human impact in urban centres 	Contribution of Ancient Greece & Rome Respect opinions Contribution of Ancient societies Citizenship Islamic contribution in Middle
			 Multicultural Justification of colonization Impact of colonization in present day Global 	legislation Celebrating Canada Multicultural identity Indigenous leadership Francophone leadership Celebrating Canada Resources Indigenous identity	 Human impact Human impact Power and resources Power and economy Human impact in urban centres Global "other" human impact in urban centres Global "other" 	 Contribution of Ancient Greece & Rome Respect opinions Contribution of Ancient societies Citizenship Islamic contribution in Middle Ages
			 Multicultural Justification of colonization Impact of colonization in present day Global 	legislation Celebrating Canada Multicultural identity Indigenous leadership Francophone leadership Celebrating Canada Resources Indigenous identity Global	 Human impact Human impact Power and resources Power and economy Human impact in urban centres Global "other" human impact in urban centres Global "other" human impact 	 Contribution of Ancient Greece & Rome Respect opinions Contribution of Ancient societies Citizenship Islamic contribution in Middle Ages Chinese
			 Multicultural Justification of colonization Impact of colonization in present day Global 	legislation Celebrating Canada Multicultural identity Indigenous leadership Francophone leadership Celebrating Canada Resources Indigenous identity Global connections	 Human impact Human impact Power and resources Power and economy Human impact in urban centres Global "other" human impact in urban centres Global "other" human impact Global "other" human impact Global "other" 	 Contribution of Ancient Greece & Rome Respect opinions Contribution of Ancient societies Citizenship Islamic contribution in Middle Ages Chinese contribution
			 Multicultural Justification of colonization Impact of colonization in present day Global 	legislation Celebrating Canada Multicultural identity Indigenous leadership Francophone leadership Celebrating Canada Resources Indigenous identity Global connections Indigenous	 Human impact Human impact Power and resources Power and economy Human impact in urban centres Global "other" human impact in urban centres Global "other" human impact Global "other" human impact 	 Contribution of Ancient Greece & Rome Respect opinions Contribution of Ancient societies Citizenship Islamic contribution in Middle Ages Chinese
			 Multicultural Justification of colonization Impact of colonization in present day Global 	legislation Celebrating Canada Multicultural identity Indigenous leadership Francophone leadership Celebrating Canada Resources Indigenous identity Global connections Indigenous leadership	 Human impact Human impact Power and resources Power and economy Human impact in urban centres Global "other" human impact Global "other" human impact Global "other" human impact Student 	 Contribution of Ancient Greece & Rome Respect opinions Contribution of Ancient societies Citizenship Islamic contribution in Middle Ages Chinese contribution in Middle
			 Multicultural Justification of colonization Impact of colonization in present day Global 	legislation Celebrating Canada Multicultural identity Indigenous leadership Francophone leadership Celebrating Canada Resources Indigenous identity Global connections Indigenous leadership Power	 Human impact Human impact Power and resources Power and economy Human impact in urban centres Global "other" human impact in urban centres Global "other" human impact Global "other" human impact Global "other" human impact Student willingness to 	 Contribution of Ancient Greece & Rome Respect opinions Contribution of Ancient societies Citizenship Islamic contribution in Middle Ages Chinese contribution in Middle Ages
			 Multicultural Justification of colonization Impact of colonization in present day Global 	legislation Celebrating Canada Multicultural identity Indigenous leadership Francophone leadership Celebrating Canada Resources Indigenous identity Global connections Indigenous leadership Power Power	 Human impact Human impact Power and resources Power and economy Human impact in urban centres Global "other" human impact Global "other" human impact Global "other" human impact Student willingness to take action 	 Contribution of Ancient Greece & Rome Respect opinions Contribution of Ancient societies Citizenship Islamic contribution in Middle Ages Chinese contribution in Middle Ages Fall of
			 Multicultural Justification of colonization Impact of colonization in present day Global 	legislation Celebrating Canada Multicultural identity Indigenous leadership Francophone leadership Celebrating Canada Resources Indigenous identity Global connections Indigenous leadership Power Power Electoral power	 Human impact Human impact Power and resources Power and economy Human impact in urban centres Global "other" human impact in urban centres Global "other" human impact Global "other" human impact Student willingness to take action Student 	 Contribution of Ancient Greece & Rome Respect opinions Contribution of Ancient societies Citizenship Islamic contribution in Middle Ages Chinese contribution in Middle Ages Fall of Roman Empire Crusade
			 Multicultural Justification of colonization Impact of colonization in present day Global 	legislation Celebrating Canada Multicultural identity Indigenous leadership Francophone leadership Celebrating Canada Resources Indigenous identity Global connections Indigenous leadership Power Power Electoral power Division of	 Human impact Human impact Power and resources Power and economy Human impact in urban centres Global "other" human impact Global "other" human impact Global "other" human impact Student willingness to take action 	 Contribution of Ancient Greece & Rome Respect opinions Contribution of Ancient societies Citizenship Islamic contribution in Middle Ages Chinese contribution in Middle Ages Fall of Roman Empire Crusade motivations
			 Multicultural Justification of colonization Impact of colonization in present day Global 	legislation Celebrating Canada Multicultural identity Indigenous leadership Francophone leadership Celebrating Canada Resources Indigenous identity Global connections Indigenous leadership Power Power Power Electoral power Division of power	 Human impact Human impact Power and resources Power and economy Human impact in urban centres Global "other" human impact in urban centres Global "other" human impact Global "other" human impact Student willingness to take action Student understanding 	 Contribution of Ancient Greece & Rome Respect opinions Contribution of Ancient societies Citizenship Islamic contribution in Middle Ages Chinese contribution in Middle Ages Fall of Roman Empire Crusade motivations Medieval
			 Multicultural Justification of colonization Impact of colonization in present day Global 	legislation Celebrating Canada Multicultural identity Indigenous leadership Francophone leadership Celebrating Canada Resources Indigenous identity Global connections leadership Power Power Electoral power Lindigenous Indigenous In	 Human impact Human impact Power and resources Power and economy Human impact in urban centres Global "other" human impact in urban centres Global "other" human impact Global "other" human impact Student willingness to <u>take action</u> Student understanding of 	 Contribution of Ancient Greece & Rome Respect opinions Contribution of Ancient societies Citizenship Islamic contribution in Middle Ages Chinese contribution in Middle Ages Chinese contribution in Middle Ages Fall of Roman Empire Crusade motivations Medieval Europe
			 Multicultural Justification of colonization Impact of colonization in present day Global 	legislation Celebrating Canada Multicultural identity Indigenous leadership Francophone leadership Celebrating Canada Resources Indigenous identity Global connections Indigenous leadership Power Power Electoral power Division of power Indigenous leadership	 Human impact Human impact Power and resources Power and economy Human impact in urban centres Global "other" human impact in urban centres Global "other" human impact Global "other" human impact Student willingness to <u>take action</u> Student understanding of 	 Contribution of Ancient Greece & Rome Respect opinions Contribution of Ancient societies Citizenship Islamic contribution in Middle Ages Chinese contribution in Middle Ages Fall of Roman Empire Crusade motivations Medieval Europe Historical
			 Multicultural Justification of colonization Impact of colonization in present day Global 	legislation Celebrating Canada Multicultural identity Indigenous leadership Francophone leadership Celebrating Canada Resources Indigenous identity Global connections Indigenous leadership Power Power Power Electoral power Division of power Indigenous leadership identity Indigenous Indigen	 Human impact Human impact Power and resources Power and economy Human impact in urban centres Global "other" human impact in urban centres Global "other" human impact Global "other" human impact Student willingness to <u>take action</u> Student understanding of 	 Contribution of Ancient Greece & Rome Respect opinions Contribution of Ancient societies Citizenship Islamic contribution in Middle Ages Chinese contribution in Middle Ages Fall of Roman Empire Crusade motivations Medieval Europe Historical events in the
			 Multicultural Justification of colonization Impact of colonization in present day Global 	legislation Celebrating Canada Multicultural identity Indigenous leadership Francophone leadership Celebrating Canada Resources Indigenous identity Global connections Indigenous leadership Power Electoral power Electoral power Indigenous leadership Power Division of power Indigenous leadership Indigenous leadership Indigenous leadership Indigenous leadership Indigenous leadership Indigenous leadership Inequity Democratic	 Human impact Human impact Power and resources Power and economy Human impact in urban centres Global "other" human impact in urban centres Global "other" human impact Global "other" human impact Student willingness to <u>take action</u> Student understanding of 	 Contribution of Ancient Greece & Rome Respect opinions Contribution of Ancient societies Citizenship Islamic contribution in Middle Ages Chinese contribution in Middle Ages Fall of Roman Empire Crusade motivations Medieval Europe Historical events in the Middle Ages
			 Multicultural Justification of colonization Impact of colonization in present day Global 	legislation Celebrating Canada Multicultural identity Indigenous leadership Francophone leadership Celebrating Canada Resources Indigenous identity Global connections Indigenous leadership Power Power Electoral power Division of power Indigenous leadership Inequity Democratic responsibility	 Human impact Human impact Power and resources Power and economy Human impact in urban centres Global "other" human impact in urban centres Global "other" human impact Global "other" human impact Student willingness to <u>take action</u> Student understanding of 	 Contribution of Ancient Greece & Rome Respect opinions Contribution of Ancient societies Citizenship Islamic contribution in Middle Ages Chinese contribution in Middle Ages Fall of Roman Empire Crusade motivations Medieval Europe Historical events in the Middle Ages Contribution
			 Multicultural Justification of colonization Impact of colonization in present day Global 	legislation Celebrating Canada Multicultural identity Indigenous leadership Francophone leadership Celebrating Canada Resources Indigenous identity Global connections Indigenous leadership Power Electoral power Electoral power Indigenous leadership Power Division of power Indigenous leadership Indigenous leadership Indigenous leadership Indigenous leadership Indigenous leadership Indigenous leadership Inequity Democratic	 Human impact Human impact Power and resources Power and economy Human impact in urban centres Global "other" human impact in urban centres Global "other" human impact Global "other" human impact Student willingness to <u>take action</u> Student understanding of 	 Contribution of Ancient Greece & Rome Respect opinions Contribution of Ancient societies Citizenship Islamic contribution in Middle Ages Chinese contribution in Middle Ages Fall of Roman Empire Crusade motivations Medieval Europe Historical events in the Middle Ages Contribution of Middle
			 Multicultural Justification of colonization Impact of colonization in present day Global 	legislation Celebrating Canada Multicultural identity Indigenous leadership Francophone leadership Celebrating Canada Resources Indigenous identity Global connections Indigenous leadership Power Power Electoral power Indigenous leadership Inequity Democratic responsibility Indigenous	 Human impact Human impact Power and resources Power and economy Human impact in urban centres Global "other" human impact in urban centres Global "other" human impact Global "other" human impact Student willingness to <u>take action</u> Student understanding of 	 Contribution of Ancient Greece & Rome Respect opinions Contribution of Ancient societies Citizenship Islamic contribution in Middle Ages Chinese contribution in Middle Ages Fall of Roman Empire Crusade motivations Medieval Europe Historical events in the Middle Ages Contribution of Middle Ages
			 Multicultural Justification of colonization Impact of colonization in present day Global 	legislation Celebrating Canada Multicultural identity Indigenous leadership Francophone leadership Celebrating Canada Resources Indigenous identity Global connections Indigenous leadership Power Power Electoral power Electoral power Electoral power Division of power Indigenous leadership Inequity Democratic responsibility	 Human impact Human impact Power and resources Power and economy Human impact in urban centres Global "other" human impact in urban centres Global "other" human impact Global "other" human impact Student willingness to <u>take action</u> Student understanding of 	 Contribution of Ancient Greece & Rome Respect opinions Contribution of Ancient societies Citizenship Islamic contribution in Middle Ages Chinese contribution in Middle Ages Fall of Roman Empire Crusade motivations Medieval Europe Historical events in the Middle Ages Contribution of Middle Ages Contribution
			 Multicultural Justification of colonization Impact of colonization in present day Global 	legislation Celebrating Canada Multicultural identity Indigenous leadership Francophone leadership Celebrating Canada Resources Indigenous identity Global connections Indigenous leadership Power Power Electoral power Division of power Indigenous leadership Inequity Democratic responsibility Indigenous democratic responsibility Settler struggle Celebrating	 Human impact Human impact Power and resources Power and economy Human impact in urban centres Global "other" human impact in urban centres Global "other" human impact Global "other" human impact Student willingness to <u>take action</u> Student understanding of 	 Contribution of Ancient Greece & Rome Respect opinions Contribution of Ancient societies Citizenship Islamic contribution in Middle Ages Chinese contribution in Middle Ages Fall of Roman Empire Crusade motivations Medieval Europe Historical events in the Middle Ages Contribution of Middle Ages Contribution of Middle
			 Multicultural Justification of colonization Impact of colonization in present day Global 	legislation Celebrating Canada Multicultural identity Indigenous leadership Francophone leadership Celebrating Canada Resources Indigenous identity Global connections Indigenous leadership Power Power Power Electoral power Electoral power Indigenous leadership Inequity Democratic responsibility Settler struggle Celebrating Canada	 Human impact Human impact Power and resources Power and economy Human impact in urban centres Global "other" human impact in urban centres Global "other" human impact Global "other" human impact Student willingness to <u>take action</u> Student understanding of 	 Contribution of Ancient Greece & Rome Respect opinions Contribution of Ancient societies Citizenship Islamic contribution in Middle Ages Chinese contribution in Middle Ages Chinese contribution in Middle Ages Fall of Roman Empire Crusade motivations Medieval Europe Historical events in the Middle Ages Contribution of Middle Ages Contribution of Middle Ages
			 Multicultural Justification of colonization Impact of colonization in present day Global 	legislation Celebrating Canada Multicultural identity Indigenous leadership Francophone leadership Celebrating Canada Resources Indigenous identity Global connections Indigenous leadership Power Power Electoral power Division of power Indigenous leadership Inequity Democratic responsibility Indigenous democratic responsibility Settler struggle Celebrating	 Human impact Human impact Power and resources Power and economy Human impact in urban centres Global "other" human impact in urban centres Global "other" human impact Global "other" human impact Student willingness to <u>take action</u> Student understanding of 	 Contribution of Ancient Greece & Rome Respect opinions Contribution of Ancient societies Citizenship Islamic contribution in Middle Ages Chinese contribution in Middle Ages Fall of Roman Empire Crusade motivations Medieval Europe Historical events in the Middle Ages Contribution of Middle Ages Contribution of Middle

RUNNING HEAD: Critical Discourse Analysis of Manitoba's K-8 Social Studies Documents 138

General code	/ Distinctive Indig	enous content)	/ Distinctive Fra	ncophone conten	t / Indigenous con	tent for everyone	/Franc. content f	or everyone
						 Resources, 		 Middle Ages
						economy		conquests
						 Respecting nature 		 Middle Ages conquests
						 Global 		 Middle Ages
						economic		influence of
						connections		religion
						0.0000000000000000000000000000000000000		 Middle Ages
								conquests
								 Life in
								 Middle Ages Middle Ages
								 Midule Ages contribution
								 Contribution
								of past
								societies
								 Contribution
								of Middle
								Ages
								 Historical importance
								 Origins of
								law
								 Renaissance
								contributions
								 Interactions
								between
								conquerors
								and Indigenous
								peoples
								 European
								explorer
								geography
								 Renaissance
								 Religious
								 Religious influence
								 Historical
								events 15-
								18th century
								 Justification
								of territorial
			<u> </u>					expansion
								 Contribution
								of
								Renaissance
								 Contribution
								of Industrial
								Revolution
								 Contribution
								of past
								societies
								 Appreciate
								rule of law
								 Contribution
								of past
								societies
								 Contribution
								of past
								societies
								 Contribution
								of past
								societies
								 Contribution
								of past
								societies
							1	

Appendix B

Authors from the curriculum's Bibliography (p. 147-194):

- Edward de Bono: a Maltese philosopher who coined the term, "Lateral Thinking" (de Bono, n.d.).
- Howard Gardner: American psychologist who defined the "nine multiple intelligences" (Gardner, 2022).
- Michael W. Apple: American educational theorist and professor (National Education Policy Center, n.d.).
- James A. Beane, American professor and school reform coach as well as writer of "Curriculum Integration" (Heinemann, 2022).
- Will Kymlicka: Canadian professor of philosophy who is best known for his work on multiculturalism and animal ethics (Queen's University, n.d.).
- John S. Kendall: American psychology professor, who is an "internationally recognized expert in the development and improvement of standards for education" (Sage Publishing, 2022).
- Robert J. Marzano (referenced in the Bibliography twice): an American educational speaker, trainer and author, specializing in assessment (Marzano Resources, n.d.).
- Ron Brandt: the former editor of the journal, *Educational Leadership* (ASCD, 2022).
- John J. Cogan: American professor, specializing in social studies education (Kent State University, 2021).
- Ray Derricott: Director for the Centre of Continuing Education in Liverpool, UK (Taylor & Francis Group, n.d.).

- Charles Taylor: Canadian philosopher, specializing in theories of identity and "known for his examination of the modern self" (Britannica, n.d.).
- Grant Wiggins: an American former president of educational consulting company, Authentic Education (ASCD, n.d.).
- Jay McTighe: an American educational author and speaker (McTighe & Associates Consulting, n.d.).
- Ian Wright: Professor Emeritus of curriculum studies in the faculty of education at the University of British Columbia (University of British Columbia, 2022).
- Alan Sears: Canadian professor who specializes in educational policy, including reform (Academia, 2022).